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This Supplement updates the Preliminary Official Statement dated November 3, 2021 (the "Preliminary
Official Statement") of the North Carolina Medical Care Commission to provide additional information
with respect to certain restrictive covenants affecting the Mortgaged Property and to provide the audited
financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018.

The first paragraph of the section "Limited Value at Foreclosure" under "BONDHOLDERS'
RISKS" is updated to read as follows:

Limited Value at Foreclosure

The Existing Facilities have been, and the Project will be, specifically constructed for continuing
care purposes and may not be practically suited for alternative uses. The number of entities that could be
expected to purchase the Facilities at a foreclosure sale is limited, and thus the ability of the Master Trustee
to realize funds from the sale of the Facilities, except as a continuing care facility, upon an event of default
may be limited. Under State law, licenses to operate continuing care facilities are not transferable.
Accordingly, an entity purchasing the Facilities at a foreclosure sale would need to obtain its own license
to operate the Facilities as a continuing care facility. The Mortgaged Property is subject to various utility
and other easements and certain other use restrictions which may affect its value at foreclosure. Currently
the Mortgaged Property is subject to a restrictive covenant that runs with the land that requires that
the Mortgaged Property be used for the provision of life care facilities (the "Restrictive Covenant").
The Corporation is working to get the Restrictive Covenant subordinated to the Master Trustee's
interest in the Mortgaged Property and anticipates such subordination to be in place prior to the
issuance of the 2021A Bonds.

Financial Statements

The section "FINANCIAL STATEMENTS" and Appendix B to the Preliminary Official
Statement are amended to provide that the Corporation's audited financial statements for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2018, audited by Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP, independent consultants, attached hereto
as Appendix A, are included in Appendix B to the Preliminary Official Statement.

* Preliminary, subject to change.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Board of Directors
Plantation Village, Inc.
Wilmington, North Carolina

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Plantation Village, Inc. (the “Community”),
which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 and the related statements of
operations and changes in net assets (deficiency) and cash flows for the years then ended, and the
related notes to the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Community as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

Raleigh, North Carolina
May 6, 2019



Plantation Village, Inc.
Balance Sheets
December 31, 2018 and 2017

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets limited as to use, current portion
Accounts receivable
Entrance fees receivable
Hurricane receivable
Prepaid expenses and other

Total current assets

Assets limited as to use, noncurrent portion
Property and equipment, net

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Hurricane payable
Deposits and advanced payments
Long-term debt, current maturities

Total current liabilities
Refundable fees
Refundable entrance fees
Long-term debt, less current maturities
Deferred revenue from entrance fees
Total liabilities

Net assets without donor restrictions

Total liabilities and net assets

See accompanying notes.

2018 2017
9,090,454 7,617,175
801,468 896,245
336,784 183,832
647,392 558,282
1,453,634 -
408,144 384,919
12,737,876 9,640,453
7,594,843 7,223,684
41,849,808 42,060,276
62,182,527 58,924,413
1,400,664 1,084,540
291,552 256,210
1,697,809 -
362,968 320,438
381,160 369,529
4,134,153 2,030,717
3,946,212 3,462,642
28,956,710 28,659,230
11,893,265 12,275,680
12,521,895 12,254,792
61,452,235 58,683,061
730,292 241,352
62,182,527 58,924,413




Plantation Village, Inc.
Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets (Deficiency)
Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

2018 2017
Revenue, gains and other support:
Resident services $ 13,903,040 13,336,013
Amortization of advance fees 1,913,328 2,317,286
Insurance proceeds 2,153,982 -
Other operating revenue 510,691 405,807
Total revenue, gains and other support 18,481,041 16,059,106
Operating expenses:
Resident care 4,544,943 4,309,853
Dietary 2,010,947 2,050,451
Housekeeping 721,070 721,983
Plant facility costs 1,957,809 1,906,343
General and administrative 3,008,570 2,809,765
Hurricane loss 2,848,794 -
Depreciation 2,154,284 2,098,082
Interest 387,632 371,690
Total operating expenses 17,634,049 14,268,167
Operating income 846,992 1,790,939
Non-operating gain (loss):
Investment income (loss) (358,052) 686,559
Excess of revenues over expenses 488,940 2,477,498
Net assets (deficiency), beginning of year 241,352 (2,236,146)
Net assets, end of year $ 730,292 241,352

See accompanying notes.



Plantation Village, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

Cash flow from operating activities:
Excess of revenues over expenses

Adjustments to reconcile excess of revenues over expenses

to net cash provided by operating activities:

Proceeds from non-refundable advance fees and deposits

Amortization of advance fees

Net realized gains

Net unrealized losses

Depreciation

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivables
Hurricane receivable / payable
Prepaid expenses and other
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Net changes in assets limited as to use
Proceeds from sale of equipment
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash used by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from refundable entrance fees
Refunds of entrance fees
Payments on long-term debt
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest, including capitalized interest

Notes receivable received for entrance fees

See accompanying notes.

2018 2017
488,940  $ 2,477,498
2,552,802 2,945,090
(1,913,328) (2,317,286)
(160,088) -
729,000 -
2,154,284 2,098,082
(152,952) 24,705
244,175 -
(23,225) (27,878)
316,124 (1,470)
35,342 31,805
4,271,074 5,230,546
(845,294) (75,106)
. 11,779
(1,943,816) (1,940,830)
(2,789,110) (2,004,157)
3,410,563 3,865,559
(3,048,464) (3,295,761)
(370,784) (396,342)
(8,685) 173,456
1,473,279 3,399,845
7,617,175 4,217,330
9,090,454  $ 7,617,175
387,632  $ 371,690
736,865  $ 664,795




Plantation Village, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

Notes to Financial Statements

1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

Plantation Village, Inc. (the “Community”) is a nonprofit organization which principally provides housing, health
care and other related services to residents through the operation of a continuing care retirement community in
Wilmington, North Carolina containing 273 living units, of which 116 are villas, duplexes and cottages.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Community maintains deposits with high credit quality financial institutions, of which the balances at each
institution exceeds the federally insured amount.

Cash and cash equivalents

For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid debt instruments and
time deposits, other than those limited as to use, with an acquisition maturity of less than three months.

Assets limited as to use

Assets limited as to use consists of (1) cash accounts, (2) cash equivalents, consisting of money market
accounts, and (3) mutual funds. The use of these assets is restricted or limited under terms of certain agreements
or by the designation of the Community's Board of Directors. Money market funds and mutual funds are carried at
fair value in the balance sheets. Investment income, including unrealized and realized gains, are included in
excess revenues over expenses. Amounts required for current liabilities are classified as current assets.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are carried at their original billed amounts. The Community has experienced few
uncollectible accounts in the past as any past due receivables can be applied against refunds due to the resident
from their initial investment in the Community.

Accounts receivable are considered past due if any portion of the receivable balance is outstanding for more than
60 days. Interest is charged on accounts receivable outstanding for more than 90 days and is recognized as it is
charged.



Plantation Village, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

Entrance fees receivable

Entrance fees receivable consist of short-term promissory notes from current residents related to the payment of
the final installment of their entrance deposit. If the resident pays the note on or before the agreed upon due date,
no interest is charged.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment, including construction in progress, is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Donated property is initially recorded at its estimated fair value at the date of receipt, which is then treated as
cost. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method based on the following estimated useful service lives:

Buildings 25 - 40 years
Land improvements 20 years
Equipment, furniture and fixtures 5-10 years
Vehicles 5 years

The Community assesses long-lived assets for impairment when events or circumstances exist that indicate the
carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable.

Deferred revenue from entrance fees

A residency agreement is required of all residents. The Community has historically provided two alternative
residency agreements: traditional or return-of-capital plans. The traditional contract includes contract terms that 2
percent of contract total becomes nonrefundable per month for the first 50 months and thereafter 100 percent is
nonrefundable. The Community currently offers either 90 percent or 50 percent return-of-capital plans. Each
agreement provides for payment of an advance (entrance) fee and monthly service fees, each of which are
subject to periodic increases. Return-of-capital residency agreements also provide for partial refunds of entrance
fees upon termination of the agreement, but only upon re-occupancy of the unit and the collection of a new
entrance fee.

Nonrefundable entrance fees are deferred and amortized to income by the straight-line method over the average
expected remaining life of each resident beginning on the date of closing and are recalculated annually.

Refundable Entrance fees

Entrance fees payable are refundable advance fees that are recorded at the amount indicated by the contract.

Refundable fees

Refundable entrance fees related to residents who have been permanently assigned at a skilled nursing facility or
assisted living facility are classified as noncurrent liabilities due to the indeterminable timing of the ultimate
payment.

Obligation to provide future services

The Community annually calculates the present value of the net estimated cost of future services and use of
facilities to be provided to current residents and compares that amount to the balance of deferred revenue from
advance fees. If the present value of the net cost of future services and use of facilities, discounted at 2.9 percent,
exceeds the deferred revenue from advance fees, a liability would be recorded (obligation to provide future
services) with a corresponding charge to income. To date, deferred revenue from advance fees has always
exceeded the present value of the net estimated cost of future services and use of facilities.

Net Assets

The accompanying financial statements present information regarding the Community’s financial position and
activities according to two classes of net assets: net assets without donor restrictions and net assets with donor



Plantation Village, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

restrictions. Net assets, revenues, gains and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are classified as follows:

Net Assets without Donor Restrictions — Net assets available for use in general operations and not
subject to donor-imposed stipulations.

Net Assets with Donor Restrictions — Net assets subject to donor imposed restrictions. Some donor
imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those that will be met by the passage of time or
other events specified by the donor. Other donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual in nature, where the
donor stipulates that resources be maintained in perpetuity. When a donor restriction expires, through the
conclusion of a stipulated time restriction or accomplishment of a purpose restriction, net assets with
donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions. The Community had no net
assets with donor restrictions at December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Resident services revenue

Resident services revenue is recorded at established rates monthly. Resident services revenue includes health
care revenue for residents under residency agreements executed prior to January 1, 2001, consisting of monthly
fees for persons permanently assigned to a nearby unrelated health center and charges for supplies and meals.
The monthly fees for first persons permanently assigned to the health center are generally the same as for
residents of the one bedroom traditional living unit. The monthly fees for second persons assigned to the health
center are the same as second person fees for all other residents. All residency agreements executed after
December 31, 2000, set health center fees equal to 75 percent of the nearby, unrelated nursing facility's stated
per diem rate. Assisted living care residents pay 75 percent of the stated per diem of a nearby unrelated assisted
living facility. The costs to the Community of the residents assigned to the health center or assisted living facility
are included in resident care expenses.

Advertising expenses

All advertising expenses other than qualifying direct-response advertising costs associated with the initial
occupancy of units are expensed in the year in which they are incurred. Advertising expenses were approximately
$439,000 and $397,000 in 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Excess of revenues over expenses

The statements of operations and changes in net assets (deficiency) include excess of revenues over expenses.
Changes in unrestricted net assets, which are excluded from excess of revenues over expenses, consistent with
industry practice, would include unrealized gains and losses on investments other than trading securities, net
assets released from restriction for purchase of property and equipment, and contributions of long-lived assets
(including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for the purposes of
acquiring such assets).

Income taxes

The Community has been recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as a not-for-profit corporation as described
in Section 501 (c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) and is exempt from federal income taxes pursuant to
Section 501(a) of the IRC. Similar provisions apply to state income taxes in the North Carolina law. In the opinion
of management, the Community has no uncertain tax positions.

New Accounting Pronouncements

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Community adopted Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) 2016-
14, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958): Presentation of Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities. This
accounting standard is intended to improve the net asset classification requirements and the information
presented in the financial statements and notes about a not-for-profit entity’s liquidity, financial performance, and
cash flows. The 2017 financial statements have been adjusted to reflect retrospective application of the new
accounting guidance, except for the disclosures around liquidity and availability of resources and analysis of
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Notes to Financial Statements

expenses by functional and natural categories. These disclosures have been presented for 2018 only as allowed
by ASU 2016-14. The retrospective application resulted in unrestricted net assets of $241,352, being reported as
net assets without donor restrictions as of December 31, 2017.

Recently issued accounting standards - Revenue from Contracts with Customers:

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU)
2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)". The core principle of this standard is that an
entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
This guidance also requires enhanced disclosures regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of
revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. The FASB issued four additional
standards that amended and/or clarified certain guidance and provisions in ASU 2014-09, all of which are
effective January 1, 2019 for the Company. The Company is currently evaluating the impact on its financial
statements upon the adoption of these new standards.

Subsequent events

The Community has evaluated its subsequent events (events occurring after December 31, 2018), through
May 6, 2019, which represents the date the financial statements were available to be issued.

2. Fair Value Measurements

Under U.S GAAP, fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In determining fair value, the
Community uses various methods including market, income and cost approaches. Based on these approaches,
the Community often utilizes certain assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability, including assumptions about risk and or the risks inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique. These
inputs can be readily observable, market corroborated, or generally unobservable inputs. The Community utilizes
valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
Based on the observability of the inputs used in the valuation techniques the Community is required to provide the
following information according to the fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy ranks the quality and reliability
of the information used to determine fair values. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value will be
classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:

Level 1: Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities traded in active exchange markets, such as the
New York Stock Exchange.

Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 including quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities,
quoted prices in less active markets, or other observable inputs that can be corroborated by
observable market data. Level 2 also includes derivative contracts whose value is determined
using a pricing model with observable market inputs or can be derived principally from or
corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs supported by little or no market activity for financial instruments whose
value is determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar
techniques, as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant
management judgment or estimation; also includes observable inputs for nonbinding single
dealer quotes not corroborated by observable market data.

While the Community believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market
participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial
instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date.



Plantation Village, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were no changes to the Community's valuation
techniques that had, or are expected to have, a material impact on its financial position or results of operations.

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for instruments measured at fair value:
Money Market Funds
Money market funds are public investment vehicles for which quoted prices are available and whose

amounts are based on transacted values.

Mutual funds
The fair value is the market value based on quoted market prices.

At December 31, 2018 the Community had $131,360 and $8,194,598 in money market funds and mutual funds,
respectively. At December 31, 2017 the Community had $631,819 and 7,488,110 in money market funds and

mutual funds, respectively. All investments at December 31, 2018 and 2017 were classified as level 1
investments.

3. Assets Limited as to Use

The components of assets limited as to use consist of the following:

2018 2017
Current portion:
Deposits and advanced payments $ 362,968 $ 392,016
Resident funds 57,340 134,700
By Board for debt repayment 381,160 369,529
801,468 896,245
Noncurrent portion:
Resident funds 70,353 -
Under regulatory requirement, operating reserve (Note 7) 3,397,100 3,394,281
By Board for future asset replacement 2,154,284 2,098,082
By Board for return of capital 1,973,106 1,731,321
7,594,843 7,223,684

$ 8396311 $ 8.119.920

In 2017, the Board designated amounts to fund current maturities of long term debt, to fund one year of
depreciation based on immediate capital expenditure needs, and 50% of the refundable fee balance for residents
permanently assigned to a long term care facility. These amounts may be invested in investment accounts and
other cash and cash equivalent accounts. The Board may modify its policy for designated amounts from time to
time.

The Community invests in various investment securities. Investment securities are exposed to various risks such
as interest rate, market, and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment securities, it is
at least reasonably possible that changes in the value of investment securities will occur in the near term and that
such changes could affect the amounts reported in the balance sheet.



Plantation Village, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

A summary of net investment income for the years ended December 31 follows:

Interest income
Net realized gains
Net unrealized gains (losses)

Net investment income (loss)

4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following at December 31:

Land

Land improvements

Buildings

Fixed and movable equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Vehicles

Less accumulated depreciation

Construction-in-progress

Total property and equipment

5. Debt

Long-term debt at December 31, 2018 and 2017, consist of the following:

Note payable to bank at 3.09%, due in 83 monthly installments
including interest beginning September 5, 2017, and consecutive
interest payments beginning September 5, 2013, due August
2023, collateralized by real estate.

Note payable to bank at 1.10% above one-month LIBOR, not to
exceed 5.99% (3.44% at December 31, 2018), due in 83 monthly
installments including interest beginning September 5, 2017, and
consecutive interest payments beginning September 5, 2013, due
August 2023, collateralized by real estate.

Less current maturities

2018 2017

$ 210,860 $ 156,030

160,088 232,767

(729,000) 297,762

$  (358,052) $ 686,559
2018 2017

$ 503,935 $ 503,935

1,766,300 1,607,334

62,693,720 60,958,221

2,219,172 2,191,977

1,679,267 1,645,353

415,931 409,931

69,278,325 67,316,751

27,572,410 25,412,121

41,705,915 41,904,630

143,893 155,646

$ 41849808 § 42,060,276
2018 2017

$ 8336617 $ 8585133

3,937,808 4,060,076

12,274,425 12,645,209

381,160 369,529

$ 11,893,265 § 12,275,680

The proceeds of the above notes were used to finance the Phase Il Facility Expansion, which was completed in
January, 2016. The original construction loan agreements provided for two interest only loans during construction.

10
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The combined balances were limited to 70% of the appraised value of the property collateralized by the loans.
One loan was up to $13,175,000 at the 3.09% fixed rate and the other was up to $6,000,000 at the LIBOR
variable rate shown above.

Aggregate maturities required on long-term debt as of December 31, 2018, are due in future years as follows:

2019 $ 381,160
2020 392,124
2021 405,500
2022 418,264
2023 10,677,377

$ 12,274,425

The construction loans include certain affirmative covenants regarding financial information provided to the lender
bank. The Company was in compliance with all of the covenants as of December 31, 2018.

6. Management Agreement

The Community operates under a management agreement with Life Care Services, LLC (“LCS”). Under this
agreement, LCS coordinates the ongoing project management of the Community. In consideration for these
services, the Community pays LCS a base monthly management fee and an additional incentive fee based upon
achieving prescribed operating criteria. The management fee is subject to annual adjustment for cost of living
increases or facility expansion. Management fees, incentive fees and miscellaneous charges under agreements
with LCS totaled $771,308 and $645,367 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. At
December 31, 2018 and 2017, $39,812 and $85,000, respectively, were included in accounts payable to LCS for
various fees and charges under the agreement. The Community renewed their management agreement with LCS
for five years beginning January 1, 2017.

7. Regulatory Matters

Continuing care retirement communities located in North Carolina are licensed and monitored by the State
Department of Insurance under Article 64 of Chapter 58 of the North Carolina General Statutes. The
Commissioner of Insurance has the authority to revoke or restrict the license of, or impose additional
requirements on, any continuing care facility under certain circumstances specified in General Statute 58-64-10.

North Carolina General Statute 58-64-33 requires that continuing care retirement communities with occupancy
levels in excess of 90 percent maintain an operating reserve equal to 25 percent of total operating costs
forecasted for the twelve-month period following the most recent annual statement filed with the Department of
Insurance upon approval of the Commissioner, unless otherwise instructed by the Commissioner. Continuing care
retirement communities with less than 90 percent occupancy are required to maintain an operating reserve equal
to 50 percent of forecasted total operating costs. Total operating costs shall include budgeted operating expenses
plus debt service less depreciation and amortization expense and revenue associated with non-contractual
expenses. The Community's occupancy was above 90 percent in 2018 and 2017. At December 31, 2018 and
2017, the Board of Directors had specifically designated $3,397,100 and $3,394,284, respectively, for the purpose
of meeting this requirement (Note 3).

The operating reserve can only be released upon the submittal of a detailed request from the Community and
must be approved by the North Carolina Department of Insurance.

11
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8. RetirementPlan

The Community provides a retirement plan under Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Community
matches 50 percent of the first 6 percent of employee contributions for a maximum match of 3 percent an
employee's annual salary. Employees are eligible to participate in the plan after 90 days of service. An employee
is eligible for the employer match after one year of service during which he or she has worked at least 1,000
hours (an average of 20 hours per week) and is at least age 21. Employees are subject to a six year vesting
schedule for the Community's contributions. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Community
contributed $19,986 and $39,224, respectively.

9. Liquidity and Availability

Financial assets available for general expenditures for fiscal 2019, classified as current assets were $12,329,732
as of December 31, 2018.

The Community operates with a balanced budget and anticipates collecting sufficient revenue to cover general
expenditures, debt service and budgeted capital expenditures. The accompanying statement of cash flows on
page 4, which identifies sources and uses of cash, indicates net cash provided by operating activities in 2018 and
2017. As explained in Note 3, $7,524,490 noncurrent assets limited as to use is generally not available due to
board designation and regulatory requirements, but could be released to fund operations with appropriate Board
and regulatory approval. The Community regularly monitors liquidity required to meet its operating needs and
other contractual commitments, while also striving to maximize the investment of its available funds.

10. Hurricane Florence

On September 14, 2018, Hurricane Florence made landfall as a Category 1 hurricane at Wrightsville Beach, North
Carolina, which is a barrier island contiguous to Wilmington, North Carolina. The winds and heavy rain caused
widespread damage at the Community.

Total hurricane expense of $2,848,794 is included in the Statement of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
(Deficiency) for the year ended December 31, 2018 which are the incurred costs of repairs resulting from
Hurricane Florence. Evaluation of hurricane repairs are in process and are being prioritized based on available
funds and urgency. The final amount of hurricane loss cannot be estimated at this time since definite plans and
commitments have not been made.

Management anticipates that the hurricane related expenditures will be reimbursed by insurance proceeds
subject to deductibles and limits of the policies. However, since the final amounts to be realized from insurance
cannot be determined with certainty until collected, such proceeds are not recorded until collected. At
December 31, 2018, the Community has recognized $2,153,982 in insurance proceeds in the Statement of
Operations and Changes in Net Assets (Deficiency) of which $1,453,634 was a receivable on the Balance Sheets
at year end, but subsequently collected.

Although the Community’s operations and cash flows were impacted by the storm, in the opinion of management,
there will be no permanent long-term effect on the operations of the Community.

12
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11. Schedule of Expenses by Natural Category and Function

The costs of providing the Community’s program and other activities have been summarized on a functional basis
below. Expenses that can be identified with a specific program or support service are charged directly to the
program or support service. Costs common to multiple functions have been allocated using an objective basis,
such as time spent, salaries, square feet, and other basis.

Expenses for year ended December 31, 2018

Health Care Resident General &
Services Services Administration Total
Salaries and benefits $ 829,831 $ 2,466,830 $ 639,955 $ 3,936,616
Dietary - 732,003 - 732,003
Housekeeping - 33,782 - 33,782
Plant facility costs - 775,309 - 775,309
Supplies 7,826 325,506 32,843 366,175
Utilities - 552,365 - 552,365
General and administrative 3,381,850 575,626 1,889,613 5,847,089
Hurricane loss - 2,848,794 - 2,848,794
Depreciation 3,421 2,117,400 33,463 2,154,284
Interest - - 387,632 387,632
Total operating expenses $ 4,222,928 $10,427,615 $ 2,983,506 $ 17,634,049

General and administrative expense include those costs that are not directly identifiable with any specific program,
but which provide for all the overall support of the Community. General and administrative activities include those
that provide governance, oversight, business management, financial recordkeeping, budgeting, legal services,
human resources management, and similar activities that ensure an adequate working environment and an
equitable employment program. Resources expended for fundraising from the general public are not significant.

13



[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



This Preliminary Official Statement and the information contained herein are subject to change, completion and amendment without notice. The 2021A Bonds may not be sold nor may an offer to buy be accepted prior to the time the Official

Statement is delivered in final form. Under no circumstances shall this Preliminary Official Statement constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the 2021A Bonds in any jurisdiction in which such

offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws of such jurisdiction.

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED NOVEMBER 3, 2021

New Issue/Book-Entry-Only Rating: Fitch “BBB”
See “Rating” herein.

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing law and subject to compliance with the provisions of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), as described herein, interest on the 2021A Bonds is excludable
Sfrom gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal
alternative minimum tax. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing law, interest on the 2021A Bonds is
exempt from State of North Carolina income taxes. See “TAX TREATMENT” herein.

$32,520,000%
NORTH CAROLINA MEDICAL CARE COMMISSION
N RETIREMENT FACILITIES FIRST MORTGAGE
PLANTATION REVENUE AND REFUNDING REVENUE BONDS
VILLAGE (PLANTATION VILLAGE, INC.)
Koep in roing if. SERIES 2021A
Dated: Date of Delivery Due: As shown on inside front cover

The above-referenced bonds (the “2021A Bonds”) are being issued by the North Carolina Medical Care Commission
(the “Commission”) pursuant to a Trust Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2021 (the “Trust Agreement”), between the
Commission and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the “Bond Trustee”), for the purpose
of providing funds to Plantation Village, Inc. (the “Corporation”) to be used, together with other available funds, to (i)
pay or reimburse the Corporation for paying a portion of the costs of the Project (as defined herein), (ii) pay a portion
of the interest accruing on the 2021A Bonds, (iii) refinance certain taxable indebtedness, and (iv) pay certain expenses
incurred in connection with the issuance of the 2021A Bonds.

The 2021 A Bonds will be limited obligations of the Commission, and the Commission will not be obligated
to pay debt service on the 2021A Bonds except from the revenues and other funds pledged or assigned
therefor under the Trust Agreement. Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State of North
Carolina or of any political subdivision thereof is pledged as security for the 2021A Bonds.

The 2021A Bonds are issuable as fully registered bonds without coupons. Purchases of the 2021A Bonds will be
made in book-entry form only, and individual purchasers will not receive physical delivery of bond certificates. When
issued, the 2021A Bonds will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company,
New York, New York (“DTC”). So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the 2021 A Bonds, principal and interest
payments on the 2021A Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., which will in turn remit such payments to its Participants
for subsequent disbursement to the beneficial owners of the 2021A Bonds, all as described herein. Interest on the 2021A
Bonds is payable on each January 1 and July 1, beginning on July 1, 2022. Individual purchases of the 2021A Bonds will
be made in the principal amount of $5,000 or any whole multiple thereof. So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner
of the 2021A Bonds, references herein to the Holders or registered owners of the 2021A Bonds shall mean Cede & Co.
and shall not mean the beneficial owners of the 2021A Bonds.

The 2021A Bonds are subject to optional, extraordinary optional and mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to
maturity as described herein.

An investment in the 2021A Bonds involves a certain degree of risk related to, among other things, the nature of
the Corporation’s business, the regulatory environment, and the provisions of the principal documents. A prospective
bondholder is advised to read “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT” and “BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS” herein for
a discussion of certain risk factors which should be considered in connection with an investment in the 2021A Bonds.

This cover page contains certain information for ease of reference only. It does not constitute a summary of the 2021 A
Bonds or the security therefor. Potential investors must read this entire Official Statement, including the Appendices, to
obtain information essential to the making of an informed investment decision.

The 2021A Bonds are offered subject to prior sale, when, as and if issued by the Commission and accepted by the
Underwriter, subject to the approval of Robinson, Bradshaw & Hinson, P.A., Charlotte, North Carolina, Bond Counsel.
Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Obligated Group by Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP, Raleigh, North
Carolina, and for the Underwriter by McGuireWoods, LLP, Charlotte, North Carolina. It is expected that the 2021A Bonds
will be available for delivery through the facilities of DTC in New York, New York on or about December 2%, 2021.

HJ
SIMS

November __, 2021

* Preliminary, subject to change.



$32,520,000"

NORTH CAROLINA MEDICAL CARE COMMISSION
RETIREMENT FACILITIES FIRST MORTGAGE
REVENUE AND REFUNDING REVENUE BONDS

(PLANTATION VILLAGE, INC.)
SERIES 2021A

MATURITY SCHEDULE®

$8,070,000 % Term 2021A Bonds due January 1,20 __, priced to yield %, CUSIP™
$24,450,000 % Term 2021A Bonds due January 1, 20__, priced to yield %, CUSIP™

* Preliminary, subject to change.

** Copyright, American Bankers Association. CUSIP data herein is provided by CUSIP Global Services, managed by Standard &
Poor's Financial Services LLC on behalf of The American Bankers Association. This data is not intended to create a database and
does not service in any way as a substitute for CUSIP Global Services. CUSIP numbers are provided for convenience of reference
only for the purchasers of the 2021A Bonds. None of the Authority, the Obligated Group, the Commission nor the Underwriter are
responsible for the selection or uses of these CUSIP numbers, and no representation is made as to their correctness on the 2021A
Bonds or as represented above. The CUSIP number for a specific maturity is subject to being changed after the issuance of the
2021A Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions including, but not limited to, a refunding in whole or in part of the 2021A
Bonds.
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REGARDING USE OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT

No dealer, salesman or other person has been authorized to give any information or to make any
representations other than those contained in this Official Statement, and if given or made, such information
or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the Commission, the Corporation
or the Underwriter. The information set forth herein concerning the Corporation has been furnished by the
Corporation and is believed to be reliable but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by, and is
not to be construed as a representation by, the Commission or the Underwriter. This Official Statement does
not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any of the securities offered hereby in any
state to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer in such state. Except where otherwise
indicated, this Official Statement speaks as of the date hereof. The information and expressions of opinion
herein are subject to change without notice and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale
hereunder will under any circumstances create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs
of the Corporation since the date hereof.

Neither the 2021 A Bonds, the Trust Agreement nor the Master Indenture (as such terms are defined
herein) have been registered or qualified with the Securities and Exchange Commission by reason of the
provisions of Section 3(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 304(a)(4) of the Trust
Indenture Act of 1939, as amended. The registration or qualification of the 2021A Bonds, the Trust
Agreement or the Master Indenture in accordance with applicable provisions of securities laws of the states
in which the 2021A Bonds have been registered or qualified, if any, and the exemption from registration or
qualification in other states, shall not be regarded as a recommendation thereof.

IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN
EXAMINATION OF THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND RISKS
INVOLVED. THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR
STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE
FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE
ADEQUACY OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS
A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

All quotations from and summaries and explanations of laws and documents herein do not purport
to be complete, and reference is made to such laws and documents for full and complete statements of their
provisions. Any statements made in this Official Statement involving estimates or matters of opinion,
whether or not expressly so stated, are intended merely as estimates or opinions and not as representations
of fact. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither
the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale of the 2021 A Bonds shall under any circumstances create
any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of Obligated Group since the date hereof.

The Underwriter has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement. The
Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, their
respective responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and
circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of
such information.

This Official Statement contains disclosures which contain "forward-looking statements."
Forward-looking statements include all statements that do not relate solely to historical or current fact, and
can be identified by use of words like "may," "believe," "will," "expect," "project,” "estimate," "anticipate,"
"plan," or "continue." These forward-looking statements are based on the current plans and expectations of
the Obligated Group (as defined herein) and are subject to a number of known and unknown uncertainties
and risks, many of which are beyond the Obligated Group's control, which could significantly affect current



plans and expectations and the future financial position and results of operations of the Obligated Group.
See "BONDHOLDERS' RISKS" herein. As a consequence, current plans, anticipated actions and future
financial position and results of operations may differ from those expressed in any forward-looking
statements made by or on behalf of the Obligated Group. Investors are cautioned not to unduly rely on such
forward-looking statements when evaluating the information presented in this Official Statement, including
Appendix A and Appendix C.

References to website addresses presented herein are for informational purposes only and may be
in the form of a hyperlink solely for the reader's convenience. Unless specified otherwise, such websites
and the information or links contained therein are not incorporated into, and are not part of, this offering
document for purposes of, and as that term is defined in, SEC Rule 15¢2-12.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT

$32,520,000"

NORTH CAROLINA MEDICAL CARE COMMISSION
RETIREMENT FACILITIES FIRST MORTGAGE
REVENUE AND REFUNDING REVENUE BONDS

(PLANTATION VILLAGE, INC.)
SERIES 2021A

INTRODUCTION

This Official Statement, including the cover page and the Appendices, furnishes information
regarding the offering by the North Carolina Medical Care Commission (the "Commission") of its
$32,520,000" Retirement Facilities First Mortgage Revenue and Refunding Revenue Bonds (Plantation
Village, Inc.) Series 2021A (the "2021A Bonds"). The 2021 A Bonds are being issued pursuant to the Health
Care Facilities Finance Act, Chapter 131A of the General Statutes of North Carolina, as amended (the
"Act"), and a Trust Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2021 (the "Trust Agreement"), between the
Commission and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the "Bond Trustee").

Concurrently with the issuance of the 2021A Bonds, the Commission will enter into a Loan
Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2021 (the "Loan Agreement"), with Plantation Village, Inc., a North
Carolina nonprofit corporation (the "Corporation"). Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the Commission will
lend the proceeds of the 2021 A Bonds to the Corporation to provide funds to be used, together with other
available funds, to (i) pay or reimburse the Corporation for paying a portion of the costs of the Project, (ii)
pay a portion of the interest accruing on the 2021A Bonds, (iii) refinance certain taxable indebtedness, and
(iv) pay certain expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of the 2021 A Bonds. See "THE PLAN
OF FINANCING" herein and "THE PROJECT" in Appendix A hereto.

The 2021A Bonds will be limited obligations of the Commission, payable solely from money to be
received from the Corporation, pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement and Obligation No. 1, dated
the date of delivery of the 2021 A Bonds ("Obligation No. 1"). The Corporation will execute and deliver
Obligation No. 1 in the aggregate principal amount of the 2021 A Bonds to the Commission pursuant to a
Master Trust Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2021 (as supplemented and amended from time to time,

* Preliminary, subject to change.



the "Master Indenture"), between the Corporation and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company,
N.A., as master trustee (the "Master Trustee"), and a Supplemental Master Indenture Number 1, dated as
of December 1, 2021 (the "Supplemental Indenture"), between the Corporation and the Master Trustee.
Payments on Obligation No. 1 will be required to be sufficient to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and
interest on the 2021 A Bonds as they become due and payable. Obligation No. 1 will be a joint and several
general obligation of the Members of the Obligated Group. As of the date hereof, the Corporation is the
only Obligated Group Member.

On the date of delivery of the 2021 A Bonds, the Commission will also issue its (i) Retirement
Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Bonds (Plantation Village, Inc.) Series 2021B-1 (the "2021B-1 Bonds")
in an aggregate principal amount of $15,593,000" and (ii) Retirement Facilities First Mortgage Revenue
Bonds (Plantation Village, Inc.) Series 2021B-2 (the "2021B-2 Bonds" and, together with the 2021B-1
Bonds, the "2021B Bonds") in an aggregate principal amount of $17,865,000" pursuant to a Trust
Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2021 (the "2021B Trust Agreement"), between the Commission and
The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (the "2021B Bond Trustee").

Concurrently with the issuance of the 2021B Bonds, the Commission will enter into a Loan
Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2021 (the "2021B Loan Agreement"), with the Corporation. Pursuant
to the 2021B Loan Agreement, the Commission will lend the proceeds of the 2021B Bonds to the
Corporation to provide funds to be used, together with other available funds, to pay or reimburse the
Corporation for paying a portion of the costs of the Project, to fund interest on the 2021B Bonds and to pay
certain expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of the 2021B Bonds. The 2021B Bonds are being
purchased by First Citizens Bank & Trust Company (the "2021B Lender") and are being issued on a draw-
down basis. See "THE PLAN OF FINANCING" for additional information on the 2021B Bonds.

Pursuant to the Supplemental Indenture, the Corporation will also execute and deliver Obligation
No. 2, dated the date of delivery of the 2021B Bonds ("Obligation No. 2"), to evidence its obligations with
respect to the 2021B Bonds. In addition pursuant to a Supplemental Master Indenture Number 2, the
Corporation will execute and deliver Obligation No. 3, dated the date of delivery of the 2021B Bonds
("Obligation No. 3"), to secure a taxable take-out loan the 2021B Lender has agreed to make under certain
circumstances, including an event of default, relating to the 2021B Bonds and the Corporation's obligations
under the Continuing Covenants Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2021 (the "Credit Agreement"),
between the Corporation and the 2021B Lender. Obligation No. 2 and Obligation No. 3 are referred to
herein as the "Direct Purchase Obligations".

The 2021B-1 Bonds mature on December 1, 2036. The 2021B-2 Bonds mature on December 1,
2028 assuming certain conditions are met by the Corporation, but no earlier than December 1, 2026 in any
event. Pursuant to the terms of the 2021B Trust Agreement, the 2021B-1 Bonds are subject to mandatory
redemption prior to maturity. Prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default, the 2021B-2 Bonds are required
by the 2021B Lender to be optionally redeemed by the application of Project Initial Entrance Fees on
deposit in the Entrance Fee Fund in accordance with the provisions of the Supplemental Indenture and the
Credit Agreement. The par amount of the 2021B-2 Bonds represents approximately 80.2% of the initial
entrance fee pool for the Project. The Feasibility Study anticipates that Project Initial Entrance Fees in the
amount of $17,865,000" will be applied to the 2021B-2 Bonds by October 1, 2024°, thus redeeming the
2021B-2 Bonds prior to maturity. There is no guarantee that the Corporation will realize sufficient Project
Initial Entrance Fees to redeem the 2021B-2 Bonds by October 1, 2024".

* Preliminary, subject to change.



Upon the issuance of the 2021A Bonds, the principal amount of Obligation No. 1 will be
approximately 49.3%%*, Obligation No. 2 will be approximately 50.7%%*, and Obligation No. 3 will be 0%,
of the aggregate principal amount of all Master Obligations Outstanding under the Master Indenture. For
purposes of giving any consents required under the Master Indenture or exercising any voting rights given
to Holders thereunder or giving any direction or taking any other action permitted to be taken by or on
behalf of the Holders thereunder, Obligation No. 3 shall be deemed not to be Outstanding under the Master
Indenture, unless Obligation No. 2 has ceased to be Outstanding.

The 2021B Bonds are not being marketed pursuant to this Official Statement. Successful
delivery of the 2021A Bonds is conditioned upon the successful delivery of the 2021B Bonds.

As security for all Obligations issued under the Master Indenture, including Obligation No. 1, the
Corporation will pledge (a) all revenue, accounts receivable and Gross Revenues of the Obligated Group
Members, with certain limited exceptions, (b) the real property subject to a Deed of Trust, Assignment of
Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing dated as of December 1, 2021 (as supplemented and amended
from time to time, the "Deed of Trust") delivered to a deed of trust trustee for the benefit of the Master
Trustee (the "Mortgaged Property"), (c) all personal property owned or hereafter acquired by the Obligated
Group, including, but not limited to, equipment, accounts, general intangibles and contract rights, (d) any
amounts on deposit from time to time in any fund or account created under the Master Indenture and (e)
any other property from time to time subjected to the lien of the Master Indenture (together with the items
in (a), (¢), and (d), collectively, the "Personal Property Collateral"). The Mortgaged Property does not
include all of the real property owned by the Obligated Group (see "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF
PAYMENT — Master Indenture and Deed of Trust" and "— Excluded Property" herein).

To secure payment of the 2021A Bonds, the Commission will assign to the Bond Trustee (a) all
right, title and interest in and to Obligation No. 1, (b) all rights under the Master Indenture and the Deed of
Trust as owner of Obligation No. 1, (c) substantially all right, title and interest in and to the Loan Agreement
(excluding certain reserved rights), and (d) all money and securities held by the Bond Trustee in the Bond
Fund and the Redemption Fund, and, until applied in payment of the Cost of the Project in accordance with
the Trust Agreement, all money and securities in the Construction Fund. See "SECURITY AND SOURCES
OF PAYMENT."

The Master Indenture permits any Persons which are not Members of the Obligated Group and
other corporations which are successor corporations to any Obligated Group Member through merger or
consolidation as permitted by the Master Indenture to become Members of the Obligated Group upon
compliance with certain financial and other requirements. The Master Indenture also permits, upon
compliance with certain requirements, any Obligated Group Member to withdraw from the Obligated
Group. The Loan Agreement, however, prohibits the withdrawal of the Corporation from the Obligated
Group without the written consent of the Commission.

References herein to the "Obligated Group" shall be deemed to refer to the Corporation, currently
the only member of such group, and, thereafter, any Person which shall join the Obligated Group pursuant
to the Master Indenture and excluding any person which shall have withdrawn from the Obligated Group
pursuant to the Master Indenture.

The Corporation currently owns and operates continuing care retirement facilities and facilities
ancillary thereto in Wilmington, North Carolina referred to herein as the "Existing Facilities."

* Preliminary, subject to change.



Certain information concerning the Obligated Group, the Existing Facilities and the Project is
contained in Appendix A and certain financial statements of the Corporation and its affiliates audited by
Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP, independent certified public accountants, are contained in Appendix B. See
"FINANCIAL STATEMENTS" herein.

This introduction provides summary information and is qualified by reference to the entire Official
Statement. Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to such
terms in the Master Indenture (including the Supplemental Indenture), the Loan Agreement, the Trust
Agreement and the Deed of Trust (see in Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL
DOCUMENTS"). Forms of the Master Indenture (including the Supplemental Indenture), the Loan
Agreement, the Trust Agreement and the Deed of Trust are included in Appendix D. After delivery of the
2021A Bonds, copies of documents in connection with the 2021A Bonds may be obtained from the Bond
Trustee.

THE PLAN OF FINANCING

Proceeds of the 2021A Bonds, together with other available funds, will be used to (i) pay or
reimburse the Corporation for paying a portion of the costs of the expansion and renovation of the
Corporation's continuing care retirement center located at 1200 Porters Neck Road, Wilmington, North
Carolina 28411 (the "Community"), including, but not limited to, constructing and equipping approximately
44 new independent living apartments and related common areas, renovating various dining facilities and
resident activity spaces, upgrading informational technology systems throughout the Community,
relocating maintenance facilities and creating and improving outdoor spaces such as gardens and a dog park
(the "Project"), (ii) pay a portion of the interest accruing on the 2021A Bonds, (iii) refinance certain taxable
indebtedness that was used to pay for an expansion of the Community, including the addition of 27
independent living apartments, a new wellness center and indoor pool, a new auditorium, and renovation
of the main common areas and dining room, and (iv) pay certain expenses incurred in connection with the
issuance of the 2021 A Bonds.

The proceeds of the 2021B Bonds, together with other available funds, will be used to (i) pay a
portion of the costs of the Project, (ii) pay interest accruing on the 2021B Bonds for approximately 24
months and (iii) pay certain expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of the 2021B Bonds.

The costs of the various portions of the plan of financing can be found below under "ESTIMATED
SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS" below.

The proceeds of the 2021B Bonds will be disbursed through periodic advances (the "2021B
Advances") in accordance with the 2021B Trust Agreement, the Credit Agreement, and the Construction
Monitoring and Disbursement Agreement dated as of December 1, 2021 (the "Disbursement Agreement"),
among Alcala Construction Management, Inc. (the "Construction Monitor"), the 2021B Lender, the 2021 A
Bond Trustee, the 2021B Bond Trustee and the Corporation. Except as otherwise provided in the 2021B
Trust Agreement, the principal amount of the 2021B Bonds outstanding and due shall only be the aggregate
amount that has been drawn down and not repaid and interest shall only accrue on such principal amount
of'the 2021B Bond that has actually been drawn. See "BONDHOLDERS' RISKS —2021B Bonds are Draw-
Down Bonds."

Draws of the 2021A Bond proceeds will be made from the Construction Fund established under
the Trust Agreement and must be approved by the Construction Monitor pursuant to the Disbursement
Agreement. All 2021B Advances will be made as provided in the Disbursement Agreement and must be
approved by the Construction Monitor and the 2021B Lender. The Corporation will be required to use all
2021A Bond proceeds until the balance in the Construction Fund for the 2021 A Bonds is $5,000,000 before



requesting 2021B Advances to pay costs of the Project. Proceeds of the 2021B-1 Bonds will then be used
before the 2021B-2 Bond proceeds. After all of the 2021B Bond proceeds have been used, the 2021A Bond
proceeds will be used to fund the remaining costs of the Project.

Under the terms of the Disbursement Agreement, the Corporation may make requests for the 2021B
Advances on a monthly basis or more frequently as acceptable to the 2021B Lender until December 1, 2024
and such requests shall be made in accordance with the Disbursement Agreement.

Prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default, the 2021B-2 Bonds are payable from the release of
the Project Initial Entrance Fees. The par amount of the 2021B-2 Bonds represents approximately 80.2%
of the initial entrance fee pool for the Project.

The issuance of the 2021A Bonds and the 2021B Bonds, respectively, is conditioned upon the
issuance of the other series of bonds.

For additional information on the Project, see "THE PROJECT" in Appendix A hereto.
ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

The estimated sources and uses of funds in connection with the issuance of the 2021 A Bonds and
the 2021B Bonds are set forth in the following table.

Sources 2021A Bonds 2021B Bonds
Par Amount of the 2021 A Bonds
[Net] Original Issue [Premium/Discount] on 2021A Bonds
Par Amount of the 2021B Bonds
[Equity Contribution]
Total

Uses
Project Costs
Refinancing of Existing Indebtedness
Capitalized Interest
Costs of Issuance'

Total®

!' Includes underwriter's discount, legal fees, accounting fees, printing costs, fees and expenses of the Bond Trustee, the Master
Trustee, the feasibility consultant, and other miscellaneous fees and expenses.
2 Total may not foot due to rounding.



FINANCIAL FEASIBILITY STUDY

Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP, independent certified public accountants, has prepared a financial
feasibility study dated November 3, 2021 (the "Feasibility Study"), which is included as Appendix C hereto.
The Feasibility Study includes management's financial forecast of the Obligated Group for the five (5) years
ending December 31, 2025. As stated in the Feasibility Study, there will usually be differences between the
forecasted data and actual results because events and circumstances frequently do not occur as expected
and those differences may be material.

In addition, the financial forecast is only for the five years ending December 31, 2025, and
consequently, does not cover the whole period during which the 2021A Bonds may be outstanding. THE
FEASIBILITY STUDY SHOULD BE READ IN ITS ENTIRETY, INCLUDING MANAGEMENT'S
NOTES AND ASSUMPTIONS SET FORTH THEREIN. Purchasers of the 2021A Bonds should
consult the final Official Statement for information on the final interest rates for the 2021 A Bonds, which
are likely to be different from those assumed in the Feasibility Study.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]



The following table reflects the forecasted funds available for debt service and other financial ratios
as of and for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2021 through 2025 and has been extracted from
management's financial forecast included in the Feasibility Study.

Forecasted Financial Ratios
For the Years Ending December 31
(In Thousands, Except for Ratios)

Debt Service Coverage Ratio 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Change in net assets $1,107  $1,847
Less:
Amortization of earned entrance fees (4,073) (4,848)
Entrance fee refunded (3,498) (3,739)
Add:
Entrance fees received from re-occupancy (non-refundable) 2,201 2,357
Entrance fees received from re-occupancy (refundable) 4,937 5,276
Depreciation 4,049 4,103
Amortization (113) (113)
Interest expense 1,714 1,644
Income Available for Debt Service $6,324 6,527
Maximum Annual Debt Service ! 2,904 2,904
Debt Service Coverage Ratio 2.18x 2.25x
Days' Cash on Hand 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Unrestricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents $7,582 $10,481 $17.417 $23,025 $25,933
Board designated investments 6,053 6,053 6,053 6,053 6,053
Board designated asset replacement fund 2,229 2,229 2,229 2,229 2,229
Operating Reserve Fund 6,888 7,295 4,359 4,494 4,680
Unrestricted cash available 22,752 26,058 30,058 35,801 38,895
Annual operating expenses $16,407 $17,485 $21,914 $22,592 $23,492
Deduct:
Depreciation (2,291) (2,656) (3,941) (4,049) (4,103)
Amortization 10 113 113 113 113
Expenses, net $14,126 $14,942 $18,086 $18,656 $19,502
Daily operating expenses > $39 $41 $50 $51 $53
Days' Cash on Hand 588 637 607 700 728

' Forecasted maximum annual debt service for the years ending December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2025 is equal to the
maximum annual debt service on the Series 2021 A Bonds and the Series 2021B-1 Bonds.
2 Daily operating expenses are equal to total annual operating expenses less depreciation and amortization expense divided by 365

days.



THE COMMISSION
General

The Commission was created primarily as a result of the findings of the North Carolina Hospital
and Medical Care Commission, a special commission appointed in 1944 to study the critical shortages in
general hospital facilities and trained medical personnel in the State of North Carolina (the "State") and to
make recommendations for improvements in these areas. Among the recommendations made was that the
legislature provide for a permanent State agency that would be responsible for the maintenance of high
standards in the State's hospitals and for the administration of a medical student loan fund and a statewide
hospital and medical care program.

The Commission was established in 1945 and, pursuant to its enabling legislation, was given the
power, among others, to make a survey of the hospital resources in the State and formulate a statewide
program for construction and maintenance of local hospitals, health centers and related facilities and to
receive and administer federal and State funds appropriated for such purposes.

In 1946, Congress passed the Hospital Survey and Construction Act ("Hill-Burton") to provide
funds for the construction and renovation of health care facilities, and the Commission was designated as
the agency empowered to administer the program within the State. Under this program, also known as the
Hill-Burton program, health facility construction in the State has totaled more than $500 million, of which
40% was provided by federal sources, 5% by the State and 55% by local sponsors. Of the more than 500
Hill-Burton projects approved by the Commission between 1946 and 1976, 241 were general hospital
projects, including 80 completely new facilities.

Pursuant to the Executive Organization Act of 1973, the 17-member Commission was incorporated
into the Department of Human Resources (now the Department of Health and Human Services). Three
members of the Commission are nominated by the North Carolina Medical Society, one by the North
Carolina Pharmaceutical Association, one by the North Carolina State Nurses' Association, one by the
North Carolina Hospital Association and one by The Duke Endowment. Each nomination is subject to the
Governor's approval. In addition, ten Commission members, one of whom must be a dentist, are appointed
by the Governor.

Today, the Commission has the duty and power to promulgate, adopt, amend and rescind rules in
accordance with the laws of the State regarding the regulation and licensing or certification, as applicable,
of hospitals, hospices, free standing outpatient surgical facilities, nursing homes, adult care homes, home
care agencies, home health agencies, nursing pools, facilities providing mammography/pap smear services,
free standing abortion clinics, ambulances and emergency medical services personnel.

In 1975, the North Carolina General Assembly enacted the Health Care Facilities Finance Act,
which enables the Commission to issue tax-exempt revenue bonds to finance construction and equipment
projects for nonprofit and public hospitals, nursing homes, continuing care facilities for the elderly and
facilities related to the foregoing.

Outstanding Debt

As of September 30, 2021, the Commission had issued revenue bonds or notes to finance 672
projects, refundings or conversions. The total authorized principal amount of all such financings was
$27,792,829,692, and the total outstanding principal amount of all such financings as of September 30,
2021 was $5,442,718,810. Each such issue is payable solely from revenues derived from the respective
corporate entity or entities receiving such financing, and any other credit support provided therefor is



separately secured, and is separate and independent from all other series of bonds as to source of payment

and security.

Membership
The Commission currently consists of 16 members, with one vacancy. The current membership is
as follows:
Name Term Principal Occupation Residence
John J. Meier, IV, M.D. 2017-2025 Physician Raleigh
Chairman
Joseph D. Crocker 1988-2024 Retired Charitable Trust Officer Winston-Salem
Vice Chairman
Kathy G. Barger 2020-2024 Retired Healthcare Consultant Durham
Sally B. Cone 2019-2023 Attorney Greensboro
Paul R.G. Cunningham, 2017-2025 Physician Grimesland
M.D.
John A. Fagg, M.D. 2003-2023 Physician Winston-Salem
Bryant C. Foriest 2019-2023 Managing Director, Excalibur Kernersville
Consulting LLC
Linwood B. Hollowell, 111 2017-2025 Director, Health Care Division Charlotte
The Duke Endowment
Anita L. Jackson, M.D. 2020-2024 Physician Lumberton
Eileen C. Kugler, R.N. 2010-2022 Retired, Manager of Practice, North Leland
M.S.N., M.P.H., F.N.P. Carolina Board of Nursing
Ashley Lloyd, D.D.S. 2019-2024 Dentist Raleigh
Karen Moriarity 2017-2025 President and CEO, Carillon Assisted ~ Raleigh
Living
Stephen T. Morton 2018-2022 CEO, Navion Senior Living Durham
Robert E. Schaaf, M.D. 2005-2022 Physician Raleigh
Neel G. Thomas, M.D. 2020-2024 Anesthesiologist Raleigh
Jeffrey S. Wilson 2017-2025 Chief Operating Officer, Liberty Wilmington

Commission Staff

Healthcare Management

The Division of Health Service Regulation of the Department of Health and Human Services
employs a staff of approximately 579 persons (including registered architects, professional engineers and
consultants in the fields of emergency medicine, hospital administration, nursing service and
administration, dietetics and nutrition, laboratory design and operation and medical records), the services
of whom are available to and used by the Commission. The Division of Health Service Regulation provides
all necessary administrative and clerical assistance to the Commission.



Certain Administrative Officers

S. Mark Payne was appointed to the position of Secretary for the North Carolina Medical Care
Commission in February of 2016 and to the position of Director for the Division of Health Service
Regulation in January of 2016. Mr. Payne is an accomplished corporate attorney and compliance officer
with extensive experience providing business-focused legal advice and developing and implementing
business process to achieve strategic objectives. He has served in varied roles including Vice President and
Chief Ethics & Compliance Officer and Compliance Counsel for Blue Cross Blue Shield of North Carolina
and Senior Counsel for Blue Cross Blue Shield, Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of North Carolina, and
CIGNA Corporation. Mr. Payne is a licensed attorney in the State. He earned his law degree from
Cumberland School of Law at Samford University and he holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from Covenant
College.

Geary W. Knapp, JD, CPA, Assistant Secretary, Audit Manager and Advisor. As Audit Manager
and Advisor, Mr. Knapp is responsible for the areas of (1) financial and operational auditing and
compliance, (2) assistance and consultation to the Construction Section during project development and
completion and (3) evaluation of and counseling of projects during the process of financing through the
Commission. He served as an Assistant State Auditor with the Office of State Auditor from 2014 until 2017.
In 2017, Mr. Knapp was named Audit Manager and Advisor. Prior to his State service, Mr. Knapp practiced
law with a regional law firm for thirteen years, primarily in the litigation field. Mr. Knapp has a bachelor's
degree in Business Administration from the University of North Carolina and a MBA and Juris Doctorate
from Campbell University. Mr. Knapp is a Certified Public Accountant and licensed attorney in the State.

Anthony J. Harms, Acting Chief, Construction Section, Division of Health Service Regulation,
North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services. Mr. Harms is currently responsible for the
review of plans and specifications for projects seeking assistance under the Act to insure that they meet the
minimum standards of construction and design developed by the Construction Section for that purpose. Mr.
Harms has been with the Construction Section of the Division of Health Service Regulation since 2003 and
has served successively as a Building Systems Engineer from 2003 to 2009 and Engineering Supervisor
from 2009 to 2020 prior to becoming acting Chief in June 2020. Mr. Harms has a Bachelor of Architecture
degree from University of North Carolina at Charlotte and is experienced in the areas of building design
and construction, structural engineering and medical gas systems.

Kathy C. Larrison, Auditor, North Carolina Medical Care Commission, North Carolina
Department of Health and Human Services. As Auditor, Ms. Larrison is responsible for continuous review
and audit of projects financed through the Commission to ensure financial, legal and operational compliance
with the bond and note covenants. She joined the Commission staff in September 2004, after serving 17
years in an acute care hospital in the capacities of Staff Accountant, Controller and Chief Financial Officer.
She has a Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting from Campbell University.

Crystal M. Watson-Abbott, Auditor, North Carolina Medical Care Commission, North Carolina
Department of Health and Human Services. As auditor for the Commission, Ms. Watson-Abbott is
responsible for continuous review and audit of projects financed through the Commission to ensure
financial, legal and operational compliance with the bond and note covenants. She joined the staff in August
2010, after serving five years for a local C.P.A. firm providing auditing and reimbursement consulting
services for various healthcare entities in the capacities of staff auditor, reimbursement specialist and senior
reimbursement specialist and two years as Director of Social Services for a nursing home. She has a B.S.W.
in Social Work and a M.S.A. in Accounting from East Carolina University.
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THE 2021A BONDS

General

Interest (based on a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) on the 2021 A Bonds will be
payable on each January 1 and July 1, beginning on July 1, 2022, at the rates set forth on the cover page
hereof. Interest payments will be made to the person in whose name such 2021A Bond is registered at the
close of business on the applicable Regular Record Date. "Regular Record Date" means the 15th day
(whether or not a Business Day) of the month immediately preceding any interest payment date.

The 2021A Bonds will mature, subject to the redemption provisions set forth below, on January 1,
in the years and amounts set forth on the cover page hereof. Individual purchases of the 2021A Bonds will
be made in the principal amount of $5,000 or any whole multiple thereof. So long as Cede & Co. is the
registered owner of the 2021 A Bonds, references herein to the Holders or registered owners of the 2021A
Bonds shall mean Cede & Co. and shall not mean the beneficial owners of the 2021 A Bonds.

Redemption Provisions
The 2021A Bonds may not be called for redemption by the Commission except as provided below.
Optional Redemption

The 2021A Bonds maturing on and after January 1, 20 are subject to redemption by the
Commission, upon the direction of the Obligated Group Representative, in whole or in part (by lot) on any
date on or after January 1, 20 , at the following redemption prices (expressed as percentages of the
principal amount of the 2021 A Bonds to be redeemed), plus interest accrued to the redemption date:

Redemption Date Redemption Price
January 1, 20 through December 31,20 %
January 1,20 through December 31,20
January 1,20 through December 31,20
January 1, 20 through December 31,20 o
January 1,20 and thereafter 100

Mandatory Redemption for Bonds

The 2021A Bonds that are stated to mature on January 1, 20 (the "20  Term Bonds") will be
subject to mandatory redemption in part by lot on January 1 in the years and amounts set forth below at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2021 A Bonds to be redeemed plus accrued
interest to the date of redemption, all in the manner provided in the Trust Agreement:

Year Amount

* Maturity.
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The 2021A Bonds that are stated to mature on January 1, 20 (the "20 _ Term Bonds") will be
subject to mandatory redemption in part by lot on January 1 in the years and amounts set forth below at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2021 A Bonds to be redeemed plus accrued
interest to the date of redemption, all in the manner provided in the Trust Agreement:

Year Amount

* Maturity.

On or before the 45th day next preceding any January 1 on which Term Bonds are to be retired
pursuant to the Sinking Fund Requirement therefor, the Commission or the Corporation may deliver to the
Bond Trustee for cancellation Term Bonds required to be redeemed on such January 1 in any aggregate
principal amount desired and receive a credit against amounts required to be transferred from the Sinking
Fund Account on account of such Term Bonds in the amount of 100% of the principal amount of any such
Term Bonds so purchased. Any principal amount of Term Bonds purchased by the Bond Trustee and
canceled in excess of the principal amount required to be redeemed on such January 1, shall be credited
against and reduce the principal amount of future Sinking Fund Requirements in such manner as shall be
specified in an Officer's Certificate of the Obligated Group Representative in substantially the form set forth
in the Trust Agreement.

Extraordinary Optional Redemption

The 2021A Bonds will be subject to redemption, in whole or in part, on any date by the
Commission, upon the direction of an Obligated Group Representative, at a redemption price equal to 100%
of the principal amount of the 2021A Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest to the redemption date,
from amounts received by any Obligated Group Member as insurance proceeds with respect to any casualty
loss or failure of title or as condemnation awards (provided such amount is not less than $100,000) upon
the occurrence of the following events: Damage or destruction of all or any part (if such damage or
destruction causes the Facilities as a whole to be impracticable to operate, as evidenced by an Officer's
Certificate filed with the Commission and the Bond Trustee) of the Facilities by fire or casualty, or loss of
title to or use of all or any part (if such loss of title causes the Facilities as a whole to be impracticable to
operate, as evidenced by an Officer's Certificate filed with the Commission and the Bond Trustee) of the
Facilities as a result of the failure of title or as a result of Eminent Domain proceedings or proceedings in
lieu thereof; provided, however, that in the event an amount greater than ten percent (10%) of the aggregate
principal amount of Obligation No. 1 and all other Master Obligations is prepaid, the Corporation will file
with the Commission, the Local Government Commission and the Bond Trustee (i) an Officer's Certificate
to the effect that the forecasted Long-Term Debt Service Coverage Ratio for the Fiscal Year next succeeding
the Fiscal Year in which such prepayment is made will be not less than 1.30 or (ii) a report of a Management
Consultant to the effect that the forecasted Long-Term Debt Service Coverage Ratio for the Fiscal Year
next succeeding the Fiscal Year in which such prepayment is made will be not less than 1.20.

The 2021A Bonds will also be subject to redemption, in whole but not in part, on any date by the
Commission, at the direction of an Obligated Group Representative, at a redemption price equal to 100%
of the principal amount of the 2021A Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest to the redemption date,
upon the occurrence of the following events: Changes in the Constitution of the United States of America
or of the State or legislation or administrative action or failure of administrative action by the United States
of America or the State or any agency or political subdivision of either, or any judicial decision, to the
extent that, in the opinion of the Board of Directors of the Corporation (expressed in a resolution) and in

12



the opinion of a Management Consultant, both filed with the Commission and the Bond Trustee, (i) the
Loan Agreement is impossible to perform without unreasonable delay or (ii) unreasonable burdens or
excessive liabilities not being imposed on the date of the Loan Agreement are imposed on the Corporation.

General Redemption Provisions

If less than all the 2021A Bonds are to be called for optional or extraordinary redemption, the
maturities to be redeemed will be selected by the Obligated Group Representative. If less than all the 2021A
Bonds within a maturity are to be called for redemption, the 2021A Bonds (or portions thereof) within each
maturity to be redeemed will be selected (a) so long as a book-entry-only system is used for determining
beneficial ownership of such 2021 A Bonds, by the securities depository for the book-entry system or (b) if
a book-entry system is not then being used, by the Bond Trustee, by lot, each $5,000 portion of principal
being counted as one 2021A Bond for such purpose.

Notice of redemption will be mailed by the Bond Trustee, first class, postage prepaid (or sent by
Electronic Means if so required or requested by a Holder), at least 30 but not more than 60 days prior to the
redemption date to each registered owner of the 2021 A Bonds called for redemption in whole or in part at
the address shown on the registration books. Failure to mail any such notice to any registered owner or any
defect therein will not affect the validity of the proceedings for the redemption of the 2021A Bonds of any
other registered owners as to which notice was properly given. Notice of redemption will also be given by
the Bond Trustee at least 30 days prior to the redemption date to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking
Board; provided, however, that failure to give such notice or any defect therein will not affect the
sufficiency of the proceedings for the redemption of such 2021 A Bonds.

On the date fixed for redemption, notice having been given as provided above, the 2021 A Bonds
or portions thereof called for redemption will be due and payable at the Redemption Price provided therefor,
plus accrued interest to the redemption date. If, on the date fixed for redemption, money, Defeasance
Obligations, or a combination of both, sufficient to pay the Redemption Price of the 2021A Bonds to be
redeemed, plus accrued interest thereon to the date fixed for redemption, are held by the Bond Trustee in
trust for the registered owners of the 2021 A Bonds to be redeemed, interest on the 2021 A Bonds so called
for redemption will cease to accrue, such 2021A Bonds will cease to be entitled to any benefit or security
under the Trust Agreement or to be deemed Outstanding, and the registered owners of such 2021 A Bonds
will have no rights in respect thereof except to receive payment of the redemption price thereof, plus accrued
interest to the date fixed for redemption.

In the case of an optional or extraordinary optional redemption of 2021A Bonds, the redemption
notice may state that (a) it is conditioned upon the deposit of moneys or Defeasance Obligations, or a
combination of both, in an amount equal to the amount necessary to effect the redemption, with the Bond
Trustee no later than the scheduled redemption date or (b) the Corporation retains the right to rescind such
notice on or prior to the scheduled redemption date (in either case, a "Conditional Redemption"), and such
notice and optional redemption shall be of no effect if such moneys are not so deposited or if the notice is
rescinded as provided in the Trust Agreement. In the case of a Conditional Redemption subject to the
deposit of moneys or Defeasance Obligations, the failure of the Corporation or any other Person to make
such moneys or obligations available in part or in whole on or before the scheduled redemption date shall
not constitute an Event of Default under the Trust Agreement and any 2021A Bonds subject to such
Conditional Redemption shall remain Outstanding. Any Conditional Redemption subject to rescission may
be rescinded in whole or in part at any time on or prior to the scheduled redemption date if the Obligated
Group Representative instructs the Bond Trustee in writing to rescind the redemption notice. Any 2021A
Bonds subject to Conditional Redemption where redemption has been rescinded shall remain Outstanding,
and the rescission shall not constitute an Event of Default under the Trust Agreement. If a Conditional
Redemption for which notice has been sent to Holders will not occur, either because moneys or obligations
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to effect such redemption are not available on or before the scheduled redemption date or the Corporation
has rescinded such notice in accordance with the Trust Agreement, the Bond Trustee shall immediately
give notice to the affected Holders of any 2021A Bonds that the redemption will not occur and that the
2021A Bonds called for redemption and not so paid will remain Outstanding.

So long as a book-entry system is being used for determining beneficial ownership of 2021A
Bonds, the Bond Trustee will send such notice with respect to the redemption of such 2021A Bonds
to DTC (or its nominee). Any failure of DTC to notify any DTC Participant of any such notice, or of
any Direct Participant or Indirect Participant to notify the beneficial owner of any such notice, will
not affect the validity of the redemption of such 2021A Bonds.

Purchase in Lieu of Redemption

When 2021A Bonds are subject to optional redemption or extraordinary optional redemption as
described above, 2021 A Bonds to be redeemed may be purchased by the Corporation in lieu of redemption
on the applicable redemption date at a purchase price equal to the Redemption Price thereof if the Bond
Trustee has received a written request on or before said purchase date from the Corporation specifying that
the moneys provided or to be provided by the Corporation shall be used to purchase Bonds in lieu of
redemption. No purchase of 2021 A Bonds by the Corporation pursuant to the Trust Agreement or advance
or use of any moneys to effectuate any such purchase shall be deemed to be a payment or redemption of
the 2021 A Bonds or any portion thereof, and such purchase shall not operate to extinguish or discharge the
indebtedness evidenced by such 2021A Bonds.

Acceleration Upon Default

All principal and accrued interest on the 2021A Bonds may become immediately due and payable,
without premium, upon an Event of Default under the Trust Agreement if the Bond Trustee (1) exercises
its option to so declare or (2) is directed to so declare by the Holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal
amount of 2021A Bonds outstanding. See in Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL
DOCUMENTS — THE TRUST AGREEMENT — Remedies on Default."

Defeasance

If interest on, and the principal or redemption premium (as the case may be) of all 2021 A Bonds
have been paid, or the required amount of money and Defeasance Obligations (which includes securities
other than Government Obligations) have been deposited with the Bond Trustee to provide sufficient
amounts to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest due and to become due on the 2021 A Bonds
on or prior to the redemption date or maturity date thereof, such 2021A Bonds shall be no longer deemed
outstanding under the Trust Agreement. See in Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL
DOCUMENTS — THE TRUST AGREEMENT - Defeasance."

Book-Entry-Only System
The 2021A Bonds are being issued in fully registered form in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee
of The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), and beneficial interests in the book-entry bonds will be

available in authorized denominations to purchasers under the book-entry-only system maintained by DTC.
See "DTC'S BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM" in Appendix F hereto.
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SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT
General

The 2021A Bonds will be issued under and will be equally and ratably secured under the Trust
Agreement. The proceeds of the 2021A Bonds will be loaned to the Corporation pursuant to the Loan
Agreement. The principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the 2021A Bonds will be payable from
moneys paid by the Corporation and any other Members of the Obligated Group pursuant to the Loan
Agreement and Obligation No. 1. Obligation No. 1 will be secured by the Master Indenture and the Deed
of Trust on a parity basis with the Direct Purchase Obligations and any other Master Obligation hereafter
issued (except Subordinated Obligations and Subordinated Derivative Obligations).

Obligation No. 1 is a joint and several general obligation of each Obligated Group Member. Upon
the issuance of the 2021 A Bonds, the Corporation will be the sole Obligated Group Member.

The 2021B Bonds are not secured by the Trust Agreement; however, the 2021B Bonds are secured
by Obligation No. 2. Obligation No. 2 and Obligation No. 3 are issued as Master Obligations under the
Master Indenture on a parity basis with Obligation No. 1.

Limited Obligations

The 2021A Bonds will be limited obligations of the Commission. The Commission will not be
obligated to pay debt service on the 2021A Bonds except from the revenues and other funds pledged
or assigned therefor under the Trust Agreement, including moneys paid by the Obligated Group
under Obligation No. 1. Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State or of any other
political subdivision thereof is pledged as security for the 2021A Bonds.

Trust Agreement

Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the Commission will assign to the Bond Trustee (1) its right, title
and interest in and to Obligation No. 1, (2) its rights under the Master Indenture and the Deed of Trust as
owner of Obligation No. 1, (3) its right, title and interest in and to the Loan Agreement, including the right
to receive loan payments thereunder (except for certain reserved rights, including its rights to
indemnification and the payment of certain expenses, its rights to give certain approvals and consents and
its rights to receive certain documents, information and notices), and (4) all money and securities held by
the Bond Trustee in the Bond Fund and the Redemption Fund and until applied in payment of the Cost of
the Project, all money and securities in the Construction Fund, as security for the payment of the principal
of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the 2021 A Bonds.

Loan Agreement

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the Corporation will agree to make loan payments to the Bond
Trustee in such amounts as will pay, when due, the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the 2021 A
Bonds. The Corporation's payment obligations with respect to the 2021 A Bonds under the Loan Agreement
will be a general obligation of the Corporation. Pursuant to the Trust Agreement the Commission has
assigned to the Bond Trustee all of its rights, title and interest in and to, and remedies under, the Loan
Agreement, except for certain reserved rights, including, but not limited to, its rights to indemnification and
the payment of certain expenses, its rights to give certain approvals and consents and its rights to receive
certain documents, information and notices.
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Master Indenture and Deed of Trust

The Master Indenture is intended to provide assurance for the repayment of Master Obligations
entitled to its benefits by imposing financial and operating covenants which restrict the Corporation and
any other future Obligated Group Members and by the appointment of the Master Trustee to enforce such
covenants for the benefit of the Holders of such Master Obligations. Obligation No. 1 and the Direct
Purchase Obligations are the only Senior Obligations presently entitled to the benefits of the Master
Indenture. With the exception of any Subordinated Obligations and Subordinated Derivative Obligations,
the Holders of all Master Obligations entitled to the benefit of the Master Indenture will be on parity with
respect to the benefits of the Master Indenture.

Pursuant to the Master Indenture, (a) the Corporation has pledged and granted, and any future
Obligated Group Members will pledge and grant, to the Master Trustee (i) a security interest in all of the
Gross Revenues of the Obligated Group, with certain limited exceptions, (ii) a security interest in all
personal property owned or hereafter acquired by the Obligated Group, (iii) a security interest in the
amounts on deposit in the Funds established under the Master Indenture, and (iv) a security interest in any
other property from time to time subjected to the lien of the Master Indenture, and (b) the Corporation will
execute and deliver the Deed of Trust in favor of individual trustees for the benefit of the Master Trustee.
The lien and security interests created by the Master Indenture may become subject to additional Permitted
Liens, as defined in Appendix D hereto. See Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL
DOCUMENTS — THE MASTER INDENTURE."

"Gross Revenues" means all receipts, revenues, rentals, income, insurance proceeds (including,
without limitation, all Medicaid, Medicare and other third party payments), condemnation awards, Entrance
Fees and other moneys received by or on behalf of any Obligated Group Member, including (without
limitation) revenues derived from (a) the ownership, operation or leasing of any portion of the Facilities
(including, without limitation, fees payable by or on behalf of residents of the Facilities) and all rights to
receive the same (other than the right to receive Medicaid and Medicare payments), whether in the form of
accounts, general intangibles or other rights, and the proceeds of such accounts, general intangibles and
other rights, whether now existing or hereafter coming into existence or whether now owned or held or
hereafter acquired, and (b) gifts, grants, bequests, donations and contributions heretofore or hereafter made
that are legally available to meet any of the obligations of the Obligated Group Member incurred in the
financing, operation, maintenance or repair of any portion of the Facilities; provided, however, that there
shall be excluded from Gross Revenues (i) any amounts received by an Obligated Group Member as a
billing agent for another entity, except for fees received for serving as billing agent, (ii) gifts, grants,
bequests, donations and contributions to an Obligated Group Member heretofore or hereafter made, and the
income and gains derived therefrom, which are specifically restricted by the donor or grantor to a particular
purpose which is inconsistent with their use as payments required under the Master Indenture, (iii) any
moneys received by any Obligated Group Member from prospective residents or commercial tenants in
order to pay for customized improvements to those Independent Living Units or other areas of the Facilities
to be occupied or leased to such residents or tenants, and (iv) all deposits and/or advance payments made
in connection with any leases of the Independent Living Units and received prior to receipt of a certificate
of occupancy and any required licenses.

The Deed of Trust serves as security for (a) the prompt payment of the principal of, premium, if
any and the interest on all Master Obligations, including Obligation No. 1, the Direct Purchase Obligations
and any future Master Obligations outstanding from time to time and (b) the performance by each Obligated
Group Member of its other obligations under the Master Indenture and the Deed of Trust. The Deed of
Trust will create a lien on the Mortgaged Property. Obligation No. 1, the Direct Purchase Obligations, and
any future Senior Obligations will be secured by the Deed of Trust on a parity basis. The lien and security
interests created by the Deed of Trust may become subject to additional Permitted Liens, as defined in the
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form of Master Indenture attached in Appendix D hereto. See Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL
LEGAL DOCUMENTS — THE DEED OF TRUST."

Simultaneously with the delivery of the 2021 A Bonds, the Corporation will deliver a mortgagee
title insurance policy issued to the Master Trustee insuring that the Deed of Trust constitutes a first priority
lien of record, subject to Permitted Liens, on the Mortgaged Property described therein. The Corporation
has ordered a survey of the Mortgaged Property, which is expected to be finalized prior to the issuance of
the 2021 A Bonds, and expects that the title insurance policy will reflect the delivery of such survey. When
the 2021 A Bonds are issued, the stated amount of such policy, with endorsements, will be equal to the
amount of all the Master Obligations currently outstanding.

The Master Obligations will constitute joint and several obligations of each Obligated Group
Member. Currently, only the Corporation and the Master Trustee are parties to the Master Indenture and
the Corporation is the only Obligated Group Member. The Corporation and each Obligated Group Member
admitted in the future will be jointly and severally liable for the payment for all Master Obligations entitled
to the benefits of the Master Indenture and will be subject to the financial and operating covenants
thereunder. See Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS — THE MASTER
INDENTURE - Admission of Obligated Group Members" and "-Withdrawal of Obligated Group
Members."

In addition to the covenants described below, the Master Indenture contains additional covenants
relating to, among others, the maintenance of the Obligated Group's property, corporate existence, the
maintenance of certain levels of insurance coverage, the incurrence of additional indebtedness, the sale or
lease of certain property, and Permitted Liens. For a full description of these and other covenants, see
Appendix D " FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS — THE MASTER INDENTURE."

Excluded Property

The Mortgaged Property does not include two acres of real property located at the southeast corner
of the campus along Porters Neck Road, which will constitute Excluded Real Property under the Master
Indenture, as described in Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS — MASTER
INDENTURE".

Assignment of Contracts

Pursuant to an Assignment of Contracts, dated as of December 1, 2021 (the "Assignment"), from
the Corporation to the Master Trustee, the Corporation will assign to the Master Trustee all of its respective
rights, title and interests in certain contracts relating to the Project, including the architects agreement, a
construction contract and any and all other documents, instruments and agreements, including any payment
and performance bonds, whether now or hereafter existing, relating to the design, construction, renovation,
installation and equipping of the Project; and all amendments, revisions, and modifications thereto, as
security for (1) the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on all Master Obligations
issued under the Master Indenture and (2) all costs and expenses incurred by the Master Trustee in
connection with the administration or enforcement of the Master Indenture or the Assignment.

Covenants; Additional Indebtedness
The Members of the Obligated Group are subject to covenants under the Master Indenture relating
to, among other things, a Debt Service Coverage Ratio, a Liquidity Requirement, Marketing Requirements,

and Occupancy Requirements and restrictions related to the incurrence of Additional Indebtedness,
existence of Liens on Property, consolidation and merger, transfers of assets, the addition of Obligated
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Group Members, and the withdrawal of Obligated Group Members. See "FINANCING DOCUMENTS
AND SELECTED COVENANTS" and in Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS
— THE MASTER INDENTURE."

The Master Indenture permits each Obligated Group Member to issue or incur Additional
Indebtedness evidenced by Master Obligations that will be secured on a parity basis with Obligation No. 1
and the Direct Purchase Obligations. Such additional Master Obligations will not be secured by the money
or investments in any fund or account held by the Bond Trustee under the Trust Agreement as security for
the 2021 A Bonds. The circumstances under which such debt may be incurred under the terms of the Master
Indenture are set forth in Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS - THE MASTER
INDENTURE — Additional Indebtedness."

No Debt Service Reserve Fund

No debt service reserve fund will be established pursuant to the Master Indenture to secure payment
of Obligation No. 1 and thereby the 2021 A Bonds. The Obligated Group may establish debt service reserve
funds under the Master Indenture in the future to secure additional Master Obligations issued under the
Master Indenture, and such amounts will not serve as security for Obligation No. 1 or the 2021 A Bonds.

Operating Reserves

Section 58-64-33 of the General Statutes of North Carolina, as amended, requires that all continuing
care facilities, such as the Existing Facilities, maintain operating reserves equal to 50% of the total operating
costs (as defined in Section 58-64-33) (or 25% of the total operating costs if such facilities maintain an
occupancy level in excess of 90% and the North Carolina Commissioner of Insurance so approves)
projected for the twelve-month period following the period covered by the most recent disclosure statement
filed with the North Carolina Department of Insurance. Such operating reserves may only be released upon
approval of the North Carolina Commissioner of Insurance. As such, the ability of the Master Trustee to
enforce its security interest in any funds pledged under the Master Indenture held as operating reserves
pursuant to Section 58-64-33 may be limited.

Additional Members of the Obligated Group

The Master Indenture provides that under certain conditions Persons that are not Members of the
Obligated Group may, with the prior written consent of the then current Members of the Obligated Group,
become Members of the Obligated Group. See in Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL
DOCUMENTS — THE MASTER INDENTURE — Admission of Obligated Group Members."

Amendments to Trust Agreement

In general, the Trust Agreement permits amendments to be made thereto (except for certain
amendments that do not require Bondholder consent) only with the consent of the holders of not less than
a majority of the aggregate principal amount of all 2021 A Bonds Outstanding. The Trust Agreement further

provides that nothing therein contained shall permit, or be construed as permitting, any of the following:

(a) An extension of the maturity of the principal amount of or the interest on any
2021A Bonds without the consent of the Holders of such 2021 A Bonds;

(b) A reduction in the principal amount of any 2021A Bonds or the redemption
premium or the rate of interest thereon without the consent of the Holders of such 2021 A Bonds;
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(©) The creation of a pledge of receipts and revenues to be received by the Commission
under the Loan Agreement superior to the pledge created by the Trust Agreement without the
consent of the Holders of all 2021A Bonds Outstanding;

(d) A preference or priority of any 2021A Bond over any other 2021A Bond without
consent of the Holders of all 2021 A Bonds Outstanding; or

(e) A reduction in the aggregate principal amount of the 2021 A Bonds required for
consent to such supplemental trust agreement without the consent of the Holders of all Bonds
Outstanding;

For additional information see in Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS
— TRUST AGREEMENT - Modification of Trust Agreement with Consent of Holders." See also
"CERTAIN BONDHOLDERS' RISKS — Amendments to Financing Documents."

Amendments to Master Indenture

In general, the Master Indenture permits amendments to be made thereto (except for certain
amendments that do not require the consent of the Holders of Master Obligations) only with the Consent of
the Majority Holders, by Act of said Holders delivered to the Obligated Group Representative and the
Master Trustee, and if any Commission Bonds are outstanding, the consent of the Commission. The Master
Indenture further provides that without the Consent of the Holders of each Outstanding Master Obligation
affected thereby, nothing therein contained shall permit, or be construed as permitting, any of the following:

(a) Change the Stated Maturity of the principal of, or any installment of interest on,
any Master Obligations or any date for mandatory redemption thereof, or reduce the principal
amount thereof or the interest thereon or any premium payable upon the redemption thereof, or
change any Place of Payment where, or the coin or currency in which, any Master Obligations or
the interest thereon is payable, or impair the right to institute suit for the enforcement of any such
payment on or after the Stated Maturity thereof (or, in the case of redemption, on or after the
redemption date), or

(b) Reduce the percentage in principal amount of the Outstanding Master Obligations
the Consent of whose Holders is required for any such Supplemental Master Indenture or the
Consent of whose Holders is required for any waiver (of compliance with certain provisions of this
Master Indenture or certain defaults hereunder and their consequences) provided for in the Master
Indenture, or

(©) Modify any of the provisions of the amendment section or the provisions of the
Master Indenture dealing with the waiver of past defaults and future covenants, except to increase
any such percentage or to provide that certain other provisions of the Master Indenture cannot be
modified or waived without the Consent of the Holder of each Master Obligation affected thereby.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, during any period of time in which an Event of Default has occurred
and is continuing, an amendment of the type described in subsections (a), (b) and (c) above may be made
with respect to an Outstanding Master Obligation with the consent of the holders of at least 80% in
aggregate principal amount of all Outstanding Related Bonds related to such Master Obligation; provided,
however, any such amendment shall not result in a preference or priority of any Master Obligation or
Related Bonds over any other Master Obligation or Related Bonds (other than Subordinated Indebtedness
and subordinated Related Bonds) and no such amendment described in subsections (a), (b) or (¢) shall result
in a disproportionate change, reduction or modification with respect to any Related Bonds. It shall not be
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necessary for any Act of Holders of Master Obligations under this Section to approve the particular form
of any proposed Supplemental Master Indenture, but it shall be sufficient if such Act shall approve the
substance thereof.

For additional information see in Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS
— MASTER INDENTURE — Supplements and Amendments." See "CERTAIN BONDHOLDERS' RISKS
— Amendments to Financing Documents."

Funds and Accounts Held Under the Master Indenture and Bond Indenture

The 2021A Bonds are secured by funds and accounts held under the Master Indenture and the Bond
Indenture, including the following:

Entrance Fee Fund

The Master Trustee will establish and maintain a separate fund to be known as the Entrance Fee
Fund. All moneys received by the Master Trustee and held in the Entrance Fee Fund will be trust funds
under the terms of the Supplemental Indenture and the Master Indenture for the benefit of all of the
Outstanding Master Obligations (except as otherwise provided) and shall not be subject to lien or
attachment of any creditor of any Obligated Group Member. Such moneys will be held in trust and applied
in accordance with the provisions of the Supplemental Indenture and the Master Indenture. While Project
Initial Entrance Fees will secure all Master Obligations on a parity basis, they are not expected to be used
to repay the 2021A Bonds.

(a) The Members of the Obligated Group agree that all Project Initial Entrance Fees received
by the Members of the Obligated Group shall be transferred to the Master Trustee within five Business
Days of receipt and the satisfaction of all conditions under applicable law and regulations for deposit into
the Entrance Fee Fund.

(b) For so long as there shall not have occurred and be continuing an Event of Default under
the Master Indenture, the Project Initial Entrance Fees deposited to the Entrance Fee Fund shall be applied
by the Master Trustee in the following order of priority, as follows:

FIRST: Within two (2) Business Days of receipt, to the Obligated Group Representative to
pay refunds required by Residency Agreements for which the Obligated Group Representative has
not received a corresponding replacement Entrance Fee with respect to the applicable Project
Independent Living Unit. Such disbursements shall be made only upon receipt by the Master
Trustee of an Officer's Certificate of the Obligated Group Representative certifying that the
Obligated Group Representative is required by a Residency Agreement to pay refunds and directing
the Master Trustee to make such payment.

SECOND: If there is no pending disbursement under FIRST, on last Business Day of each
calendar month to the 2021B Lender to redeem the 2021B-2 Bonds in accordance with the terms
of the Credit Agreement and the 2021B Trust Agreement. The deposit of the Project Initial Entrance
Fees with the Master Trustee shall be deemed a direction from the Obligated Group Representative
to the Master Trustee to so transfer such Project Initial Entrance Fees pursuant to this provision.

(©) For so long as an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Project Initial

Entrance Fees deposited to the Entrance Fee Fund shall be applied by the Master Trustee within two (2)
Business Days of receipt in the following order of priority, as follows:
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FIRST: To the Obligated Group Representative to pay refunds required by Residency
Agreements for which the Obligated Group Representative has not received a corresponding
replacement Entrance Fee with respect to the applicable Project Independent Living Units. Such
disbursements shall be made only upon receipt by the Master Trustee of an Officer's Certificate of
the Obligated Group Representative certifying that the Obligated Group Representative is required
by a Residency Agreement to pay refunds and directing the Master Trustee to make such payment.

SECOND: If there is no pending disbursement under FIRST, to secure all outstanding
Master Obligations on a pro rata basis.

(d) Once the 2021B-2 Bonds are no longer Outstanding, as certified in writing by the Obligated
Group Representative or the Series 2021B Lender to the Master Trustee, and provided no Event of Default
has occurred and is continuing, the Members of the Obligated Group shall no longer be obligated to deposit
any Project Initial Entrance Fees into the Entrance Fee Fund. Upon delivery to the Master Trustee of an
Officer's Certificate of the Obligated Group Representative stating the satisfaction of such conditions, any
amounts on deposit in the Entrance Fee Fund not used for redemption of the 2021B-2 Bonds shall be
remitted to the Obligated Group Representative and the Entrance Fee Fund shall be closed.

For additional information see in Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS
— SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE — Entrance Fee Fund."

Revenue Fund

If an Event of Default under the Master Indenture occurs due to failure to pay any debt service on
any Master Obligations when due and continues for a period of five days, the Master Trustee shall open a
fund called the "Revenue Fund — Plantation Village Project" and each Obligated Group Member is required
to deposit or cause to be deposited with the Master Trustee for deposit into the Revenue Fund all Gross
Revenues of such Obligated Group Member and any set-off amounts from any Holder during each
succeeding month, beginning on the first day thereof and on each day thereafter, until no payment default
under the Master Indenture or in the payment of any other Master Obligations then exists.

On the fifth Business Day preceding the end of each month in which any Obligated Group Member
has made payments to the Master Trustee for deposit into the Revenue Fund or such earlier date as directed
by the Majority Holders, the Master Trustee will withdraw and pay or deposit from the amounts on deposit
in the Revenue Fund the following amounts in the order indicated:

FIRST: To the payment of all Administrative Expenses;

SECOND: To the payment of refunds owed to residents of the Community, as
demonstrated by an Officer's Certificate;

THIRD: To an operating account designated by the Obligated Group Representative
(which shall not be subject to the lien of the Master Indenture), the amount necessary to pay the
Expenses due or expected to become due in the month following the month in which such transfer
is made, all as set forth in the then-current Annual Budget and including any rebate amounts due
and to be deposited in any rebate fund established under any Related Bond Indenture; provided that
if the principal of all the Master Obligations has been declared to be due and payable immediately,
and if, as an alternative to payment under the preceding clause, in its sole discretion, the Master
Trustee determines payment under this proviso is in the best interest of the Holders of the
Outstanding Master Obligations or is directed by the Holders of not less than 25% of the principal
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amount of the Outstanding Senior Obligations to proceed under this proviso, to pay the amounts
required by paragraph FOURTH below;

FOURTH: To the payment of the amounts then due and unpaid upon the Senior Obligations
for principal, premium, if any, and interest in respect of which or for the benefit of which such
money has been collected, ratably, without preference or priority of any kind (except as may
otherwise be provided in a Supplemental Master Indenture with respect to withdrawals from the
Debt Service Reserve Fund), according to the amounts due and payable on such Master Obligations
for principal, premium, if any, and interest, respectively;

FIFTH: To restore any deficiency in a Debt Service Reserve Fund;

SIXTH: If the amounts then due and unpaid upon all Senior Obligations have been paid in
full, to the payment of the amounts then due and unpaid upon any Subordinated Derivative
Obligations, without preference or priority of any kind except as provided in the Supplemental
Master Indenture pursuant to which such Subordinated Derivative Obligations were issued;

SEVENTH: If the amounts then due and unpaid upon all Master Obligations other than
Subordinated Obligations have been paid in full, to the payment of the amounts then due and unpaid
upon any Subordinated Obligations for principal, premium, if any, and interest, without preference
or priority of any kind except as provided in the Supplemental Master Indenture pursuant to which
such Subordinated Obligations were issued; and

EIGHTH: any amounts remaining shall be deposited in the Surplus Account of the Revenue
Fund.

The moneys held in the Surplus Account (i) may be used to pay any of items FIRST through
SEVENTH above and (ii) may be released to the Obligated Group so long as (A) there are no deficiencies
in a Debt Service Reserve Fund, (B) the Obligated Group met the Debt Service Coverage Ratio covenant,
the Liquidity Requirement, the Marketing Requirements, and the Occupancy Requirements, for the most
recent Fiscal Year, to the extent that such covenants were being tested as of such Fiscal Year, and is in
compliance with all Issuer regulations regarding the Obligated Group's liquidity position, if any, and (C)
no Event of Default has then occurred and is continuing.

If the Revenue Fund is in effect and there are not sufficient funds to pay items FIRST through
FOURTH, or if the Revenue Fund is not in effect and the Obligated Group does not have sufficient
Revenues in its operating account to pay items FIRST through FOURTH, money will be withdrawn from
a Debt Service Reserve Fund, if any.

For additional information see in Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS
— MASTER INDENTURE — Revenue Fund."

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS"

The following table sets forth, for each Fiscal Year ending December 31, the amounts required to
be paid by the Obligated Group in such Fiscal Year for the payment of principal of (whether at maturity or
pursuant to mandatory redemption) and interest on the 2021 A Bonds and the 2021B Bonds. In some cases,
totals in the following table may not foot due to rounding.

Fiscal Year 2021A Bonds 2021B-1 Bonds! 2021B-2 Bonds?
Ending Total Debt
December 31, Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Service?
2021 - - - -
2022 - $14,566 - $102,075
2023 - 307,856 - 287,316
2024 - 340,859 $17,865,000 87,265
2025 - 339,928 - -
2026 $1,263,000 327,296 - -
2027 1,300,000 299,509 - -
2028 1,322,000 271,600 - -
2029 1,360,000 241,753 - -
2030 1,382,000 211,771 - -
2031 1,420,000 181,381 - -
2032 1,442,000 150,527 - -
2033 1,485,000 118,338 - -
2034 1,502,000 85,686 - -
2035 1,550,000 52,553 - -
2036 1,568,000 18,626 - -
2037 - - - -
2038 - - - -
2039 - - - -
2040 - - - -
2041 - - - -
2042 - - - -
2043 - - - -
2044 - - - -
2045 - - - -
2046 - - - -
2047 - - - -
2048 - - - -
2049 - - - -
TOTAL? $15,593,000 $2,962,247 $17,865,000 $476,656

The 2021B-1 Bonds are draw down bonds and will bear interest at a rate of 2.15% per annum. Final maturity of the 2021B-1 Bonds is
December 1, 2036.

2 The 2021B-2 Bonds are draw down bonds and will bear interest at a rate of 1.60% per annum. The 2021B-2 Bonds are Qualifying
Intermediate Term Indebtedness and, thus, the related principal and interest are not included in the Maximum Annual Debt Service
calculation. The table shows anticipated repayment of the 2021B-2 Bonds from Project Initial Entrance Fee receipts prior to the stated
maturity of the 2021B-2 Bonds.

Totals may not foot due to rounding.

* Preliminary, subject to change.
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BONDHOLDERS' RISKS
General

Payment of the 2021 A Bonds will depend primarily upon the Obligated Group's ability to generate
revenues from the Existing Facilities and the Project (collectively, the "Facilities") sufficient to provide for
payment of Obligation No. 1 while paying the operating expenses and other indebtedness of the Obligated
Group, including the Direct Purchase Obligations.

The Obligated Group's ability to generate revenues and the overall financial condition of the
Obligated Group may be adversely affected by a wide variety of future events and conditions, including
changes in demand for facilities similar to those provided by the Obligated Group affecting the Obligated
Group's ability to maintain full occupancy, fluctuations in public confidence both in the Obligated Group
and the services it provides, changes in government licensing procedures and regulations and competition.
The following are some of the factors that may affect the Obligated Group's operations and economic well-
being and its ability to pay the 2021 A Bonds.

Certain risks are inherent in the successful operation of facilities such as the Facilities. Such
risks should be considered in evaluating the Obligated Group's ability to generate sufficient revenues
from the operations of the Facilities to pay principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the 2021A
Bonds when due. This section discusses some of these risks but is not intended to be a comprehensive
listing of all risks associated with the operation of the Facilities or the payment of the 2021A Bonds.

Additions to the Obligated Group

The Corporation is currently the sole Obligated Group Member; however, the Master Indenture
provides that under certain conditions Persons that are not Obligated Group Members may, with the prior
written consent of the then current Obligated Group Members, become Obligated Group Members. See in
Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS — MASTER INDENTURE — Admission
of Obligated Group Members." Management of the Corporation currently has no plans to add additional
Obligated Group Members. However, if and when new Members are added, the Obligated Group's financial
situation and operations will likely be altered from that of the Obligated Group consisting only of the
Corporation.

Actual Results May Differ from Historical and Projected Results

Certain audited and unaudited historical financial information regarding the Corporation is set forth
in Appendices A and B. There can no assurance that the financial results achieved in the future will be
similar to historical results. Such future results will vary from historical results, and the variations may be
material. Therefore, the historical financial results cannot be taken as a representation that the Obligated
Group will be able to fulfill its obligations under the Loan Agreement and Obligation No. 1, respectively.

Management's Forecast

Management's financial forecast contained in the Feasibility Study included in Appendix C hereto
is based upon assumptions made by the management of the Corporation. As stated in such financial forecast,
there will usually be differences between the forecasted and actual results, because events and
circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and those differences may be material. In addition, the
financial forecast is only for the five years ending December 31, 2025 and consequently does not cover the
whole period during which the 2021A Bonds may be outstanding. See the Feasibility Study included herein
as Appendix C, which should be read in its entirety.
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BECAUSE THERE IS NO ASSURANCE THAT ACTUAL EVENTS WILL CORRESPOND
WITH THE ASSUMPTIONS MADE, NO GUARANTEE CAN BE MADE THAT MANAGEMENT'S
FINANCIAL FORECAST IN THE FEASIBILITY STUDY WILL CORRESPOND WITH THE
RESULTS ACTUALLY ACHIEVED IN THE FUTURE. ACTUAL OPERATING RESULTS MAY BE
AFFECTED BY MANY UNCONTROLLABLE FACTORS, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO
INCREASED COSTS, LOWER THAN ANTICIPATED REVENUES, EMPLOYEE RELATIONS,
TAXES, GOVERNMENTAL CONTROLS, CHANGES IN APPLICABLE GOVERNMENTAL
REGULATION, CHANGES IN DEMOGRAPHIC TRENDS, CHANGES IN THE RETIREMENT
LIVING AND HEALTH CARE INDUSTRIES, AND GENERAL ECONOMIC CONDITIONS.

Limited Assets of the Obligated Group

The Obligated Group's sole business is expected to consist of the ownership and operation of the
Facilities. Although it may seek donations from groups and individuals, the Obligated Group has no other
sources of funds if revenues from operation of the Facilities are not sufficient to cover its expenses,
including debt service on Obligation No. 1.

Construction Risks

Construction of the Project is subject to the usual risks associated with construction projects,
including, but not limited to, delays in issuance of required building permits or other necessary approvals
or permits, strikes, shortages of materials and adverse weather conditions. Such events could result in
delaying occupancy of the Project and thus the revenue flow therefrom. Management of the Obligated
Group anticipates that the utility permits not obtained to date will be obtained in due course. It is anticipated
that the proceeds from the sale of the 2021 Bonds, together with anticipated investment earnings thereon
and other equity of the Obligated Group will be sufficient to complete the construction and equipping of
the Project based upon the guaranteed maximum price obtained from the contractor for the Project.
However, cost overruns for projects of this magnitude may occur due to change orders and other factors. In
addition, the date of substantial completion may be extended by reason of changes authorized by the
Obligated Group, delays due to acts or neglect of the Obligated Group or by independent contractors
employed by the Obligated Group or by labor disputes, fire, unusual delay in transportation, adverse
conditions not reasonably anticipated, unavoidable casualties or any causes beyond the control of the
contractors. Cost overruns could also result in the Obligated Group not having sufficient moneys to
complete construction of the Project, thereby materially affecting the receipt of revenues needed to pay the
2021A Bonds.

For a discussion regarding the Project team, construction contract and the Project schedule see
"THE PROJECT" in Appendix A hereto.

Construction Draws

The ability of the Corporation to receive disbursements from the Construction Account of the
Construction Fund established under the Trust Agreement is subject to compliance by the Corporation with
various requirements of the Disbursement Agreement. If the conditions to receipt of disbursements in the
Disbursement Agreement are not met, construction draws may be temporarily suspended. A temporary
suspension of funding might cause delay in completion and related cost overruns. Proceeds remaining in
the Construction Fund together with other funds held under the Trust Agreement would not be sufficient to
pay the principal of the 2021A Bonds upon acceleration.
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2021B Bonds are Draw-Down Bonds
The 2021B Bonds are draw-down bonds held by the 2021B Lender.

At the closing of the issuance of 2021A Bonds, the outstanding principal amount of the 2021B
Bonds shall be equal to the initial advance of approximately $498,601". From time to time, proceeds of the
2021B Bonds shall be drawn down in accordance with the provisions of the 2021B Trust Agreement and
the Disbursement Agreement. See "PLAN OF FINANCING."

There are conditions precedent relating to making additional 2021B Advances, including
compliance with the conditions of the Disbursement Agreement and the Credit Agreement. Additional
2021B Advances will be made only after the balance of the 2021 A Bond proceeds in the Construction Fund
under the Trust Agreement reaches $5,000,000. The successful construction and development of the Project
is dependent upon timely 2021B Advances in accordance with the Corporation's expected schedule of
advances. No representation or warranty is made that such conditions will be satisfied on a timely basis or
at all. A temporary or permanent suspension of additional 2021B Advances would likely adversely affect
the construction of the Project and might result in an Event of Default on the 2021 A Bonds. Such Event of
Default may result in an investment loss for holders of the 2021 A Bonds.

Initial Entrance Fees from the Project

The Corporation is required to deposit Project Initial Entrance Fees received by it with the Master
Trustee for application in accordance with the terms of the Supplemental Indenture and the Master
Indenture. Prior to an Event of Default and while the 2021B-2 Bonds are outstanding, the Project Initial
Entrance Fees shall be used only to repay the 2021B-2 Bonds. The par amount of the 2021B-2 Bonds
represents approximately 80.2% of the initial entrance fee pool for the Project. Only after an Event of
Default under the Master Indenture can Project Initial Entrance Fees be used to redeem the 2021A Bonds
in accordance with the Master Indenture. The ability of the Corporation to receive Project Initial Entrance
Fees is subject to its ability to successfully market the Community and specifically the Project, and no
assurance can be made that the Project Initial Entrance Fees received by the Corporation will be sufficient
to fully repay the 2021B-2 Bonds.

Uncertainty of Full Occupancy and Fee Collection

Payment of Obligation No. 1 is dependent in part on the ability of the Obligated Group (a) to collect
Entrance Fees from residents occupying residential units vacated by deceased residents or by permanent
transfers from residential units to the Davis Community (see "HEALTH CARE" in Appendix A hereto) or
by residents leaving the facility for other reasons and (b) to keep the Facilities occupied by residents who
can pay both the Entrance Fees and the monthly fees.

The financial feasibility of the Facilities and payment, when due, of the 2021 A Bonds is dependent
on the continuing ability of the Obligated Group Members to maintain high levels of occupancy of the
Facilities and to (i) fill those facilities that accept residents who purchase the right to live there by paying
"entrance fees" ("Entrance Fees"), (ii) collect new Entrance Fees from residents occupying apartment units
vacated by deceased residents, residents permanently transferred to personal care or nursing care facilities
(see "THE COMMUNITY - Entrance Fees and Monthly Fees" and "— Entrance Fee Plan Types" in
Appendix A) or residents leaving such facilities for other reasons, and (iii) keep the Facilities substantially
occupied by residents who can pay the full amount of the Entrance Fees and/or monthly service fees. This
depends to some extent on factors outside the Obligated Group Members' control, such as the residents'

* Preliminary, subject to change.
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right to terminate their Residency Agreements in accordance with the terms of the Residency Agreements
and by general economic conditions. In particular, a depressed housing market may prevent prospective
residents from selling their homes and generating cash to pay Entrance Fees. If the Facilities fail to maintain
a high level of occupancy, there may be insufficient funds to pay debt service on Obligation No. 1, any
other Outstanding Master Obligations or other indebtedness. In addition, the economic feasibility of the
Facilities also depends on the Obligated Group Members' ability to remarket units becoming available when
residents die, withdraw, or are permanently transferred to a healthcare facility, skilled nursing facility or
any other facility.

Moreover, if a substantial number of independent living unit residents live beyond their anticipated
life expectancies or if admissions or transfers to the David Community or another health care facility (see
"HEALTH CARE" in Appendix A hereto) are substantially less than anticipated by the Obligor, or if market
conditions or market changes prevent an increase in the amount of the resident Entrance Fees payable by
new residents of the Facilities or the monthly fees payable by all residents, the receipt of additional resident
Entrance Fees and/or monthly fees would be curtailed or limited, with a consequent impairment of the
Obligated Group Members' revenues. Such impairment would also result if the Obligated Group Member
is unable to remarket independent living units becoming available when residents die, withdraw, or are
permanently transferred to the health care components of the Facilities.

Management anticipates increases in monthly fees when necessary to offset increasing costs due
primarily to inflation and other factors. There can be no assurance that such increases can or will be made
in the future. In addition, since many of the residents will be living on fixed incomes, there can be no
assurance that any such fee increases can be paid by residents or that such increases will not adversely
affect the utilization of the Facilities. The Corporation may allow residents who unexpectedly become
unable to pay full monthly fees to remain residents, even though the costs of caring for them could have an
adverse effect on the financial condition of the Obligated Group. As a charitable Tax-Exempt Organization,
the Corporation may be unwilling or unable to require residents unable to pay fees to leave the Facilities.
See "ADMISSIONS AND RESIDENCY AGREEMENT PROVISIONS - Financial Assistance" in
Appendix A. Additionally, the Corporation or other Members of the Obligated Group could possibly be
required to accept additional residents unable to pay all fees in the future in order to maintain its tax-exempt
status.

The current fee structure for the Facilities is described in "THE COMMUNITY — Entrance Fee and
Monthly Fees" in Appendix A. The Corporation sets such fees based on, among other things, forecasts and
actuarial tables. If the number of permanent transfers to the Davis Community (as described in "HEALTH
CARE" in Appendix A) is less than assumed, the revenues of the Corporation could be adversely affected.
If actual operating expenses are substantially different from that anticipated, the revenues of the Corporation
could be less than needed. Should methods of payment other than Entrance Fees, including straight rental,
become prevalent as the form of payment for elderly housing, the ability to charge resident entrance fees to
potential future residents may decrease. If this should happen, the Corporation may be forced to alter its
method of charging for elderly housing services and could encounter a significant cash flow problem.

The realization of future revenues and expenses are subject to, among other things, the capabilities
of management of the Obligated Group Members, government regulation and future economic (including
but not limited to availability of credit) and other conditions that are unpredictable and that may affect
revenues and payment of principal of and interest on the 2021 A Bonds. No representation or assurance can
be made that revenues will be realized by the Obligated Group in amounts sufficient to make the required
payments with respect to debt service on the 2021 A Bonds.
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Potential Refund of Entrance Fees

Under certain circumstances, the Corporation is obligated to refund all or a portion of a resident's
Entrance Fee upon the resident's departure from the Facilities based on certain conditions and the Residency
Agreement and as required by the State's statutes. The payment of such refunds could adversely affect the
Corporation's ability to make payments required by the Loan Agreement and Obligation No. 1. See
"ADMISSIONS AND RESIDENCY AGREEMENT PROVISIONS - Cancellation of Residency
Agreement and Entrance Fee Refunds" in Appendix A

Issues Related to the Market of the Obligated Group
Sale of Personal Residences

It is anticipated that a number of prospective residents of the Existing Facilities and the independent
living units which are part of the Project will need to sell their current homes in order to pay the Entrance
Fee prior to occupancy or to meet other financial obligations under their Residency Agreements. Should
prospective residents encounter difficulties in selling their current homes due to local or national economic
conditions affecting the sale of residential real estate, such prospective residents may not have sufficient
funds to pay the Entrance Fee or to meet other obligations under their Residency Agreements, thereby
causing a delay in the remarketing of vacated units, either of which could have an adverse effect on the
revenues of the Obligated Group.

Geographic Concentration

The Facilities are located in Wilmington, North Carolina. Accordingly, the occupancy rates in the
Facilities may be adversely affected by regional and local economic conditions, competitive conditions,
applicable local laws and regulations, and general real estate market conditions, including the supply and
proximity of senior living communities in such area.

Nature of Incomes of the Elderly

A large percentage of the monthly income of some residents of the Facilities is fixed income derived
from pensions and social security. If, due to inflation or otherwise, substantial increases in monthly fees are
required to cover increases in operating costs, wages, benefits and other expenses, residents may have
difficulty paying or may be unable to pay such increased monthly fees.

Financial Assistance

The Obligated Group Members may assist residents who become unable to pay fees and other
charges of the Obligated Group by reason of circumstances beyond their control. The increased cost of care
resulting from increased costs generally and financial assistance to a significant number of residents could
adversely affect the financial condition of the Obligated Group. See "ADMISSIONS AND RESIDENCY
AGREEMENT PROVISIONS - Financial Assistance" in Appendix A.

Existing Operations and Possible Increased Competition

The health care industry is highly competitive. The Obligated Group competes with a variety of
other communities. Such competition may inhibit the extent to which the Obligated Group will be able to
raise charges and maintain or increase admissions. Competing communities may offer newer or different
centers or services and may thereby attract residents who are presently or potential residents of the
Obligated Group's Facilities. The Obligated Group expects that it will face increasing levels of competition
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with respect to its operations and the services it provides. The Obligated Group also competes with other
businesses with respect to attracting and retaining high quality professional and non-professional employees
and managers. The Facilities are located in areas where other facilities exist and they may face additional
competition in the future as a result of the construction of new housing for the elderly or continuing care
facilities or assisted living, skilled nursing or memory care facilities in their primary market areas. There
may also arise in the future competition from other forms of housing for the elderly or nursing care facilities
or from home care or home health providers, some of which may be designed to offer similar services at
lower prices. See "Market Assessment" in Appendix C.

The Corporation has entered into a transfer agreement (the "Transfer Agreement") with the Davis
Community for the temporary and permanent transfer of residents to assisted living beds or skilled nursing
beds at the Davis Community. The Corporation does not itself currently provide any assisted living or
skilled nursing services for residents. In the event either party to the Transfer Agreement exercises its rights
to terminate the Transfer Agreement, such termination would not occur until three years from the time of
notice. The Corporation would have such three year period to put into place alternative arrangements for
the provision of assisted living and skilled nursing services for its residents, either through the provision of
such services directly by the Corporation or through an arrangement with an alternate facility. See
"HEALTH CARE" in Appendix A.

Affiliation, Merger, Acquisition and Divestiture

Significant numbers of affiliations, mergers, acquisitions and divestitures have occurred in the
long-term care and health care industries recently. As part of its ongoing planning process, the Obligated
Group may consider potential affiliations and acquisition of operations or properties which may become
affiliated with or become part of the Obligated Group in the future. As a result, it is possible that the
organizations and assets that currently comprise the Obligated Group may change from time to time. See
in Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS — MASTER INDENTURE -
Admission of Obligated Group Members."

Utilization Demand

Several factors could, if implemented, affect demand for services of the Facilities including: (i)
efforts by insurers and governmental agencies to reduce utilization of skilled nursing home and long-term
care facilities by such means as preventive medicine and home health care programs; (ii) advances in
scientific and medical technology; (iii) a decline in the population, a change in the age composition of the
population or a decline in the economic conditions of the service area of the Existing Facilities; and (iv)
increased or more effective competition from retirement communities and long-term care facilities now or
hereafter located in the service area of the Facilities.

Labor Relations

At the present time, none of the Obligated Group's employees are members of unions or receive
union wages and benefits. Unionization of employees or a shortage of qualified professional personnel
could cause an increase in payroll costs beyond those projected. The Obligated Group cannot control the
prevailing wage rates in its service area and any increase in such rates will directly affect the costs of its
operations.

Impact of Disruptions in the Credit Markets and General Economic Factors

The U.S. economy is unpredictable. Economic downturns and other unfavorable economic
conditions have previously impacted the health care and senior care industries and health care and senior
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care providers' business and financial condition. The Novel Coronavirus 2019 ("COVID-19") pandemic
has had an adverse impact on global financial markets and economies. Access to credit and liquidity markets
by borrowers in the health care, senior care, and other industries was, and may again be, adversely affected
and costs of borrowing and liquidity facilities initially increased. The continued spread of COVID-19 and
containment and mitigation efforts could have a material adverse effect on the operations of the members
of the Obligated Group and on the State of North Carolina, national, and global economies.

Various states, including North Carolina, and local governments have issued orders and guidance
that mandate or strongly encourage social distancing, face coverings and closed or limited non-essential
business activities in an effort to slow the spread of COVID-19. Although most of these restrictions have
been lifted in North Carolina, these actions have had, and are likely to continue to have, a material adverse
impact on economic conditions throughout much of the world, including the United States and the State of
North Carolina. The economic slowdown has resulted in reductions in consumer spending and dramatic
increases in unemployment (including in North Carolina).

The U.S. Congress has passed a series of federal stimulus packages to address the COVID-19 crisis,
including the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act"), as amended by the
Paycheck Protection Program and Health Care Enhancement Act ("Enhancement Act"). The federal
stimulus packages are designed to provide economic relief for individuals and various businesses, including
hospitals and other health care providers. CARES Act and Enhancement Act provisions that may alleviate
some of the financial strain on hospitals and other health care providers include, among others: (1) a $175
billion "Public Health and Social Services Emergency Fund" created to reimburse eligible health care
providers for "health care related expenses or lost revenues that are attributable to coronavirus" ("Provider
Relief Fund") and (2) various Medicare and Medicaid policy changes that temporarily boost Medicare and
Medicaid reimbursement or provide for additional flexibility in patient care during the COVID-19
emergency period. In March 2021, President Biden signed the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, which
provides a broad range of relief, including $1.9 trillion in total spending. The timing, adequacy and other
ultimate effects of any CARES Act, Enhancement Act, American Rescue Plan or other federal or state
stimulus relief programs on the Obligated Group, or the economy generally, cannot be predicted at this
time. The acceptance of funds from certain stimulus programs, including the Provider Relief Fund, is
conditioned on eligibility and the acceptance of terms and conditions. Failure to comply with such
requirements could result in recoupment or False Claims Act (discussed below) liability. See "— Covid-19
Pandemic or Other Infectious Disease Outbreak” below and "COVID-19 PANDEMIC" in Appendix A
hereto for a discussion of the potential impacts on the Obligated Group of the current COVID-19 pandemic.

If general economic conditions further worsen as a result of COVID-19 virus and/or other causes,
the Obligated Group may not be able to sustain future profitability, and its liquidity and ability to repay
outstanding debt, including debt service on the 2021 A Bonds, may be adversely affected. Other economic
conditions that from time to time may adversely affect Obligated Group revenues and expenses, and
consequently, its ability to make payments on Obligation No. 1, include but are not limited to: (1) an
inability to access financial markets on acceptable terms at a desired time or increased borrowing costs, (2)
significant investment portfolio losses, (3) increased business failures and consumer and business
bankruptcies, (4) a reduction in the demand for health care or senior care services, (5) an increase in lawsuits
and increased malpractice and casualty insurance expenses, (6) reduced availability or affordability of
insurance, (7) increased operating costs, (8) a reduction in the receipt of grants and charitable contributions,
(9) unfavorable demographic developments in the Obligated Group's service areas, (10) increased
competition from other senior care or health care institutions, or (11) difficulties in extending existing or
obtaining new liquidity facilities or in remarketing revenue bonds subject to tender. All or any of the
foregoing conditions could be exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic.

30



Some of the challenges caused by the disruptions in the credit markets and general economic
conditions are further highlighted below. These and other risks may adversely affect the Obligated Group
and jeopardize its ability to generate revenues, make payments under the Loan Agreement and,
consequently, make payments on the 2021 A Bonds. There can be no assurance that the financial condition
of the Obligated Group and/or the utilization of its Facilities will not be adversely affected by any of these
circumstances.

COVID-19 Pandemic or Other Infectious Disease Outbreak

The COVID-19 pandemic, or another highly infectious disease outbreak in the Facilities or in the
service areas of the Facilities, could materially adversely affect the Obligated Group's business or financial
condition. The COVID-19 pandemic or such other highly infectious disease outbreak may affect the
Obligated Group's operations and revenues in various ways, including but not limited to (1) reputational
damage, (2) a quarantine or temporary shutdown, (3) professional or non-professional staff shortages or
illness, or (4) failure to maintain occupancy or turnover due to potential residents choosing to defer or avoid
senior care. Management cannot predict the impact on revenues or any costs associated with the COVID-
19 pandemic or other highly infectious disease outbreak, but the impact of any costs or lost revenues could
be material and adverse.

Governmental and commercial entity responses to the COVID-19 pandemic and resulting
economic conditions may also directly or indirectly affect the Obligated Group's operations and revenues.
For example, domestic or foreign governmental responses or commercial business responses to the COVID-
19 pandemic or another highly infectious disease outbreak, such as shelter-in-place orders, sick-leave
mandates or remote work policies, could (1) disrupt the production or supply of pharmaceuticals and
medical supplies or increase the costs of such products, (2) result in significantly delayed payments from
third party payors which may substantially decrease the Obligated Group's liquidity, (3) increase employee
sick-leave expenses or other employee costs, or (4) otherwise materially adversely impact the Obligated
Group's business in ways that are difficult to predict at this time. The extent to which business interruption
insurance would be available in connection with any events resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic is
dependent upon the specific facts of the events, and there can be no assurance that adequate business
interruption insurance would be available to cover such losses. Management cannot predict the likelihood
or severity of any of the aforementioned events upon the Obligated Group's business or financial condition,
though such effect could be material and adverse. See "COVID-19 PANDEMIC" in Appendix A hereto for
additional information regarding the Obligated Group's response to COVID-19 and its impact on the
Obligated Group.

Management continues to monitor developments with respect to the COVID-19 pandemic and
intends to follow any applicable requirements from the Centers for Disease Control, the Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS") or other federal, state and local regulatory agencies. See also, "—
Impact of Disruptions in the Credit Markets and General Economic Factors" above for a discussion of other
potential economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Rights of Residents; State Regulation
Although under the current Residency Agreements residents have no special lien or claim against
any property of the Obligated Group, there can be no certainty that residents could not successfully claim
or otherwise restrict the use of the Obligated Group's property in a bankruptcy proceeding or other dispute.
Legislation regulating continuing care facilities in North Carolina, codified as Section 58-64-1 et

seq. of the General Statutes of North Carolina, creates specific requirements for disclosure statements and
contracts for continuing care, restricts the use of entrance fees, provides for civil liability for violations of
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the disclosure requirements and criminal penalties for willful violations of the legislation. Section 58-64-
45 of the General Statues of North Carolina grants the State Commissioner of Insurance broad discretionary
powers to supervise and, upon court order, to rehabilitate or liquidate any continuing care facility that
becomes bankrupt or insolvent or otherwise fails to satisfy certain statutory standards. In addition, in the
event of liquidation of the Corporation, under Section 58-64-60, residents' Residency Agreements are
deemed preferred claims against all assets owned by the Corporation except secured claims.

The North Carolina General Assembly periodically studies the regulation of continuing care
facilities. Although management of the Corporation is not aware of the introduction of any specific
legislative proposals, legislation affecting continuing care facilities could be enacted in the future. Such
legislation might limit the enforceability of and remedies provided under the Trust Agreement, the Loan
Agreement, the Master Indenture or the Deed of Trust, thereby affecting the security for the 2021 A Bonds.

State Delinquency Proceedings

Section 58-64-45 of the General Statutes of North Carolina, as amended, grants the North Carolina
Commissioner of Insurance broad discretionary powers to supervise and, upon court order, to rehabilitate
or liquidate any continuing care facility that becomes bankrupt or insolvent or otherwise fails to satisfy
certain statutory standards. In the event that the North Carolina Commissioner of Insurance commences a
delinquency proceeding against the Obligated Group Members pursuant to the provisions of Section 58-
30-1 et seq. of the General Statutes of North Carolina, as amended, the North Carolina Commissioner of
Insurance may be authorized by court order to take possession and control of all or a part of the property of
the Obligated Group, including, without limitation, the Mortgaged Property, and the Master Trustee may
be delayed, limited or precluded in the enforcement of remedies otherwise available to the Master Trustee
under the terms of the Master Indenture and the Deed of Trust.

Tax Consequences to Residents

Section 7872 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") provides that, in each
year of a "below market loan," the lender will be treated as receiving taxable interest income calculated at
the "applicable federal rate" in each year of the loan, even if the obligation to pay the loan does not provide
for payment of any interest. The payment to the Obligated Group of the Entrance Fee, which must be
refunded to such resident in certain circumstances in diminishing amounts for a period of time (see
"ADMISSIONS AND RESIDENCY AGREEMENT PROVISIONS - Cancellation of Residency
Agreement and Entrance Fee Refunds" in Appendix A), may be deemed to be a below market loan. If,
however, the Obligated Group and the residents satisfy the conditions of Section 7872(h) of the Code
dealing with certain payments to a "qualified continuing care facility" pursuant to a "continuing care
contract,” an Entrance Fee will not be treated as a "below market loan." No Treasury Regulations
interpreting Section 7872(h) or the committee reports have been issued.

If a resident's payment of an Entrance Fee does not satisfy the conditions of Section 7872(h), then
the prospect of a resident having to pay taxes on amounts not actually received will increase the resident's
costs and may increase the time necessary to fill vacancies in the Existing Facilities. This, in turn, could
adversely affect revenues of the Obligated Group. Section 7872 of the Code could have an adverse effect
on the Obligated Group's ability to maintain current reservations or to market additional units of the
Facilities.

Organized Resident Activity

The Obligated Group may, from time to time, be subject to pressure from organized groups of
residents seeking, among other things, to raise the level of services or to maintain the level of monthly fees
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with respect to the Facilities or other charges without increase. Moreover, the Obligated Group may be
subject to conflicting pressures from different groups of residents, some of whom may seek an increase in
the level of services while others wish to hold down monthly fees and other charges. No assurance can be
given that the Obligated Group will be able satisfactorily to meet the needs of such resident groups.

State of North Carolina Tax Reform

The North Carolina General Assembly has in the past five years implemented various changes to
the State's income and sales tax laws. Currently, charitable nonprofit entities such as the Corporation receive
refunds for State and local sales taxes paid by such nonprofit entities; provided, however, that such refunds
are limited to $31,700,000 for State sales taxes and $13,300,000 for local sales taxes per year. Although
not adopted, several proposals have been introduced in the North Carolina General Assembly to decrease
these sales tax refund limits. The Corporation can make no assurance that such refunds will not be decreased
in the future. During the calendar year 2020, the Corporation received $90,842 in such tax refunds.

In addition, other proposals, although not adopted, would have limited the amount of charitable
contributions individuals could deduct for North Carolina state income tax purposes, which could have led
to the Corporation receiving fewer charitable contributions. Also, a bill has been introduced to the North
Carolina Senate which would limit sales tax refunds on purchases of food items by continuing care
retirement communities; more specifically, as currently drafted, the bill would still allow tax refunds on
food purchases by continuing care retirement communities used to feed nursing and assisted living
residents, but would prohibit sales tax refunds for food provided to independent living residents. While the
current bill would not result in a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Obligated Group,
there is no assurance such bill will pass in its current form. These and other tax reforms in the future may
adversely affect the financial condition of the Obligated Group.

Federal Tax Matters
Change in Law

Future legislation (including changes in the individual and corporate tax rates), if enacted into law,
or clarification of the Code, or court decisions, may cause interest on the 2021 A Bonds to be subject,
directly or indirectly, to federal income taxation or to be subject to state income taxation, or otherwise
prevent beneficial owners from realizing the full current benefit of the tax status of such interest. Purchasers
should consult their own tax advisers regarding any pending or proposed federal or state tax legislation,
regulations or litigation, as to which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion.

Possible Changes in Corporation's Tax Status

The possible modification or repeal of certain existing federal income or state tax laws or other loss
by the Obligated Group of the present advantages of certain provisions of the federal income or state tax
laws could materially and adversely affect the status of the Obligated Group and thereby the revenues of
the Obligated Group. The Corporation has obtained a determination letter from the Internal Revenue
Service ("IRS") to the effect that it is exempt from federal income taxation under Section 501(a) of the
Code by virtue of being an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code based on the
representations it made to the IRS. In order to maintain such status, the Corporation is subject to a number
of requirements affecting its operations in a manner consistent with representations previously made to the
IRS and with current and future IRS regulations and rulings governing tax-exempt continuing care
retirement facilities. The failure of the Corporation to remain a qualified tax exempt organization would
affect the funds available to make payments under the Loan Agreement. Loss of tax-exempt status would
likely have a significant adverse effect on the Obligated Group and its operations and could result in the
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includability of interest on the 2021A Bonds in gross income for federal income tax purposes for owners
of the 2021 A Bonds retroactively to their date of issue.

It is not possible to predict the scope or effect of future legislative or regulatory actions with respect
to taxation of charitable organizations. There can be, however, no assurance that future changes in the laws
and regulations of federal, state or local governments will not materially and adversely affect the operations
and revenues of the Obligated Group by requiring it to pay income taxes.

Intermediate Sanctions

Section 4958 of the Code provides the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") with an "intermediate"
tax enforcement tool to combat violations by tax-exempt organizations of the private inurement prohibition
of the Code. Prior to the "intermediate sanctions law," the IRS could punish such violations only through
revocation of an entity's tax-exempt status. Intermediate sanctions may be imposed where there is an
"excess benefit transaction," defined to include a disqualified person (i.e., a director, officer or other related
party) (1) engaging in a non-fair market value transaction with the tax-exempt organization; (2) receiving
excessive compensation from the tax-exempt organization; or (3) receiving payment in an arrangement that
violates the private inurement proscription. A disqualified person who benefits from an excess benefit
transaction will be subject to a "first tier" penalty excise tax equal to 25% of the amount of the excess
benefit. Organizational managers who participate in an excess benefit transaction knowing it to be improper
are subject to a first-tier penalty excise tax of 10% of the amount of the excess benefit, subject to a maximum
penalty of $10,000. A "second tier" penalty excise tax of 200% of the amount of the excess benefit may be
imposed on the disqualified person (but not the organizational manager) if the excess benefit transaction is
not corrected in a specified time period.

Bond Audit

IRS officials have stated that more resources will be allocated to audits of tax-exempt bonds in the
charitable organization sector. The 2021A Bonds may be subject to audit, from time to time, by the IRS.
The Corporation believes that the 2021 A Bonds properly comply with applicable tax laws and regulations.
In addition, Bond Counsel will render an opinion with respect to the tax-exempt status of the 2021 A Bonds,
as described under the heading "TAX TREATMENT." No ruling with respect to the tax-exempt status of
the 2021A Bonds has been or will be sought from the IRS, however, and opinions of counsel are not binding
on the IRS or the courts and are not guarantees. There can be no assurance, therefore, that an audit of the
2021A Bonds will not adversely affect the tax-exempt status of the 2021 A Bonds.

Other Tax Status Issues

The IRS has also issued Revenue Rulings dealing specifically with the manner in which a facility
providing residential services to the elderly must operate in order to maintain its exemption under Section
501(c)(3). Revenue Rulings 61-72 and 72-124 hold that, if otherwise qualified, a facility providing
residential services to the elderly is exempt under Section 501(c)(3) if the organization (1) is dedicated to
providing, and in fact provides or otherwise makes available services for, care and housing to aged
individuals who otherwise would be unable to provide for themselves without hardship, (2) to the extent of
its financial ability, renders services to all or a reasonable proportion of its residents substantially below
actual cost, and (3) renders services that minister to the needs of the elderly and relieve hardship or distress.
Revenue Ruling 79-18 holds that a facility providing residential services to the elderly may admit only
those tenants who are able to pay full rental charges, provided that those charges are set at a level that is
within the financial reach of a significant segment of the community's elderly persons, and that the
organization is committed by established policy to maintaining persons as residents, even if they become
unable to pay the monthly charges after being admitted to the facility.
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Other Legislation

In recent years the IRS and members of Congress have expressed concern about the need for more
restrictive rules governing the tax-exempt status of 501(c)(3) organizations generally and of retirement and
other senior living communities in particular. Legislation has been previously introduced restricting the
ability of such organizations to utilize tax-exempt bonds unless they maintain a required percentage of low
to moderate income residents. Although the Corporation has covenanted in the Loan Agreement to take all
appropriate measures to maintain its tax-exempt status, compliance with current and future regulations and
rulings of the IRS could adversely affect the ability of the Obligated Group to charge and collect revenues
at the level required by the Master Indenture, finance or refinance indebtedness on a tax-exempt basis or
otherwise generate revenues necessary to provide for payment of the 2021 A Bonds.

Environmental Risks

On November 1, 2021, the Corporation obtained a Phase I environmental assessment with respect
to the Mortgaged Property. The Phase I environmental assessment revealed no evidence of current
recognized environmental conditions and the engineering consultant did not recommend any additional
investigation at the time of the Phase I environmental assessment.

If any of the Mortgaged Property is determined at any time to be environmentally contaminated,
the federal or State governments may require a clean-up of such Mortgaged Property and, as owner thereof,
the Corporation could be required to pay all or a part of such clean-up costs. If the Corporation were unable
to continue operations because of contamination on the Mortgaged Property or at the Facilities, the value
of the Mortgaged Property at foreclosure may be reduced by the estimated cost of any required clean-up.

The Corporation is not aware of any enforcement actions currently in process with respect to any
releases of pollutants or contaminants at the Mortgaged Property.

Certificate of Need

The Corporation currently does not provide assisted living beds or skilled nursing beds at its
Facilities. See "HEALTH CARE" in Appendix A. In the event the Corporation decides to pursue the
construction of facilities for the purpose of providing assisted living beds or skilled nursing beds, the
Corporation would need to obtain a certificate of need ("CON").

Under the North Carolina Certificate of Need Law (the "CON Law"), the Obligated Group cannot,
without obtaining a CON or an exemption from the requirement to so obtain a CON, among other things,
make capital expenditures relating to health care exceeding $2,000,000, increase the number of, or relocate,
health care beds, including assisted living beds, effect a change of more than 15% of approved capital
expenditures during development or within a year of completion of a project for which a CON has already
been issued, change its nursing care or assisted living bed capacity or materially deviate from the proposed
scope of an approved project or violate conditions imposed in the CON for such a project. The Corporation
is are contractually obligated to provide health care to its residents. To the extent the Transfer Agreement
is terminated, the Corporation may need nursing care or assisted living beds, the ability to obtain such beds
may be restricted by the CON law. See "HEALTH CARE" in Appendix A. Any failure to obtain a CON
for needed beds would require the Corporation to continue contracting with outside providers for the
required services.

Recently, some states have amended their CON laws to reduce or remove the restrictions imposed

with respect to undertaking covered activities or expenditures related to health care facilities. In each of
these states, there were substantial increases in the number of health care facilities providing services in
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major urban areas. There have been increasing efforts in the North Carolina General Assembly to amend
the CON Law in a similar manner.

In addition, the CON Law may be amended in the future to increase or decrease the regulatory
restrictions and resulting costs.

Fair Housing and Anti-Discrimination Laws

There are a number of federal and state laws governing discrimination on the basis of age, disability,
familial status, religion, race, and national origin, including the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, the
Americans with Disabilities Act, the Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1989, and the Fair Housing Act of
1968. There are no assurances that the Members of the Obligated Group will not be subject to regulatory
action to enforce these laws with respect to residents and the Facilities or legal action by residents to enforce
their rights under these laws.

Licensure

The Corporation and its facilities, including the Project, are subject to various State and local
licensing laws and regulations. The Corporation has all licenses needed to operate its Existing Facilities
and anticipates receipt of all licenses to construct and operate the Project. Although the Corporation
anticipates receipt of such licenses, there can be no assurance that the licenses will be granted. Additionally,
the licensing laws and regulations may be changed in the future in ways that are adverse to the Corporation.

Insurance; Professional Liability Claims and Losses

The Master Indenture requires the Obligated Group to carry certain insurance. See Appendix D
"FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS - MASTER INDENTURE - Insurance." The
Obligated Group maintains insurance policies with insurance companies for workers compensation,
property and casualty coverage, flood insurance for applicable properties, general and professional liability,
directors and officers coverage including employment practices, business interruption coverage and boiler
and machinery coverage, among others. The Obligated Group maintains certain self-insurance reserves
which it considers appropriate and which are in accordance with the requirements under the Master
Indenture.

While the Obligated Group believes that it maintains adequate insurance coverage and reserves,
there can be no assurance that future claims will not exceed insurance limits and available reserves. If such
situation arose, it could adversely affect the financial condition of the Obligated Group.

Litigation may also arise from the corporate and business activities of the Obligated Group,
including from its status as an employer. Many of these risks would be covered by insurance, but some
might not be. For example, antitrust claims, claims arising from wrongful termination, business disputes
and workers' compensation may not be covered by insurance or other sources and may, in whole or in part,
be a liability of the Obligated Group if determined or settled adversely. The Obligated Group covenants to
maintain professional liability insurance in the amount required under the Master Indenture. It is not
possible at this time to determine either the extent to which such insurance coverage will continue to be
available to the Obligated Group or the premiums at which such coverage can be obtained.

Transfers Out of the Obligated Group; Limitation on Liens

Under the terms of the Master Indenture, the Obligated Group, subject to certain restrictions, may
transfer assets to organizations outside the Obligated Group. See Appendix D — "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL
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LEGAL DOCUMENTS — MASTER INDENTURE — Permitted Transfers or Dispositions of Property" and
"— Permitted Liens" hereto for a description of the provisions under which the Obligated Group may transfer
cash and other liquid assets and dispose of the Mortgaged Property and other assets.

Limited Value at Foreclosure

The Existing Facilities have been, and the Project will be, specifically constructed for continuing
care purposes and may not be practically suited for alternative uses. The number of entities that could be
expected to purchase the Facilities at a foreclosure sale is limited, and thus the ability of the Master Trustee
to realize funds from the sale of the Facilities, except as a continuing care facility, upon an event of default
may be limited. Under State law, licenses to operate continuing care facilities are not transferable.
Accordingly, an entity purchasing the Facilities at a foreclosure sale would need to obtain its own license
to operate the Facilities as a continuing care facility. The Mortgaged Property is subject to various utility
and other easements and certain other use restrictions which may affect its value at foreclosure.

It cannot presently be determined with certainty what the value of the Facilities would be in the
event of foreclosure under the Deed of Trust. Further, the value of the Facilities at any given time will be
directly affected by market and financial conditions which are not in the control of the parties involved in
the 2021 A Bonds transaction. Real property values can fluctuate substantially depending on a variety of
factors. There is nothing associated with the Facilities to suggest that its value would remain stable or would
not decrease if the general values of property in its local area were to decline.

Appraisal Matters

In connection with the issuance of the 2021B Bonds, the 2021B Lender obtained an appraisal. The
appraisal determined that as of October 21, 2021, subject to certain assumptions and limiting conditions,
the market value of the Community upon completion of the Project is valued to be $130,200,000 and upon
prospective stabilization is valued to be $111,000,000. The intended use of the appraisal is for loan
underwriting, and the intended user of the appraisal is solely the 2021B Lender and its participants. Holders
of the 2021 A Bonds are not entitled to rely on such appraisal. There can be no assurances that in a default
scenario that such amount would be realized by the Master Trustee by exercising its right to foreclose.

Additional Indebtedness

The Master Indenture permits any Obligated Group Member to incur Additional Indebtedness,
which may be equally and ratably secured with Obligation No. 1. Any such additional parity indebtedness
would be entitled to share ratably with the Holders of Obligation No. 1, as set forth in the Master Indenture,
in any money realized from the exercise of remedies in the event of a default under the Master Indenture.
The issuance of additional parity indebtedness could impair the ability of the Obligated Group to maintain
its compliance with certain covenants described in the proposed form of Master Indenture in Appendix D
hereto. There is no assurance that, despite compliance with the conditions upon which Additional
Indebtedness may be incurred at the time such debt is created, the ability of the Obligated Group to make
the necessary payments to repay Obligation No. 1 may not be materially adversely affected upon the
incurrence of Additional Indebtedness. See Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL
DOCUMENTS."

Privately Held Bonds

Certain privately held indebtedness may expose the Obligated Group to "bank renewal risk" to the
extent such indebtedness is not held to maturity or is subject to an optional or mandatory put. The Obligated

37



Group may issue variable rate indebtedness in the future which could expose the Obligated Group to
"interest rate risk." These risks are more particularly described below:

e "bank renewal risk" — the risk that ownership of privately held bonds, not held to maturity or
which is subject to an optional or mandatory put, will not be able to be renewed or replaced on
reasonable terms; and

e interest rate risk" — the risk that the interest rate on variable rate indebtedness will increase.
The interest rate on variable rate indebtedness is subject to market rate fluctuation and the
maximum interest rate may or may not be capped. In addition, if federal corporate tax rates
decline, the interest rates on variable rate indebtedness could increase.

To manage bank renewal risk, the Obligated Group will seek to extend the holding periods as far
in advance as is reasonable. There is no assurance that the Obligated Group will be able to extend the
holding period or obtain bank facilities for such indebtedness on reasonable terms in the future.

The 2021B Bonds will be held by the 2021B Lender until maturity. The 2021B-1 Bonds have a
final maturity date of December 1, 2036. The 2021B-2 Bonds have a final maturity date of December 1,
2028 assuming certain conditions are met by the Corporation, but no earlier than December 1, 2026 in any
event. Both the 2021B-1 Bonds and the 2021B-2 Bonds will bear interest at a fixed rate. Although the
2021B Bonds will not expose the Corporation to bank renewal risk or interest rate risk, as described in
"SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT - Covenants; Additional Indebtedness," the Corporation
may incur additional indebtedness in the future subject to the provisions of the Master Indenture. Such
additional indebtedness may be publicly offered or privately held. In addition, such indebtedness may bear
interest at a fixed rate or at a variable rate.

Enforcement of Remedies; Additional Covenants

The 2021B Lender is expected to be the Holder of approximately 50.7% of the outstanding
principal amount of all Master Obligations Outstanding under the Master Indenture (after the issuance of
the 2021B Bonds and assuming the full amount of the 2021B Bonds are drawn). Under the Master
Indenture, upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default, the Holders of not less
than 25% in principal amount of the Outstanding Senior Obligations or any Person properly exercising the
right given to such Person under any Supplemental Master Indenture to require acceleration of a Master
Obligation held by such Person that was issued pursuant to such Supplemental Master Indenture, may direct
the Master Trustee to declare the principal of all of the Master Obligations to be due and payable
immediately.

The financing documents related to the 2021B Bonds contain certain covenants of the Obligated
Group that either are not contained in the Master Indenture and the Loan Agreement or that are similar but
vary in some respects from the covenants contained in the Master Indenture and the Loan Agreement. The
risks of having covenants that differ from those in the Master Indenture and the Loan Agreement is that the
Obligated Group could be in default with respect to the 2021B Bonds but not the 2021A Bonds. A default
under the Credit Agreement could result in a default under the Master Indenture.

The Master Trustee will be required to accelerate Obligation No. 1 if it accelerates the Obligation
No. 2 and/or Obligation No. 3.

* Preliminary, subject to change.
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Initial Entrance Fees for Independent Living Units of the Project

The Project Initial Entrance Fees for the independent living units being built as part of the Project
will be deposited monthly by the Corporation into the Entrance Fee Fund held by the Master Trustee and
then applied to pay down the principal amount of the 2021B-2 Bonds. Until applied to the payment of the
2021B-2 Bonds, such Entrance Fees will remain Gross Revenues and will be available for all Obligations
if there is an Event of Default and an acceleration of the Master Obligations. See Appendix D "FORMS OF
PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS — THE SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE — Entrance Fee Fund."

Risk of Early Redemption

Purchasers of the 2021 A Bonds, including those who purchase 2021A Bonds at a price in excess
of their principal amount or who hold such bonds trading at a price in excess of par, should consider the
fact that the 2021 A Bonds are subject to optional and mandatory redemption at a redemption price equal to
their principal amount plus accrued interest upon the occurrence of certain events. This could occur, for
example, in the event that the 2021A Bonds are prepaid as a result of a casualty or condemnation award
affecting the Facilities or there is a default under the Deed of Trust. See "THE 2021 A BONDS — Optional
Redemption" and "— Extraordinary Optional Redemption." Under such circumstances, a purchaser of the
2021A Bonds whose bonds are called for early redemption may not have the opportunity to hold such bonds
for a time period consistent with such purchaser's original investment intentions and may lose any premium
paid for the 2021A Bonds.

Risk of Loss Upon Redemption

The rights of Beneficial Owners to receive interest on the 2021 A Bonds will terminate on the date,
if any, on which such 2021A Bonds are to be redeemed pursuant to a call for redemption, notice of which
has been given under the terms of the Trust Agreement, and interest on such 2021A Bonds will no longer
accrue on and after such date of redemption. There can be no assurance that the Corporation will be able or
will be obligated to pay for any amounts not available under the Trust Agreement. In addition, there can be
no guarantee that present provisions of the Code or the rules and regulations thereunder will not be
adversely amended or modified, thereby rendering the interest earned on the 2021A Bonds taxable for
federal income tax purposes. Interest earned on the principal amount of the 2021 A Bonds may or may not
be subject to state or local income taxes under applicable state or local tax laws. Each prospective purchaser
of Beneficial Ownership Interests in the 2021 A Bonds should consult his or her own tax advisor regarding
the taxable status of the 2021 A Bonds in a particular state or local jurisdiction.

Bankruptcy

Title 11 of the United States Code (the "Bankruptcy Code") permits a bankruptcy court to modify
the rights of a creditor holding a secured claim under certain circumstances. In the event of a bankruptcy
proceeding involving any Obligated Group Member, by virtue of the Master Indenture, the Master Trustee
should be treated under the Bankruptcy Code as one holding a secured claim to the extent provided in the
Master Indenture; and by virtue of the Deed of Trust, the Master Trustee should be similarly treated to the
extent provided in the Deed of Trust (as suggested by the legislative history of the Bankruptcy Code,
although there is no direct authority on the point). The potential effects of bankruptcy of any Obligated
Group Member could be, among other things, (1) to delay enforcement of remedies otherwise available to
the Master Trustee and allow the bankruptcy court, under certain circumstances, to substitute other assets
of any Obligated Group Member for collateral under the Master Indenture or the Deed of Trust, (2) to sell
all or part of the collateral under the Master Indenture or the Deed of Trust without application of the
proceeds to the payment of the Master Obligations, including Obligation No. 1, (3) to subordinate the rights
and liens created by the Master Indenture and the Deed of Trust to liens securing borrowing approved by
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the bankruptcy court, (4) to permit any Obligated Group Member to cure defaults and reinstate the Master
Indenture and the Deed of Trust, (5) to compel release of the Deed of Trust or termination of the Master
Indenture by payment of an amount determined by the bankruptcy court to be the value of the collateral
thereunder (even though less than the total of the Master Obligations thereunder) or (6) to modify the terms
of or payments due under the Master Obligations, including Obligation No. 1. For additional detail,
reference is made to the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. 101 ef seq.

No Debt Service Reserve Fund

There is no specifically identified debt service reserve fund supporting payment of the 2021A
Bonds and the purchasers of the 2021 A Bonds should look to the Trust Estate and the Deed of Trust for
payment.

The Obligated Group may establish debt service reserve funds under the Master Indenture in the
future to secure additional Master Obligations issued under the Master Indenture, and such amounts will
not serve as security for Obligation No. 1 or the 2021A Bonds.

Limitations on Security Interest in Gross Revenues and Other Personal Property Collateral

The security interest in the Personal Property Collateral and the proceeds thereof will be perfected
to the extent, and only to the extent, that such security interest may be perfected by filing financing
statements under the Uniform Commercial Code of the State (the "UCC"). Continuation statements with
respect to such filings must be filed periodically as required by law to continue the perfection of such
security interest. To the extent that the security interest in certain Personal Property Collateral cannot be
perfected by filing a financing statement, the security interest in such Personal Property Collateral may not
be enforceable against third parties unless such Personal Property Collateral is transferred to the Master
Trustee (which is required only upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under the Master Indenture). In
such event, the Master Trustee may not be able to compel certain third-party payors to make payment
directly to the Master Trustee. The enforcement of the security interest in Personal Property Collateral may
further be limited by the following: (a) statutory liens, (b) rights arising in favor of the United States of
America or any agency thereof, (¢) current or future prohibitions against assignment contained in any
federal or State statutes or regulations, (d) constructive trusts, equitable liens or other rights impressed or
conferred by any state or federal court in the exercise of its equitable jurisdiction and (e) federal bankruptcy
laws, rights of the North Carolina Commissioner of Insurance to supervise, rehabilitate or liquidate certain
continuing care facilities pursuant to the provisions of §58-64-45 of the General Statues of North Carolina,
State of North Carolina receivership or fraudulent conveyance laws or similar laws affecting creditors'
rights that may affect the enforceability of the Master Indenture or the security interest in the Personal
Property Collateral.

Pursuant to the Master Indenture, each Obligated Group Members that pledges its Gross Revenues
under the Master Indenture covenants and agrees that, if an Event of Default involving a failure to pay any
installment of interest or principal on a Master Obligation should occur and be continuing, it will deposit
its Gross Revenues with the Master Trustee (except to the extent otherwise provided by or inconsistent with
any instrument creating any Permitted Lien) during each succeeding month, beginning on the first day
thereof and on each day thereafter until no such default exists.

It is unclear whether the covenant to deposit the proceeds of Gross Revenues with the Master
Trustee is enforceable. In light of the foregoing and of questions as to limitations on the effectiveness of
the security interest granted in such Gross Revenues, as described above, no opinion will be expressed by
counsel to the Obligor as to enforceability of such covenant with respect to the required deposits.
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Enforcement of Remedies

The remedies specified in the Loan Agreement, the Trust Agreement, the Master Indenture and the
Deed of Trust may, in many respects, require judicial action of a nature that is often subject to discretion
and delay. Under existing law, the remedies specified in the Loan Agreement, the Trust Agreement, the
Master Indenture and the Deed of Trust may not be readily available or may be limited. A court may decide
not to order the specific performance of the covenants contained in those documents. The various legal
opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the 2021 A Bonds will be qualified as to the
enforceability of the various legal instruments by limitations imposed by State and federal laws, rulings and
decisions affecting remedies and by bankruptcy, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization and other laws
affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and by general equitable principles.

Upon an acceleration of the Master Obligations issued under the Master Indenture, after paying the
expenses and other amounts due the Master Trustee, amounts available to pay the Master Obligations will
be prorated among all Holders of Master Obligations without preference or priority of principal or premium
over interest or of interest over principal or premium, or of any Master Obligation over any other Master
Obligation. Upon the issuance of the 2021 A Bonds, the principal amount of Obligation No. 1 will be
approximately 49.3%" and Obligation No. 2 will be approximately 50.7%", of the aggregate principal
amount of all Master Obligations Outstanding under the Master Indenture. The Master Indenture permits
the issuance of Additional Master Obligations under the circumstances specified therein, so the proportion
of the principal amount of Obligation No. 1 to the principal amount of all Master Obligations at any time
Outstanding under the Master Indenture is subject to change.

The obligations of the Corporation and any future Obligated Group Member with respect to
Obligation No. 1 will be limited to the same extent as the obligations of debtors are typically affected by
bankruptcy, insolvency and the application of general principles of creditors' rights and as additionally
described below.

The accounts of the Corporation and any future Obligated Group Member will be combined for
financial reporting purposes and will be used in determining whether various covenants and tests contained
in the Master Indenture (including tests relating to the incurrence of Additional Indebtedness) are met,
notwithstanding the uncertainties as to the enforceability of certain obligations of the Obligated Group
contained in the Master Indenture which bear on the availability of the assets and revenues of the Obligated
Group to pay debt service on Master Obligations, including Obligation No. 1, pledged under the related
bond indenture as security for the related series of bonds. The obligations described herein of the Obligated
Group to make payments of debt service on Master Obligations issued under the Master Indenture
(including transfers in connection with voluntary dissolution or liquidation) may not be enforceable to the
extent (1) enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, moratorium, reorganization or similar
laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights and by general equitable principles and (2) such payments
(1) are requested with respect to payments on any Master Obligations issued by an Obligated Group Member
other than the Obligated Group Member from which such payment is requested, issued for a purpose which
is not consistent with the charitable purposes of the Obligated Group Member from which such payment is
requested or issued for the benefit of a Obligated Group Member which is not a Tax-Exempt Organization;
(i1) are requested to be made from any moneys or assets which are donor-restricted or which are subject to
a direct or express trust which does not permit the use of such moneys or assets for such a payment; (iii)
would result in the cessation or discontinuation of any material portion of the health care or related services
previously provided by the Obligated Group Member from which such payment is requested; or (iv) are
requested to be made pursuant to any loan violating applicable usury laws. The extent to which the assets
of any future Obligated Group Member may fall within the categories (ii) and (iii) above for the Master

* Preliminary, subject to change.
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Obligations cannot now be determined. The amount of such assets which could fall within such categories
could be substantial.

If there are additional Members in the future, an Obligated Group Member may not be required to
make any payment on any Master Obligation, or portion thereof, the proceeds of which were not loaned or
otherwise disbursed to such Obligated Group Member to the extent that such payment would render such
Obligated Group Member insolvent or which would conflict with or not be permitted by or which is subject
to recovery for the benefit of other creditors of such Obligated Group Member under applicable laws. There
is no clear precedent in the law as to whether such payments from an Obligated Group Member in order to
pay debt service on Obligation No. 1 may be voided by a trustee in bankruptcy in the event of bankruptcy
of an Obligated Group Member, or by third-party creditors in an action brought pursuant to the State's
fraudulent conveyance statutes. Under the United States Bankruptcy Code, a trustee in bankruptcy and,
under the State's fraudulent conveyance statutes and common law, a creditor of a related guarantor, may
avoid any obligation incurred by a related guarantor if, among other bases therefor, (1) the guarantor has
not received fair consideration or reasonably equivalent value in exchange for the guaranty and (2) the
guaranty renders the guarantor insolvent, as defined in the United States Bankruptcy Code or the State's
fraudulent conveyance statutes, or the guarantor is undercapitalized.

Application by courts of the tests of "insolvency," "reasonably equivalent value" and "fair
consideration" has resulted in a conflicting body of case law. It is possible that, in an action to force an
Obligated Group Member to pay debt service on a Master Obligation for which it was not the direct
beneficiary, a court might not enforce such a payment in the event it is determined that such Obligated
Group Member is analogous to a guarantor of the debt of the Obligated Group who directly benefited from
the borrowing and that sufficient consideration for such Obligated Group Member's guaranty was not
received and that the incurrence of such Master Obligation has rendered or will render the such Obligated
Group Member insolvent.

Amendments to Financing Documents

Certain amendments to the Master Indenture, the Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement may
be made without notice to or the consent of all of the Holders of, with respect to the Master Indenture, the
Master Obligations or, with respect to the Trust Agreement and Loan Agreement, the 2021A Bonds, and
other amendments may be made with the consent of the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount
of all outstanding Master Obligations or the 2021 A Bonds, as applicable. Such amendments could affect
the security for the Master Obligations or the 2021A Bonds, as applicable.

For a description of the manner in which the Trust Agreement or the Master Indenture can be
amended see "SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT — Amendment to Trust Agreement" and "—
Amendment to Master Indenture" and Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS —
MASTER INDENTURE — Supplements and Amendments," "— TRUST AGREEMENT — Supplemental
Trust Agreements" and "- LOAN AGREEMENT — Amendment of Agreement."

In addition, the Master Indenture specifically permits that, in connection with the initial offering
and sale of any Related Bonds, the underwriters (or their representative) of such Related Bonds will be
deemed to be the initial Holders thereof or, if such Related Bonds so provide, may be appointed as attorney-
in-fact by the initial purchasers of such Related Bonds for the purpose of consenting to any request,
direction, consent or other instrument to be signed and executed by the Holders. In connection with any
future changes implemented with the issuance of future Related Bonds, Holders of the 2021 A Bonds being
issued hereby, as Holders of Obligation No. 1, may not get notice or a chance to vote with respect to any
such changes. See in Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS — MASTER
INDENTURE — Acts of Holders of Master Obligations."
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Failure to Provide Ongoing Disclosure

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the Corporation will undertake certain continuing disclosure
obligations pursuant to Rule 15¢2-12 in connection with the issuance of the 2021 A Bonds. Failure to
comply with this continuing disclosure undertaking and additional disclosure obligations in the future may
adversely affect the liquidity of the affected 2021 A Bonds and their market price in the secondary market.
See "CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE" herein.

Secondary Market for Bonds

It is the present practice of the Underwriter to make a secondary market in the bond issues it offers.
Occasionally, because of general market conditions or because of adverse history or economic prospects
connected with a particular bond issue, these secondary marketing practices in connection with a particular
bond issue are suspended or terminated. In addition, prices of issues for which a market is being made will
depend upon then-prevailing circumstances. Such prices could be substantially lower than the original
purchase price. While there can be no guarantee or assurance that the Underwriter will always continue its
present secondary marketing practices, the Underwriter presently intends to make a secondary market in
the 2021A Bonds, subject to the foregoing limitations. Nevertheless, there can be no guarantee that there
will be a secondary market for the 2021 A Bonds or, if a secondary market exists, that the 2021 A Bonds can
be sold for any particular price. Any prospective purchaser of the 2021A Bonds should therefore undertake
an independent investigation through its own advisors regarding the desirability and practicality of the
investment in the 2021A Bonds. Any prospective purchaser should be fully aware of the long-term nature
of an investment in the 2021 A Bonds and should assume that it will have to bear the economic risk of its
investment indefinitely. Any prospective purchaser of the 2021 A Bonds that does not intend or that is not
able to hold the 2021 A Bonds for a substantial period of time is advised against investing in the 2021A
Bonds.

Cybersecurity

Like many organizations, the Corporation is highly dependent on digital technologies. These
systems necessarily hold large quantities of highly sensitive protected health information that is highly
valued on the black market for such information. As a result, the electronic systems and networks of
healthcare organizations, including the Corporation as described in the following paragraph, have been
targeted and are considered likely future targets for cyber-attacks and other potential breaches of their
systems. In addition to regulatory fines and penalties, the healthcare entities subject to the breaches may be
liable for the costs of remediating the breaches, damages to individuals whose information has been
breached, reputational damage and business loss, and damage to the information technology infrastructure.
A cybersecurity breach could have a materially adverse impact on the Obligated Group.

Increased Risk of Natural Disasters

The Community is located in Wilmington, North Carolina on the coast near the Atlantic Ocean.
Although the Project is not located in a flood plain, the Wilmington area in general faces an increased risk
of natural disasters such as hurricanes and flooding because it is a low-lying area in close proximity to the
ocean. See "OTHER — Hurricane Preparedness" in Appendix A. Additionally, the risk of such natural
disasters may be increasing due to global climate changes. The occurrence of such natural disasters may
damage the Corporation's facilities and the generation of revenues to the Corporation.
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Other Possible Risk Factors

The occurrence of any of the following events, or other unanticipated events, could adversely affect
the operations of the Obligated Group:

) Reinstatement or establishment of mandatory governmental wage, rent or price
controls;

(i1) Inability to control increases in operating costs, including salaries, wages and
fringe benefits, supplies and other expenses, given an inability to obtain corresponding increases in
revenues from residents whose incomes will largely be fixed;

(i)  Unionization, employee strikes and other adverse labor actions which could result
in a substantial increase in expenditures without a corresponding increase in revenues;

(iv) Adoption of other federal, state or local legislation or regulations having an adverse
effect on the future operating or financial performance of the Obligated Group;

v) The cost and availability of energy;

(vi) Increased unemployment or other adverse economic conditions in the service area
of the Obligated Group which would increase the proportion of residents who are unable to pay
fully for the cost of their unit or services;

(vil)  Any increase in the quantity of indigent care provided which is mandated by law
or required due to increased needs of the community in order to maintain the charitable status of
the Obligated Group;

(viii)  Inflation or other adverse economic conditions;

(ix) Changes in tax, pension, social security or other laws and regulations affecting the
provisions of health care and other services to the elderly;

x) Inability to control the diminution of residents' assets or insurance coverage which
could affect their ability to pay for their unit or services;

(xi) The occurrence of natural disasters, including floods and earthquakes, which may
damage the facilities of the Obligated Group, interrupt utility service to the facilities, or otherwise

impair the operation and generation of revenues from said facilities; or

(xii)  Cost and availability of any insurance, such as malpractice, fire, automobile and
general comprehensive liability, that organizations such as the Obligated Group generally carry.
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FINANCING DOCUMENTS AND SELECTED COVENANTS

The Master Indenture, the Trust Agreement and the Loan Agreement contain certain covenants of
the Obligated Group with respect to use and operation of the Facilities, incurrence of additional debt,
disposition of assets, use of bond proceeds, maintenance of the Members of the Obligated Group's existence
as a tax-exempt, nonprofit corporations and information reporting as described more fully in Appendix D.
Below is a summary of certain covenants, including the rate covenant, liquidity covenant, marketing
covenant, occupancy covenant, and the rating covenant contained in the Master Indenture and reference is
made to the Master Indenture, for a complete statement of the rights, duties and obligations of the parties
thereto.

Rate Covenant

The Master Indenture requires the Obligated Group to calculate the Debt Service Coverage Ratio
for each fiscal quarter (on a rolling four quarter basis) and to maintain a Debt Service Coverage Ratio of at
least 1.20 for each Fiscal Year, commencing with the first full Fiscal Year following the earlier of (1)
December 31, 2026, or (2) the first full Fiscal Year during which Stable Occupancy occurs (the "Initial
Testing Year"), based on audited financial statements and will deliver a copy of such calculation to the
Persons to whom such report is required to be delivered under "FINANCIAL REPORTING AND
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE - Financial Reporting" herein. The calculation of the Debt Service
Coverage Ratio for any period prior to the Initial Testing Year and for the first three fiscal quarters of each
Fiscal Year is for information purposes only.

The Debt Service Coverage Ratio means, for any period, the ratio of (a) Income Available for Debt
Service received during such period to (b) Maximum Annual Debt Service, subject to certain adjustments
as provided in the Master Indenture.

If the Debt Service Coverage Ratio as of the end of any Fiscal Year is less than 1.20 (but not less
than 1.00), the Obligated Group Representative shall, within 30 days after delivery of the Officer's
Certificate disclosing such deficiency, engage a Management Consultant to make recommendations with
respect to the rates, fees and charges of the Obligated Group and the Obligated Group's methods of
operation and other factors affecting its financial condition in order to increase the Debt Service Coverage
Ratio to at least 1.20 in the future. A copy of the Management Consultant's report and recommendations, if
any, shall be filed with each Member and each Required Information Recipient within 60 days after the
date such Management Consultant is engaged.

Each Obligated Group Member shall use the recommendations of the Management Consultant
applicable to it to the extent feasible (as determined in the judgment of the Governing Body of such
Member) and to the extent permitted by applicable law. Maintaining the minimum Debt Service Coverage
Ratio shall not be construed to prohibit any Member from serving indigent residents to the extent required
for such Member to continue its qualification as a Tax-Exempt Organization or from serving any other class
or classes of residents without charge or at reduced rates so long as such service does not prevent the
Obligated Group from satistying the other requirements hereof. The foregoing provisions notwithstanding,
if the Debt Service Coverage Ratio of the Obligated Group for any Fiscal Year does not meet the levels
required above, (A) the Management Consultant engaged by the Obligated Group Representative to deliver
the initial report and recommendations may be a third-party manager of the Facilities, and (B) the Obligated
Group shall not be obligated to engage a Management Consultant to make such recommendations if a
Management Consultant's report was prepared for the previous Fiscal Year (unless the Majority Holders
request a new Consultant's report).
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If the Obligated Group fails to achieve a Debt Service Coverage Ratio of 1.20, but achieves a Debt
Service Coverage Ratio of at least 1.00 for any Fiscal Year, such failure shall not constitute an Event of
Default under the Master Indenture so long as the Obligated Group takes all action necessary to comply
with the procedures set forth above for preparing a report and adopting a plan and complies with the
recommendations contained in such report to the extent feasible (as determined in the judgment of the
Governing Body of the Obligated Group Representative) and to the extent permitted by law. The foregoing
provisions notwithstanding, it shall constitute an Event of Default if either (i) the Debt Service Coverage
Ratio for any two consecutive Fiscal Years is less than 1.00 or (ii) the Debt Service Coverage Ratio for any
Fiscal Year is less than 1.00 and the Obligated Group has less than 150 Days' Cash on Hand as of the last
day of such Fiscal Year.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Master Indenture and subject to the conditions set forth
in the following paragraph, in the event that any Obligated Group Member incurs any Additional
Indebtedness for any Capital Addition, the Debt Service on such Additional Indebtedness and the Revenues
and Expenses relating to the Capital Addition financed with the proceeds of such Additional Indebtedness
shall be excluded from the calculation of the Debt Service Coverage Ratio of the Obligated Group for the
purposes of complying with the provisions above with respect to the Debt Service Coverage Ratio until the
first full Fiscal Year following the earlier of (i) the estimated completion of the Capital Addition being paid
for with the proceeds of such Additional Indebtedness provided that such completion occurs no later than
six months following the completion date for such Capital Addition set forth in the Management
Consultant's report or Officer's Certificate described in (A) in the paragraph below, or (ii) if the Capital
Addition being paid for with the proceeds of such Additional Indebtedness includes independent living,
assisted living, personal care or skilled nursing facilities, (1) the first full Fiscal Year in which Stable
Occupancy is achieved, or (2) if sooner than (1), the end of the fifth full Fiscal Year after the incurrence of
such Additional Indebtedness.

In order to apply the exclusion in the preceding paragraph, there shall be delivered to the Master
Trustee a report or opinion of a Management Consultant (which shall be a part of any report provided to
incur indebtedness under the Master Indenture) to the effect that the Debt Service Coverage Ratio for the
first full Fiscal Year (taking into account the Additional Indebtedness to be incurred) following the later of
(1) the estimated completion of the Capital Addition being paid for with the proceeds of such Additional
Indebtedness, or (2) if the Capital Addition being paid for with the proceeds of such Additional
Indebtedness includes independent living, assisted living, personal care or skilled nursing facilities, the first
full Fiscal Year following the year in which Stable Occupancy is achieved, which Stable Occupancy shall
be projected to occur no later than during the fifth full Fiscal Year following the incurrence of such
Additional Indebtedness, will be not less than 1.20 after giving effect to the incurrence of such Additional
Indebtedness and the application of the proceeds thereof; provided, however, that in the event a
Management Consultant's report is not required to incur such Additional Indebtedness, the Obligated Group
may deliver an Officer's Certificate to the Master Trustee in lieu of the Management Consultant's report
described in this subsection.

Liquidity Covenant

The Master Indenture requires that the Obligated Group calculate the Days' Cash on Hand of the
Obligated Group as of each June 30 and December 31 of each Fiscal Year, commencing June 30, 2022
(each such date being a "Liquidity Testing Date").

"Days' Cash on Hand" means 365 times (i) the aggregate unrestricted cash and unrestricted
marketable securities (including board-designated funds and the operating reserve required to be maintained
pursuant to Section 58-64-33 of the North Carolina General Statutes, as amended, or any successor statute)
of the Obligated Group as of the date of computation, excluding cash and unrestricted marketable securities
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attributable to indebtedness of the Obligated Group, divided by (ii) the total Operating Expenses of the
Obligated Group for the immediately preceding Fiscal Year, excluding depreciation and amortization, as
shown on the audited financial statements of the Obligated Group for such Fiscal Year. All securities shall
be valued at fair market value for purposes of this definition.

"Operating Expenses" means, for a period, the aggregate of all expenses calculated under GAAP,
including, without limitation, any accrual for taxes, assessments and insurance, incurred by the Person or
group of Persons involved during such period, but excluding (a) depreciation and amortization, (b)
extraordinary expenses, losses on the sale of assets other than in the ordinary course of business and losses
on the extinguishment of debt or termination of pension plans, (¢) any expenses resulting from a forgiveness
of or the establishment of reserves against indebtedness of an Affiliate which does not constitute an
extraordinary expense, (d) losses resulting from any reappraisal, revaluation or write down of assets other
than bad debts, (e) non-cash expenses or losses and (f) any development, marketing, operating or
management fees that have been deferred from the year in which they were originally due. If such
calculation of Operating Expenses is being made with respect to the Obligated Group, any such expenses
attributable to transactions between any Member and any other Member shall be excluded.

Each Obligated Group Member is required to conduct its business so that on each Liquidity Testing
Date the Obligated Group shall have no less than 120 Days' Cash on Hand (the "Liquidity Requirement").
If the number of Days' Cash on Hand as of a Liquidity Testing Date is less than the Liquidity Requirement,
the Obligated Group Representative shall, not later than 30 days after receipt of the financial statements
disclosing such deficiency, deliver to the Master Trustee a management report setting forth in reasonable
detail the reasons for such deficiency and adopting a specific plan setting forth the steps to be taken to
achieve the required Days' Cash on Hand by the second Liquidity Testing Date following the Liquidity
Testing Date on which the Days' Cash on Hand was less than the Liquidity Requirement.

If the Obligated Group has not achieved the Liquidity Requirement by the second Liquidity Testing
Date following the issuance of the management report, the Obligated Group Representative shall, not later
than 60 days after receipt of the financial statements disclosing such deficiency, as applicable, obtain a
Management Consultant's recommendations setting forth in detail the reasons for such deficiency and a
specific plan setting forth the steps designed to achieve the Liquidity Requirement by the end of the second
Liquidity Testing Date following the Liquidity Testing Date on which the Days' Cash on Hand was less
than the Liquidity Requirement.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Master Indenture to the contrary, failure of the
Obligated Group to achieve the required Liquidity Requirement for any Liquidity Testing Date shall not
constitute an Event of Default under the Master Indenture if the Obligated Group (i) takes all action
necessary to comply with the procedures in the Master Indenture for retaining a Management Consultant if
required and (ii) follows the recommendations of a management report or a Management Consultant to the
extent feasible (as determined in the reasonable judgment of the Governing Body of the Obligated Group
Representative) and permitted by law.

Marketing Covenant

Beginning with the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2022, and ending at the beginning of the first
full fiscal quarter following Stable Occupancy, the Obligated Group will use its best efforts to maintain the
percentage of Project Independent Living Units that are Reserved (the "Percentage of Reserved Independent
Living Units") at or above the applicable levels set forth in the table below, which determinations will be
measured as of the last day of the applicable quarter (the "Marketing Requirements").
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Percentage of Reserved
Independent Living Units (%)

Quarter Ending # Units Percent
March 31, 2022 28 64%

June 30, 2022 29 66
September 30, 2022 30 68
December 31, 2022 32 73
March 31, 2023 33 75
June 30, 2023 35 80
September 30, 2023 36 82

December 31, 2023
and thereafter 37 84

If the Percentage of Reserved Independent Living Units for any fiscal quarter is less than the
applicable Marketing Requirement set forth above for that fiscal quarter, the Obligor is required to submit
to the Master Trustee, within 30 days of the end of such fiscal quarter, a marketing report prepared by or
on behalf of the Obligor (a "Management Marketing Report") that includes the following information: (a)
the Percentage of Reserved Independent Living Units, including the number of reservations and
cancellations of Project Independent Living Units during the immediately preceding fiscal quarter and on
an aggregate basis; (b) a forecast, prepared by management of the Obligor, of the number of reservations
of Project Independent Living Units expected in the fiscal quarter immediately succeeding the fiscal quarter
with respect to which the Management Marketing Report is being prepared; and (c) a description of the
sales and marketing plan of the Obligor.

If the Percentage of Reserved Independent Living Units is less than the Marketing Requirement for
two successive fiscal quarters, the Obligor is required to retain a Marketing Consultant within 30 days
thereafter to make recommendations regarding the actions to be taken to increase the Percentage of
Reserved Independent Living Units to the Marketing Requirements set forth herein for future periods.
Notwithstanding anything in the Master Indenture to the contrary, upon the first covenant breach the
Obligor is not required to obtain a Marketing Consultant and instead may itself provide the
recommendations provided for in the previous sentence. Within 60 days of retaining any such Marketing
Consultant, the Obligor is required to cause a copy of the Marketing Consultant's report and
recommendations, if any, to be filed with each Member and each Required Information Recipient. Each
Member is required to follow each recommendation of the Marketing Consultant to the extent feasible (as
determined in the reasonable judgment of the Governing Board of such Member) and permitted by law.
The Obligated Group will not be required to obtain a Marketing Consultant's report in any two consecutive
fiscal quarters.

Failure of the Obligated Group to achieve the Marketing Requirements for any fiscal quarter will
not constitute an Event of Default under the Master Indenture if the Obligated Group takes all action
necessary to comply with the procedures set forth above for preparing a Management Marketing Report or
obtaining a Marketing Consultant's report and adopting a plan and follows each recommendation contained
in such Marketing Consultant's report to the extent feasible (as determined in the reasonable judgment of
the Governing Body of the Obligor) and permitted by law.

Occupancy Covenant
Commencing with the first fiscal quarter that ends not less than 60 days following the issuance of
the first certificate of occupancy for the first building containing Project Independent Living Units, and

ending at the beginning of the first full fiscal quarter following Stable Occupancy (each an "Occupancy
Quarter"), the Obligated Group will use its best efforts to have Occupied the percentage of the total number
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of all Project Independent Living Units (the "Percentage of Units Occupied") at or above the requirements
set forth in the table below, which levels are required to be measured as of the last day of the applicable
Occupancy Quarter (the "Occupancy Requirements"):

Occupancy
Requirements
Occupancy Quarter # Units Percent

1 5 11%
2 10 23
3 15 34
4 21 48
5 26 59
6 31 70
7 36 82

8 and thereafter 37 84

If the Percentage of Units Occupied for any Occupancy Quarter is less than the Occupancy
Requirement set forth above for that Occupancy Quarter, the Obligor is required to submit to the Master
Trustee, within 30 days of the end of such fiscal quarter, (a) an occupancy report (a "Management
Occupancy Report") that includes the following information: (i) the Percentage of Units Occupied and (ii)
the number of reservations and cancellations of Project Independent Living Units during the immediately
preceding fiscal quarter and on an aggregate basis; (b) a forecast, prepared by management of the Obligor,
of the number of Project Independent Living Units expected to be Occupied in the fiscal quarter
immediately succeeding the fiscal quarter with respect to which the Management Occupancy Report is
being prepared; and (c) a description of the sales and marketing plan of the Obligor.

If the Percentage of Units Occupied for any two consecutive fiscal quarters is less than the
Occupancy Requirement set forth above for those fiscal quarters, the Obligor is required to retain a
Marketing Consultant within thirty (30) days thereafter to make recommendations regarding the actions to
be taken to increase the Percentage of Units Occupied to the Occupancy Requirement set forth above for
future periods. Notwithstanding anything in the Master Indenture to the contrary, the Obligor may provide
the recommendations provided for in the previous sentence upon the first covenant breach described herein.
Within 60 days of retaining any such Marketing Consultant, the Obligor is required to cause a copy of the
Marketing Consultant's report and recommendations, if any, to be filed with each Member and each
Required Information Recipient. Each Member is required to follow each recommendation of the Marketing
Consultant to the extent feasible (as determined in the reasonable judgment of the Governing Board of such
Member) and permitted by law. The Obligated Group will not be required to obtain a Marketing
Consultant's report in any two consecutive fiscal quarters.

Failure of the Obligated Group to achieve the Occupancy Requirement for any Occupancy Quarter
will not constitute an Event of Default under the Master Indenture if the Obligated Group takes all action
necessary to comply with the procedures set forth above for preparing a Management Occupancy Report
or obtaining a Marketing Consultant's report and adopting a plan and follows each recommendation
contained in such Marketing Consultant's report to the extent feasible (as determined in the reasonable
judgment of the Governing Body of the Obligor) and permitted by law.
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Approval of Management Consultants and Marketing Consultants

If at any time the Obligated Group is required to engage a Management Consultant or a Marketing
Consultant under the Master Indenture, such Consultant shall be engaged in the manner set forth below (as
used below "Consultant” means only a Management Consultant or Marketing Consultant):

(1) Upon engaging a Management Consultant or a Marketing Consultant as required under the
provisions of the Master Indenture, the Obligated Group will provide written notice to the Master Trustee
and the Commission of such engagement. While any Commission Bonds are outstanding and if so provided
in any Commission Loan Agreement, each Management Consultant and Marketing Consultant must be
acceptable to the Commission. The Commission shall indicate acceptance of each such Consultant as soon
as practicable, but in any case, no longer than five Business Days after receipt of notice, and such acceptance
shall not be unreasonably withheld. The Master Trustee shall, as soon as practicable but in no case longer
than five (5) Business Days after receipt of notice, send a copy of such notice to the Holders of all Master
Obligations Outstanding under the Master Indenture. Such notice prepared by the Obligated Group shall (i)
include the name of the Consultant and a brief description of such Consultant, (ii) state the reason that such
Consultant is being engaged, including a description of the covenant(s) of the Master Indenture that require
such Consultant to be engaged, and that the engagement of the Management Consultant is authorized by
the Master Indenture, and (iii) state that the Holder of the Master Obligation will be deemed to have
consented to the selection of such Consultant named in such notice unless such Holder submits an objection
to the engaged Consultant in writing to the Master Trustee within 15 days of the date that the notice is sent
to the Holders. No later than two (2) Business Days after the end of the 15-day objection period, the Master
Trustee will notify the Obligated Group Representative of the number of any objections. If the Holders of
66.6% or more in aggregate principal amount of the Outstanding Master Obligations have consented or
been deemed to have consented to the engagement of the Consultant or have not responded to the request
for consent, the Obligated Group shall engage such Consultant within three (3) Business Days. If the
Holders of 33.4% or more in aggregate principal amount of the Outstanding Master Obligations have
objected to the Consultant engaged, the Obligated Group shall select another Consultant which may be
engaged upon compliance with the procedures of this paragraph.

(ii) When the Master Trustee notifies the Holders of Master Obligations of such engagement,
the Master Trustee will also request any Related Bond Trustee to send a notice containing the information
required above to the owners of all of the Related Bonds outstanding. Such Related Bond Trustee shall, as
the owner of a Master Obligation securing such Related Bonds, consent or object to the engagement of the
Consultant in accordance with the response or deemed consent of the owners of such Related Bonds. If the
owners of 66.6% or more in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Related Bonds consent or have
been deemed to have consented to the engagement of the Consultant or have not responded to the request
for consent, the Related Bond Trustee, as the owner of a Master Obligation securing such Related Bonds,
shall consent to the engagement of the Consultant. If the owners of 33.4% or more in aggregate principal
amount of the outstanding Related Bonds have objected to the Consultant engaged, the Related Bond
Trustee, as the owner of a Master Obligation securing such Related Bonds, shall object to the engagement
of the Consultant.

(ii1) The 15-day notice period described above may be extended upon written request of the
Related Bond Trustee in order to permit each Related Bond Trustee to give the owners of the Related Bonds
15 days to respond to the notice given by the Related Bond Trustee.

Management Consultant's and Marketing Consultant's Reports

A copy of any recommendations of any Management Consultant or Marketing Consultant must be
filed with the Master Trustee within ninety (90) days after the date the Management Consultant or
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Marketing Consultant is selected unless the Master Trustee extends, with the prior written consent of the
Majority Holders, the time within which such recommendations must be so filed. The Obligated Group
shall cause each set of recommendations from a Management Consultant or Marketing Consultant to be
posted on EMMA.

Engagement of New Management Consultant or New Marketing Consultant

Except as provided below, (1) the Obligated Group Members shall be required to retain a new
independent Management Consultant if:

6)) the Obligated Group fails to make any payment on the Master Obligations when
due;

(i1) the Obligated Group fails to maintain a Debt Service Coverage Ratio of at least
1.00 as shown on any two successive quarterly unaudited financial statements;

(ii1) the Obligated Group fails to meet the required Debt Service Coverage Ratio by the
end of the second fiscal quarter following the date the Management Consultant's report is required;
or

(iv) the Obligated Group fails to meet the Liquidity Requirement by the second
Liquidity Testing Date following the date a report and plan are required, and

(2) the Obligated Group Members shall be required to retain a new independent Marketing Consultant, if:

) the Obligated Group fails to meet the Marketing Requirements by the end of the
second fiscal quarter following the date the report and plan are required; or

(i1) the Obligated Group fails to meet the Occupancy Requirements by the end of the
second Occupancy Quarter following the date a report and plan are required.

Whenever the Obligated Group is required to retain a new Marketing Consultant, as described
above, the Obligated Group Representative shall immediately retain a Consultant who shall, within 30 days
of the event requiring appointment of a new Marketing Consultant, submit to the Master Trustee and
Majority Holders, a list of two or more Persons experienced in marketing of continuing care retirement
communities of a type and size similar to the Community. If the Obligated Group is required to retain a
new Marketing Consultant under the circumstances described above, the Obligated Group shall retain as
Marketing Consultant a Person from the list submitted by the Consultant. In the event that a new Marketing
Consultant is appointed by the Obligated Group Representative at any time when the Debt Service Coverage
Ratio or the Occupancy Requirements is less than the level required pursuant to the Master Indenture, the
provisions of the Master Indenture shall not be applied to require the further appointment of another
Marketing Consultant until the new Marketing Consultant has been employed for at least twelve months.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Obligated Group shall not be required to retain a new Marketing
Consultant or Management Consultant, as applicable, if the Master Trustee receives, within 30 days of the

event requiring appointment of a new Consultant:

1) the written or deemed consent of the Majority Holders to the continued retention
of the existing Consultant;
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(i1) a written report (prepared by a Consultant, but not by the existing Consultant)
containing sufficient detail to support the conclusions made therein and concluding (a) that the
failure of the Obligated Group to comply with the Debt Service Coverage Ratio covenant, the
Occupancy Requirement, the Liquidity Requirement, and/or the Marketing Requirements is
primarily due to factors outside the control of the present Marketing Consultant or Management
Consultant, as applicable, or (b) that retaining a new Marketing Consultant or Management
Consultant, as applicable, is not likely to materially improve the Obligated Group's ability to
comply with such requirements; and

(i)  acertified copy of the Board Resolution of the Governing Body of each Obligated
Group Member stating that the performance by such Consultant of its duties is satisfactory and
setting forth the reasons supporting retention of the present Consultant.

Rating Solicitation Covenant

Under the Master Indenture the Obligated Group has covenanted that in the event the 2021 A Bonds
are no longer rated, it will seek a rating of the 2021 A Bonds from any Rating Agency each year after a
determination is made by the Obligor in consultation with the Initial Underwriter that an investment grade
rating is reasonably obtainable, until achievement of an investment grade rating, provided that if during any
such year the Obligor receives a preliminary indication from any Rating Agency that the 2021A Bonds will
not be assigned an investment grade rating, the Obligor is required to withdraw any request for such year
to have such Rating Agency assign a rating to the 2021 A Bonds.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE
Continuing Disclosure

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the Corporation will undertake, for the benefit of the beneficial
owners of the 2021 A Bonds, to provide to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the "MSRB"):

(a) by not later than 150 days after the end of each Fiscal Year of the Obligated Group,
commencing with the Fiscal Year ending December 31, 2021, the Financial Statements for such Fiscal Year
certified by an Accountant, if available, or, if such Financial Statements certified by an Accountant are not
available by 120 days after the end of such Fiscal Year, the Unaudited Financial Statements (defined below)
for such Fiscal Year to be replaced subsequently by the Financial Statements certified by an Accountant to
be delivered within 15 days after such Financial Statements become available for distribution;

(b) by not later than 150 days after the end of each Fiscal Year, commencing with the Fiscal
Year ending December 31, 2021, the financial and statistical data as of a date not earlier than the end of the
preceding Fiscal Year for the type of information described in the tables (exclusive of footnotes) under
"THE COMMUNITY - Entrance Fee Plan Types," "THE COMMUNITY - Rate Increases," "THE
COMMUNITY - Occupancy," "THE COMMUNITY - Entrance Fee Turnover," "HEALTH CARE — The
Davis Community," "HISTORICAL FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE - Selected Statement of Operations
Sheet," "HISTORICAL FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE - Selected Balance Sheet Information,"
"HISTORICAL FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE - Days' Cash on Hand,” and "HISTORICAL
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE — Debt Service Coverage Ratio" in Appendix A hereto;

(©) by not later than 150 days after the end of each Fiscal Year, commencing with the Fiscal
Year ending December 31, 2021, the Debt Service Coverage Ratio for such Fiscal Year and the number of
Days' Cash on Hand as of the end of such Fiscal Year, to the extent such items are not included in the
Financial Statements provided pursuant to clause (a) above;
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(d) in a timely manner not in excess of ten business days after the occurrence of the event,
notice of any of the following events with respect to the 2021 A Bonds:

(1) principal and interest payment delinquencies;

(i1) non-payment related defaults, if material;

(ii1) unscheduled draws on any debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;
(iv)  unscheduled draws on any credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;
v) substitution of any credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

(vi) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or
final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other
material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the 2021A Bonds, or other
material events affecting the tax status of the 2021A Bonds;

(vil)  modification to the rights of the beneficial owners of the 2021 A Bonds, if material;

(viii)  bond calls (other than mandatory sinking fund redemptions), if material, and tender
offers;

(ix) defeasances;

x) release, substitution or sale of any property securing repayment of the 2021A
Bonds, if material;

(xi) rating changes;

(xii))  bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of any Obligated Group
Member, which shall be considered to occur when any of the following occur: the appointment of
a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for any Obligated Group Member in a proceeding under
the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or
governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of
any Obligated Group Member, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing
governing body and officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of
a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization,
arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction
over substantially all of the assets or business of any Obligated Group Member;

(xiii) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving any
Obligated Group Member or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of any Obligated Group
Member, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to
undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions,
other than pursuant to its terms, if material;

(xiv)  appointment of a successor or additional Bond Trustee or the change of name of
the Bond Trustee, if material;
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(xv)  incurrence of a financial obligation (as defined below) of any Obligated Group
Member, if material, or agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights or other
similar terms of a financial obligation of an Obligated Group Member, any of which affect the
beneficial owners of the 2021 A Bonds, if material;

(xvi) default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other
similar events under the terms of a financial obligation of any Obligated Group Member, any of
which reflect financial difficulties; and

(e) in a timely manner, notice of a failure of the Corporation to provide required annual
financial information described in (a), (b) or (c) above on or before the date specified.

The Corporation shall provide the documents referred to above to the MSRB in an electronic format
as prescribed by the MSRB and accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB. The
Corporation may also discharge its undertaking described above by transmitting such information in any
other manner subsequently authorized or required by the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission.

"Financial obligation" means a debt obligation, a derivative instrument entered into in connection
with, or pledged as security or a source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation, or a guarantee
of either. The term "financial obligation" shall not include municipal securities as to which a final official
statement has been provided to the MSRB consistent with Rule 15¢2-12 (as defined below).

See in Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS - MASTER
INDENTURE" for the definition of "Financial Statements." For the purposes of continuing disclosure,
"Unaudited Financial Statements" has the same meaning as Financial Statements, except that such financial
statements have not been audited and reported upon by an Accountant (or, in the case of any Obligated
Group Member which is not an Affiliate, the accounts of such Obligated Group Member to be added to
unaudited combining financial statements described above are not extracted from audited financial
statements of such Obligated Group Member and its Affiliates, if any).

If the Corporation fails to comply with the undertaking described above, the Bond Trustee or any
beneficial owner of the 2021A Bonds then Outstanding may take action to protect and enforce the rights of
beneficial owners with respect to such undertaking, including an action for specific performance. All
actions shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner provided in this paragraph for the benefit of
all beneficial owners of the 2021A Bonds.

The Corporation reserves the right to modify from time to time the information to be provided to
the extent necessary or appropriate in the judgment of the Corporation, provided that:

(a) any such modification may only be made in connection with a change in
circumstances that arises from a change in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the
identity, nature, or status of the Obligated Group;

(b) the information to be provided, as modified, would have complied with the
requirements of Rule 15¢2-12 issued under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Rule 15¢2-12")
as of the date of the Official Statement, after taking into account any amendments or interpretations
of Rule 15¢2-12, as well as any changes in circumstances; and

() any such modification does not materially impair the interests of the beneficial
owners of the 2021 A Bonds, as determined either by parties unaffiliated with the Corporation (such

54



as the Bond Trustee or bond counsel), or by approving vote of the registered owners of not less
than a majority in principal amount of the 2021 A Bonds then Outstanding pursuant to the terms of
the Trust Agreement, as it may be amended from time to time.

The Corporation agrees that any annual financial information containing modified operating data
or financial information will explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the modification and the impact of
the change in the type of operating data or financial information being provided.

By not later than one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of each Fiscal Year, the Corporation
shall cause to be filed with the Commission, the Local Government Commission and the Bond Trustee an
Officer's Certificate stating that the Corporation is in compliance with the provisions described hereunder.

The provisions described hereunder shall terminate upon payment, or provision having been made
for payment in a manner consistent with Rule 15¢2-12, in full of the principal of and interest on all of the
2021A Bonds.

If any Obligated Group Member engages a dissemination agent to distribute any notices or other
information required to be filed in accordance with Rule 15¢2-12, the Corporation hereby agrees that it will
not engage, nor permit any other Obligated Group Member to engage, the Bond Trustee or the Master
Trustee or any affiliate of either to serve as such dissemination agent.

The Corporation has no prior undertakings relating to continuing disclosure of information under
Rule 15¢2-12 during the five years preceding the date of this Official Statement.

Additional Disclosure

The Master Indenture requires that the Obligated Group provide to each Required Information
Recipient (which includes the MSRB):

(1) A monthly statement of the Obligated Group as soon as practicable after the
information is available but in no event more than 45 days after the completion of such month,
including:

(A) Prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy for the first building
containing Project Independent Living Units, (1) a calculation of the marketing levels for
the Project Independent Living Units as of the end of such month, including the number of
Project Independent Living Units that have been sold or cancelled during that month and
on an aggregate basis; (2) a copy of the report prepared by the Construction Monitor; (3) a
report by the Obligated Group on the progress of the construction, showing the dollar
amount and percentage of completion for each stage of construction of the Project,
comparing such amounts to the amounts estimated in the schedule of values and the
construction progress schedule delivered at closing, estimating the amount of funds
required to complete the Project, and certifying that the amount available in the Project
Fund, together with anticipated investment earnings, will be sufficient to pay the costs of
completing the Project; (4) unaudited financial reports on the development costs of the
Project incurred during that month and on an aggregate basis showing a comparison to the
development budget; (5) statements of the balances for each fund and account required to
be established under the Master Indenture or under any Related Bond Indenture as of the
end of such month (obtained from the applicable trustee), all in reasonable detail and
certified by an officer of the Obligated Group; and (6) if such month is the last month of
the fiscal quarter, a calculation of compliance with the Liquidity Requirement, for such
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fiscal quarter, if required to be calculated under the Master Indenture, all prepared in
reasonable detail and certified, subject to year-end adjustment, by an officer of the
Obligated Group Representative. Such report shall also include a calculation of the Debt
Service Coverage Ratio for reporting purposes only.

(B) After the issuance of a certificate of occupancy for the first building
containing Project Independent Living Units, (1) a calculation of the marketing levels for
the Project Independent Living Units as of the end of such month, including the number of
Project Independent Living Units that have been sold or cancelled during that month and
on an aggregate basis; (2) occupancy levels of the Project as of the end of such month
including the number of Independent Living Units that were occupied and vacated during
that month and on an aggregate basis; (3) a summary statement on the status of construction
of the Project until the issuance of the last certificate of occupancy for the Project; (4)
unaudited financial reports on the development costs incurred during that month and on an
aggregate basis until the issuance of the last certificate of occupancy for the Project; (5) an
unaudited statement of revenues and expenses and statement of cash flows of the Obligated
Group for such month and an unaudited balance sheet of the Obligated Group as of the end
of such month, showing a comparison to the current Annual Budget; (6) statements of the
balances for each fund and account required to be established under the Master Indenture
or under any Related Bond Indenture as of the end of such month (obtained from the
applicable Related Bond Trustee), all in reasonable detail and certified by an officer of the
Obligated Group; and (7) a calculation of compliance with the Marketing Requirements,
the Occupancy Requirements, and the Liquidity Requirement for such fiscal quarter, if
required to be calculated under the Master Indenture, all prepared in reasonable detail and
certified, subject to year-end adjustment, by an officer of the Obligated Group
Representative. Such report shall also include a calculation of the Debt Service Coverage
Ratio for reporting purposes only.

The Obligated Group Representative does not need to deliver any monthly statement of the
Obligated Group described in this subsection (i)(B) after Stable Occupancy.

(i1) (A) quarterly unaudited financial statements of the Obligated Group as soon
as practicable after they are available but in no event more than 45 days after the completion
of such fiscal quarter, including a combined or combining statement of operations and
changes in net assets (deficit) and statement of cash flows of the Obligated Group during
such period, a combined or combining balance sheet as of the end of each such fiscal
quarter, all prepared in reasonable detail and certified, subject to year-end adjustment, by
an officer of the Obligated Group Representative.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Debt Service Coverage Ratio of the
Obligated Group for any Fiscal Year is less than 1.20 and the Days' Cash on Hand of the
Obligated Group is less than the Liquidity Requirement for the most recent Testing Date
as provided in the Master Indenture, the Obligated Group will deliver the financial
information and the calculations described in paragraph (A) above on a monthly basis
within 45 days of the end of each month until the Debt Service Coverage Ratio of the
Obligated Group is at least 1.20 and the Days' Cash on Hand is at least equal to the
applicable Liquidity Requirement.

(B) On or before the date of delivery of the financial reports referred to in

subsection (ii) above, a management's discussion and analysis of results for the applicable
fiscal period, together with an Officer's Certificate of the Obligated Group Representative
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(A) stating that the Obligated Group is in compliance with all of the terms, provisions and
conditions of the Master Indenture or, if not, specifying all such defaults and the nature
thereof, (B) calculating and certifying compliance with the Days' Cash on Hand, as of the
end of such fiscal period, and (C) attaching (I) information about occupancy levels of the
Community as of the end of such Fiscal Quarter across all levels of care, including a
comparison to the prior year's occupancy, (II) the number of residents admitted to health
care outside the Community, (II1) net Entrance Fees received, (IV) turnover statistics with
respect to the Independent Living Units, (V) changes in services offered at the Community,
(VI) stating that the Community is in compliance with State of North Carolina regulations
and statutes, and (VII) if Master Obligations have been issued in connection with any
construction project, reports with respect to the progress of construction of such project.

(ii1) Within 150 days after the end of each Fiscal Year, an annual audited financial
report of the Obligated Group prepared by an Accountant, including a combined and combining
balance sheet as of the end of such Fiscal Year and combined and combining statement of cash
flows and changes in net assets (deficit) for such Fiscal Year (together with any required
supplemental information), showing in each case in comparative form the financial figures for the
preceding Fiscal Year, together with a separate written statement of the Accountant preparing such
report (or another Accountant) containing calculations of the Obligated Group's Debt Service
Coverage Ratio for such Fiscal Year and the Days' Cash on Hand at the end of such Fiscal Year,
and a statement that such Accountant has no knowledge of any default under the Master Indenture
insofar as it relates to accounting matters or to the Obligated Group's financial covenants, or if such
Accountant shall have obtained knowledge of any such default or defaults, it shall disclose in such
statement the default or defaults and the nature thereof (but such Accountant shall not be liable
directly or indirectly to anyone for failure to obtain knowledge of any such default).

(iv) On or before the date of delivery of the annual financial reports referred to in
subsection (iii) above, a management's discussion and analysis of results for such Fiscal Year,
together with an Officer's Certificate of the Obligated Group Representative (A) stating that the
Obligated Group is in compliance with all of the terms, provisions and conditions of the Master
Indenture or, if not, specifying all such defaults and the nature thereof and (B) attaching (1)
information about the fee structure for and the occupancy of the Independent Living Units in the
Community, including a comparison to the prior year's occupancy, (2) the number of residents
admitted to health care outside the Community, (3) net Entrance Fees received, (4) turnover
statistics with respect to Independent Living Units, (5) changes in services offered at the
Community, (6) stating that the Community is in compliance with State of North Carolina
regulations and statutes, and (7) if Master Obligations have been issued in connection with any
construction project, reports with respect to the progress of such construction project.

V) No later than 30 days after the last day of each Fiscal Year, the Obligated Group
Representative will prepare the Annual Budget (consisting of a statement of income and expenses)
for the following Fiscal Year. If the Obligated Group Representative fails to prepare the Annual
Budget for any Fiscal Year, the Annual Budget for the preceding Fiscal Year will continue until
the Annual Budget is prepared for the remainder of the applicable Fiscal Year. The Annual Budget
shall be provided to each Required Information Recipient no later than 30 days after the start of
each Fiscal Year, and any material amendment to the Annual Budget shall be provided to each
Required Information Recipient within 30 days after it becomes effective.

(vi) Copies of adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of

proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or
other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of any Obligated Group
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Member as a Tax-Exempt Organization or with respect to the tax-exempt status of any Related
Bonds, promptly upon receipt.

(vii)  Subject to industry standards relating to the financing of facilities similar to the
Community, the Obligated Group shall use its best efforts to make available one or more
representatives for a quarterly telephone conference call if none of the Related Bonds are then rated
by a Rating Agency and semiannual telephone conference call if any of the Related Bonds are then
rated by a Rating Agency (or more frequently if requested by the holders of a majority of the
Related Bonds) with the holders of the Related Bonds and the Master Trustee to discuss the
financial results of the preceding period and such other matters as are relevant or are reasonably
requested by the holders of the Related Bonds and the Master Trustee. The Obligated Group shall
post notice of such calls to EMMA at least two weeks prior to the scheduled date of each call, and
shall provide such notice to the Master Trustee.

(viii))  Within 30 days after the incurrence of Long-Term Indebtedness that is not offered
through an offering document available on EMMA, a summary of the material terms, including the
applicable interest rate, amortization and maturity of such Long-Term Indebtedness and material
differences in covenants set forth in the documents executed in connection with such Long-Term
Indebtedness from those set forth in the Master Indenture where a failure to comply with such
covenants could give rise to an event of default under the Master Indenture, and within 10 business
days after the receipt by the Obligated Group from the lender of such Long-Term Indebtedness of
any notice of event of default, reservation of rights letter or forbearance agreement, a notification
that such notice, letter or agreement has been received. Such information will be filed on EMMA
under the CUSIPs for all Related Bonds.

Capitalized terms set forth in this sub-heading shall have the meanings given such terms in
Appendix D "FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS — MASTER INDENTURE" hereto.

Limited Information

The obligations of the Corporation described in this section will require the Corporation to provide
only specified information at specified times and may not provide all the information necessary to value
the 2021 A Bonds at any given time.

LITIGATION

There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation at law or in equity or before or by any
court, public board or body pending, or, to the best knowledge of the Commission, threatened against or
affecting the Commission wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect (1) the
transactions contemplated by, or the validity or enforceability of, the 2021 A Bonds, the Trust Agreement,
the Loan Agreement or Obligation No. 1 or described in this Official Statement, or (2) the tax-exempt status
of interest on the 2021A Bonds.

There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation at law or in equity or before or by any
court, public board or body pending, or, to the best knowledge of the Corporation, threatened against or
affecting the Obligated Group wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would have a material
adverse effect on the financial condition of the Obligated Group or would adversely affect (1) the
transactions contemplated by, or the validity or enforceability of, the 2021 A Bonds, the Trust Agreement,
the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture, the Supplemental Indenture, Obligation No. 1, the Deed of
Trust or the Contract of Purchase or described in this Official Statement or (2) the tax-exempt status of
interest on the 2021A Bonds.
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UNDERWRITING

The 2021A Bonds are being purchased by Herbert J. Sims & Co., Inc. (the "Underwriter"), as
Underwriter for a purchase price of § (representing the par amount of the 2021 A Bonds, [plus/less]
[net] original issue [premium/discount] of $ , minus an underwriting discount of $ ),
pursuant to a Contract of Purchase between the LGC and the Underwriter and approved by the Commission
and the Corporation (the "Contract of Purchase"). The Underwriter reserves the right to join with dealers
and other underwriters in offering the 2021 A Bonds to the public. The obligations of the Underwriter to
accept delivery of the 2021 A Bonds are subject to various conditions contained in the Contract of Purchase.
The Contract of Purchase provides that the Underwriter will purchase all of the 2021 A Bonds if any 2021A
Bonds are purchased.

Herbert J. Sims & Co., Inc., the Underwriter for the 2021A Bonds, has also served as placement
agent for the 2021B Bonds and will receive a placement agent fee for its services in placing the 2021B
Bonds.

LEGAL MATTERS

Legal matters incident to the authorization and validity of the 2021A Bonds are subject to the
approving opinion of Robinson, Bradshaw & Hinson, P.A., Charlotte, North Carolina, Bond Counsel. The
proposed form of such opinion is contained in Appendix E. Certain legal matters will be passed on for the
Corporation by Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP, Raleigh, North Carolina, and for the Underwriter by
McGuireWoods, LLP, Charlotte, North Carolina.

TAX TREATMENT
General
The opinion of Bond Counsel will state that under existing law:

e interest on the 2021 A Bonds is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes
and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax, and

e interest on the 2021A Bonds is exempt from State of North Carolina income taxes.

In rendering the foregoing opinion, Bond Counsel will rely on the opinion of Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein
LLP, Raleigh, North Carolina, counsel to the Corporation, with respect to the Corporation's status under
Section 501(c)(3) of the Code. The tax exemption of interest on the 2021 A Bonds is dependent upon, among
other things, the Corporation's status as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, and
therefore Bond Counsel's conclusion that interest is excludable from gross income for purposes of federal
income tax exemption is dependent, in part, upon the opinion of Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP.

Simultaneously with the issuance of the 2021 A Bonds, the Commission intends to issue the 2021B
Bonds. For federal income tax purposes, all such series of bonds (collectively, the "2021 Bonds") will be
treated as a single issue.

The Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder contain a number of requirements that must
be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the 2021 A Bonds in order for interest on the 2021 A Bonds to be
and remain excludable from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation. Examples include: the
requirement that the Corporation maintain its status as an organization exempt from federal income taxation
by reason of being described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code; the requirement that the Commission rebate
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certain excess earnings on proceeds and amounts treated as proceeds of the 2021 Bonds to the United States
Treasury; restrictions on investment of such proceeds and other amounts; and restrictions on the ownership
and use of the facilities financed with proceeds of the 2021 Bonds. The foregoing is not intended to be an
exhaustive listing of the post-issuance tax compliance requirements of the Code, but is illustrative of the
requirements that must be satisfied by the Commission and the Corporation subsequent to the issuance of
the 2021 A Bonds to maintain the exclusion of interest on the 2021A Bonds from income for federal income
taxation purposes. Failure to comply with certain of such requirements may cause interest on the 2021A
Bonds to be included in gross income retroactively to the date of issuance of the 2021 A Bonds. The
Commission and the Corporation have covenanted to comply with these requirements. The opinion of Bond
Counsel delivered on the date of issuance of the 2021 A Bonds will be conditioned on the compliance by
the Commission and the Corporation with such requirements, and Bond Counsel has not been retained to
monitor compliance with requirements such as described above subsequent to the issuance of the 2021A
Bonds.

Bond Counsel's opinions are based on existing law, which is subject to change. Such opinions are
further based on factual representations made to Bond Counsel as of the date thereof. Bond Counsel
assumes no duty to revise or supplement its opinions to reflect any facts or circumstances that may thereafter
come to Bond Counsel's attention, or to reflect any changes in law that may thereafter occur or become
effective. Moreover, Bond Counsel's opinions are not a guarantee of a particular result, and are not binding
on the Internal Revenue Service or the courts; rather, such opinions represent Bond Counsel's professional
judgment based on its review of existing law, and in reliance on the representations and covenants that it
deems relevant to such opinions.

Other Tax Consequences

Prospective purchasers of the 2021 A Bonds should be aware that ownership of the 2021A Bonds
may result in collateral federal, state or local tax consequences to certain taxpayers, including, without
limitation, financial institutions, property and casualty insurance companies, individual recipients of Social
Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, certain S corporations with "excess net passive income," foreign
corporations subject to the branch profits tax, life insurance companies and taxpayers who may be deemed
to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry or have paid or incurred certain expenses
allocable to the 2021A Bonds. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any such collateral tax
consequences. Prospective purchasers of the 2021A Bonds should consult their tax advisors regarding
collateral tax consequences.

Original Issue Discount

The original issue discount in the selling price of each 2021 A Bond maturing on January 1, 20
and 20, to the extent properly allocable to each owner of such 2021A Bond, is excludable from gross
income for federal income tax purposes with respect to such owner. The original issue discount is the excess
of the stated redemption price at maturity of such 2021A Bond over its initial offering price to the public,
excluding underwriters and other intermediaries, at which price a substantial amount of the 2021 A Bonds
of such maturity were sold.

Under Section 1288 of the Code, original issue discount on tax-exempt bonds accrues on a
compound basis. The amount of original issue discount that accrues to any owner of a 2021A Bond during
any accrual period generally equals (i) the issue price of such 2021 A Bond plus the amount of original issue
discount accrued in all prior accrual periods, multiplied by (ii) the yield to maturity of such 2021A Bond
(determined on the basis of compounding at the close of each accrual period and properly adjusted for the
length of the accrual period), minus (iii) any interest payable on such 2021A Bond during such accrual
period. The amount of original issue discount so accrued in a particular accrual period will be considered
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to be received ratably on each day of the accrual period, will be excludable from gross income for federal
income tax purposes, and will increase the owner's tax basis in such 2021A Bond. Purchasers of any 2021A
Bond at an original issue discount should consult their tax advisors regarding the determination and
treatment of original issue discount for federal income tax purposes, and with respect to state and local tax
consequences of owning such 2021A Bonds.

Premium 2021A Bonds

The 2021A Bonds maturing on January 1, 20 to 20, inclusive, and 20, have been sold at
initial public offering prices that are in excess of the amount payable at maturity. An amount equal to the
excess of the purchase price of a 2021A Bond over its stated redemption price at maturity constitutes
premium on such 2021A Bond. Purchasers must amortize any premium over such 2021A Bond's term using
constant yield principles, based on the 2021A Bond's yield to maturity. As premium is amortized, a
purchaser's basis in such 2021A Bond and the amount of tax-exempt interest received will be reduced by
the amount of amortizable premium properly allocable to such purchaser. This will result in an increase in
the gain (or decrease in the loss) to be recognized for federal income tax purposes on sale or disposition of
such 2021A Bond prior to its maturity. Even though a purchaser's basis is reduced, no federal income tax
deduction is allowed. Purchasers of a 2021A Bond at a premium, whether at the time of initial issuance or
after initial issuance, should consult their tax advisors with respect to the determination and treatment of
premium for federal income tax purposes, and with respect to state and local tax consequences of owning
such 2021 A Bonds.

RATING

Fitch Inc. has assigned the 2021 A Bonds a rating of "BBB" with a stable outlook. Any desired
explanation of the significance of such rating should be obtained from the rating agency.

Certain information and materials not included in this Official Statement were furnished to the
rating agency. Generally, rating agencies base their ratings on the information and materials so furnished
and on investigations, studies and assumptions by the rating agencies. There is no assurance that a particular
rating will be maintained for any given period of time or that it will not be lowered or withdrawn entirely
if, in the judgment of the agency originally establishing the rating, circumstances so warrant. The
Underwriter has undertaken no responsibility either to bring to the attention of the holders of the 2021A
Bonds any proposed revision or withdrawal of the rating of the 2021A Bonds or to oppose any such
proposed revision or withdrawal. Any such change in or withdrawal of the rating could have an adverse
effect on the market price of the 2021A Bonds.

LEGALITY FOR INVESTMENT

The 2021A Bonds are legal investments for all public officers and bodies of the State of North
Carolina and its political subdivisions and all insurance companies, trust companies, banking associations,
investment companies, executors, administrators, trustees and other fiduciaries in the State of North
Carolina.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements of the Corporation, included in Appendix B to this Official Statement, as

of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 have been audited by Dixon Hughes Goodman
LLP, independent accountants, as stated in their reports thereon, which appear in Appendix B hereto.
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RELATIONSHIP OF PARTIES

Robinson, Bradshaw & Hinson, P.A., Bond Counsel, has represented, continues to represent or
expects to represent in the future the Underwriter in unrelated matters. Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP,
counsel to the Corporation, has represented, continues to represent or expects to represent in the future the
Underwriter, the 2021B Lender and the Commission in unrelated matters. McGuireWoods, LLP, counsel
to the Underwriter, has represented, continues to represent or expects to represent in the future the
Commission, the 2021B Lender, and the Bond Trustee in unrelated matters. Herbert J. Sims & Co., Inc.,
the Underwriter for the 2021 A Bonds, has also served as placement agent for the 2021B Bonds.

MISCELLANEOUS

The Corporation has furnished all information herein relating to the Obligated Group. Any
statements involving matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, are intended as such and not as
representations of fact. The Commission and its staff assume no responsibility for the accuracy or
completeness of any representation or statement in this Official Statement except for material with respect
to them included under the sections entitled "THE COMMISSION" and "LITIGATION." Neither this
Official Statement nor any statement that may have been made orally or in writing is to be construed as a
contract with the owner of any of the 2021 A Bonds.

The Commission has deemed this Preliminary Official Statement "final" as of its date within the
meaning of the Rule, except for the omission of certain pricing and other information permitted to be
omitted by the Rule.

NORTH CAROLINA MEDICAL CARE
COMMISSION

By:

Vice-Chairman
Approved:

PLANTATION VILLAGE, INC.

By:

President
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THE OBLIGOR

Plantation Village, Inc. (the “Obligor”) is a North Carolina non-profit corporation. The Obligor
operates a continuing care retirement community on approximately 56 acres in Wilmington, North Carolina,
providing housing, healthcare, and other related services to residents on a campus currently operating two
independent living cottages (the “Existing Independent Living Cottages”), 66 independent living duplex
homes (the “Existing Independent Living Duplexes”), 48 independent living villas (the “Existing
Independent Living Villas™) and 129 independent living apartments (the “Existing Independent Living
Apartments” and together with the Existing Independent Living Cottages, the Existing Independent Living
Duplexes and the Existing Independent Living Villas, the “Existing Independent Living Units”) together
with more than 25,500 square feet of common space (collectively, the “Existing Community”). The Obligor
welcomes senior adults regardless of race, color, creed, sex or national origin.

Mission and Vision

The Obligor’s mission is to be a welcoming village for stimulating and secure life with superior
services and its vision is to the community of choice for seniors in Coastal Carolina.

Affiliations

The Obligor is not affiliated with any religious, charitable or other not-for-profit organization. It
is a member of LeadingAge and LeadingAge North Carolina.

History of the Existing Community

The Obligor was formed in 1982 and is exempt from federal income taxation under Section
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). No other organization is
obligated to make payment on the Series 2021 Bonds or other obligations of the Obligor. For a complete
description of the operations of the Obligor, see “THE COMMUNITY” herein.

The Existing Community opened in 1988 with 108 independent living apartments in three
apartment buildings. In 1989, construction was completed on a 25,757 square foot commons building
containing administrative area, dining room, library, great room, salon, craft room and a separate
woodworking area. Eight quadraplex buildings were also added in 1989 on the east side of the Existing
Community, adding 32 independent living units. In 2001, 28 duplex and four quadraplex buildings were
added, adding 72 independent living units. In 2005, three duplexes were completed, adding six independent
living units. Renovations to the commons building were made in 2015, including additions of 1,475 square
feet of dining space, a 8,860 square feet auditorium, and an addition of 10,010 square feet to the wellness
area. An additional three-story apartment building was also completed in 2015, adding 27 independent
living units.

In 1988, the Obligor retained Life Care Services LLC (“LCS”) to manage the Community. For
more information concerning LCS, see “GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT—Life Care Services”
herein.

Health Care Services

Since opening in 1988, assisted and skilled nursing services for the residents have been provided
through a transfer agreement (the “Transfer Agreement”) between the Obligor and Cornelia Nixon Davis,
Inc. (the “HC Provider””) which operates The Davis Community (the “Davis Community”), a non-related
healthcare provider adjacent to the Existing Community. The Davis Community has an 123 bed assisted
living component called “Champions Assisted Living” and a 179 bed skilled nursing component called the
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“Davis Health Care Center.” At this time, the Transfer Agreement shall continue as an open-ended contract
subject to termination by either party with three years written notification of such termination. The Transfer
Agreement may be terminated upon mutual agreement of the parties effective 180 days after the mailing of
written notice of such termination.

In addition, the Obligor provides health care in a resident care center (part of the Existing
Community), which is staffed by a licensed nurse 24-hours a day, seven days a week. The resident care
center responds to emergency calls, provides temporary nursing care and outpatient service to residents of
the Community. See “HEALTH CARE” herein.

Project and Series 2021 Bonds

The Obligor will use the proceeds of the 2021 A Bonds, together with certain other moneys
(including the proceeds of the 2021B Bonds, which will be purchased by the 2021B Lender), to (i) to
construct four new independent living apartment buildings which will contain a total of 44 new independent
living apartments (the “Project Independent Living Apartments”); expand and renovate the existing community
building; adding amenities including new dining (indoor and outdoor), a game room, meeting/board room space,
a cinema and a new arts studio; renovate the existing auditorium; upgrade informational technology systems
throughout the Existing Community; and relocate certain other buildings (the “Project” and collectively with
the Existing Community, the “Community”); (ii) pay a portion of the interest on the Series 2021 Bonds;
(iii) refinance certain taxable indebtedness that was used to pay for an expansion of the Existing
Community, including the addition of 27 independent living apartments, a new wellness center and indoor
pool, a new auditorium, and renovation of the main common areas and dining room; and (iv) pay certain
costs of issuance. See “THE PROJECT” herein and the “PLAN OF FINANCING” in the forepart of this
Official Statement for additional information.

As of the date of issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, the Obligor is the only member of an obligated
group (the “Obligated Group”) established under the Master Trust Indenture dated as of December 1, 2021
(the “Master Indenture”™), by and between the Obligor and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company,
N.A., as master trustee (the “Master Trustee”). As the only Member of the Obligated Group, the Obligor is
the only entity currently obligated to pay the principal of and interest on the Series 2021 Bonds, the Series
2021 Obligations, and any other Obligations issued under the Master Indenture. For a description of the
Master Indenture see “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT” in the forepart of this Official
Statement.

Use of this Appendix A

This Appendix A is intended to provide information about the Obligor, the Project and the
Community that is not presented elsewhere in this Official Statement. For additional information about the
Obligor, potential investors should refer to the audited financial statements for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2020 attached as APPENDIX B hereto. Additional information about Obligor, the
Project and the Community can be found in the “FINANCIAL FEASIBILITY STUDY” which is included
as Appendix C to this Official Statement. The materials included in this Appendix A and the other
appendices to this Official Statement should be read in their entirety.

Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to such terms

in the Master Indenture, the Trust Agreement or the Loan Agreement in Appendix D — “PROPOSED
FORMS OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS”
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GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to the Obligor’s bylaws (the “Bylaws”), the Obligor is managed under the direction of a
Board of Directors (the “Board”) consisting of 8 to 15 volunteer members of which two members are
Community residents (such Board members are herein defined as “Directors™). All Directors other than the
Community residents are appointed by the sitting Directors. The Directors who are Community residents
are the current president of the resident council and the immediate past president of the resident council.
The Bylaws provide for the Board to meet monthly or at such other times as the Board may from time to
time determine.

Directors, other than resident Directors, are elected by the Board at its meeting in November and
take office at the annual meeting of the Board the following January. A Director is elected to a three-year
term and elected Directors may not serve more than two consecutive three-year terms. The Board may,
from time to time, elect a person who, in their opinion, has made an outstanding contribution to the
Community and the Board to the position of Director Emeritus, a non-voting position.

The Bylaws provide for the following committees: Executive Committee, Finance Committee,
Board Development Committee, Audit Committee and Facilities Committee. The Executive Committee is
composed of the President, the Vice President, the Secretary, the Treasurer and two other Directors at the
discretion of the President. Except for limited circumstances, the Executive Committee has and may
exercise all of the powers of the Board when the Board is not in session.

Board of Directors

The 15 current members of the Board, their term of office and their affiliation are set forth below:

Name Board Terms Affiliation/Occupation Committee Assignments
Charles L. Earney, 2 Managing Partner, CPA Executive, Finance,
President Nominating
Robert Mitchell, 2 Vice President & Treasurer Executive, Finance, Memorial
Secretary Fund, Strategic Planning,
Aging Well
Joanne Rockness, 2 Professor, CPA Executive, Finance
Treasurer
Rhonda Bellamy 1 Executive Director of the Arts | Diversity & Inclusion sub-
Council of Wilmington and committee
New Hanover County
Barbara Biehner 2 Health Care Management Aging Well
Virginia Carter 2 Attorney Compliance, Strategic
Planning
Tolga Cankurtaran 1 Senior Director, Operations Strategic Planning, Aging
of the NC State Ports Well
Authority
Ron Foster Resident Finance
Council Past
President
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Name Board Terms Affiliation/Occupation Committee Assignments
Anne Glass 1 Professor and Gerontology Aging Well, Strategic
Program Coordinator in the Planning
College of Health and
Human Services
Mary Beth Hardy 1 Retired Healthcare Aging Well, Strategic
Planning
Robert Porter Resident Finance, Strategic Planning
Council
President
Jeff Turpin 1 Retired CPA Finance
Eric Bergman 1 CPA Finance
Tom Walsh 1 Vice President — Network Special Projects
Facilities and Support
Service of NHRMC
Dr. Audrey Surak Medical Physician Aging Well
Director (non-
voting)

Obligor’s Senior Management Team

Jolynn Kae Whitten (47) Executive Director. Ms. Whitten started as Executive Director at the
Obligor on October 11, 2021. She started with LCS in 2005 and served Vantage House in Columbia,
Maryland as Health Center Administrator, becoming Associate Executive Director there in 2007. Ms.
Whitten then served as Executive Director at Sandhill Cove in Palm City, Florida from December 2008 to
February 2018. She served as Executive Director at Hillside Village Keene in Keene, New Hampshire
before becoming Executive Director at the Obligor. Ms. Whitten received a bachelor of arts degree in
Health Services Administration at Marywood College and then a Master’s degree in Health Finance and
Management from Johns Hopkins University.

Cara Arrans (36), Director of Accounting, joined the Obligor in September of 2015, stepping in as
the director of accounting in June of 2018. Ms. Arrans began her career in Chicago at a trading firm where
she was responsible for budgeting and forecasting as well as monthly management reporting. Ms. Arrans
currently serves as the Board Treasurer for Canines for Service, a nonprofit organization that provides
veterans from all conflicts with service-connected mobility limitations, post-traumatic stress disorder, and
traumatic brain injury with highly trained service dogs at no cost or promotional consideration. She holds
a bachelor of business administration degree with a focus in finance and accounting from Western Michigan
University. She is currently pursuing her master of accounting at the University of North Carolina
Greensboro.

Johnna Dodrill (58), Director of Facilities Services, joined the Obligor in 2015, and brings with
her 17 years of experience in construction after working for Clancy and Theys as a project superintendent.
Ms. Dodrill worked on various multifamily communities as well as North Carolina Aquariums at Fort
Fisher, Pine Knolls Shores and Manteo. Ms. Dodrill also was the superintendent over the construction of
Plantation Place area of the Community. She is also a trained facilitator in CPR and First Aid, OSHA 500
and LEED for new construction.
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Life Care Services (“LCS”)
General

Management of the Community has been performed by LCS since the Community’s opening in
1988 and is under contract with the Obligor. LCS’ responsibilities include: recruiting and employing the
Executive Director; supervising the licensing, equipping, and staffing of the Community; preparing
annual budgets; establishing and operating a system of financial controls for the Community, including
comparative analyses with other facilities; and overseeing the food service and quality accommodations
provided by the Community.

As the nation’s second largest operator of senior living communities, LCS serves more than 40,000
seniors in more than 140 communities. With nearly 50 years of service, LCS has developed expertise in
nearly every facet of senior living management. For more information, visit LCS’ website:
https://www.lcsnet.com/.

Below is a list of LCS managed communities in North Carolina and its neighboring states in
addition to the Community:

GA, Evans—Brandon Wilde GA, Savannah—The Marshes of Skidaway
Island
GA, Stone Mountain—Park Spring NC, Chapel Hill—The Cedars of Chapel Hill
NC, Charlotte—The Cypress of Charlotte NC, Durham—Croasdaile Village
NC, Greensboro—Whitestone NC, Greenville—Cypress Glen Retirement
Community
NC, Lumberton — Wesley Pines Retirement NC, Raleigh—Cypress of Raleigh
Community
SC, Greenville—Rolling Green Village SC, Hilton Head—Bayshore on Hilton Head
Island
SC, Hilton Head—The Cypress of Hilton Head TN, Brentwood—The Heritage at Brentwood
TN, Hendersonville—Clarendale at Indian Lake TN, Memphis—Heritage at Irene Woods
TN, Nashville—Clarendale at Bellevue Place VA, Fairfax—The Virginian
VA, Gainesville—Heritage Village Assisted VA, Virginia Beach—Atlantic Shores
Living and Memory Care

No manager of LCS (i) has been convicted of a felony or pleaded nolo contendere to a felony charge
or been held liable or enjoined in a civil action by final judgment for a felony or civil action involving fraud,
embezzlement, fraudulent conversion or misappropriation of property; or (ii) is subject to a currently
effective injunction or restrictive court order, or within the past five years has had any State or Federal
license or permit suspended or revoked as a result of an action brought by a governmental agency or
department, arising out of or relative to the business activity of health care, including actions affecting a
license to operate an assisted living facility, nursing home, retirement home, home for aged or facility
subject to Section 58-64, North Carolina General Statutes, or similar law in another state. LCS is not
financially responsible for any of the Obligor’s contractual obligations or other obligations, including the
Series 2021 Bonds. The Obligor retains the ultimate responsibility for hiring managers and monitoring the
operating costs, wages, salaries, expenses, fees, and overall fiscal viability of the Community.

LCS’ Senior Management

Joel Nelson is President and Chief Executive Officer of LCS. He is responsible for executing the
business strategy across all business lines in the LCS family of companies. He provides leadership and
direction for business growth, service excellence, and enhancing LCS’s stability and value among financial
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partners, property owners, and other stakeholders in the senior living field. Joel joined LCS in 1986 and
has held several executive roles. He is responsible for the oversight of serving more than 40,000 seniors in
more than 140 communities. Joel serves on the board of managers for Life Care Companies, on the board
of directors for LCS Holdings, and is a member of the Life Care Companies audit committee. He also serves
on the Hexagon (insurance captive) board of directors and is a trustee for LCS’s 401(k) benefits program.
Outside of the organization, Mr. Nelson serves as co-chair of Argentum’s public policy committee and sits
on the National Investment Center (NIC) operator advisory board. He is past chair and current board
member of ChildServe, Inc. and serves on the health services advisory board at Simpson College, Indianola,
Iowa. Mr. Nelson holds a bachelor’s degree in business management and health care administration from
Simpson College.

Diane Bridgewater is Executive Vice President and Secretary for LCS. Ms. Bridgewater directs
all financial aspects and operating infrastructure to ensure corporate, field and community team members
have the resources necessary to provide exceptional customer satisfaction to residents. She is responsible
for directing all financial and business operations in addition to overseeing LCS’s insurance business line,
information technology, compliance, regulatory and legal matters. In her executive leadership role, she
helps to drive strategy development and execution resulting in strong financial performance and growth.
She serves on the board of managers for Life Care Companies LLC; board of directors for LCS Holdings,
Inc.; audit committee for Life Care Companies LLC; 401K administrative committee, investment
committee and enterprise risk management committee. Outside the organization, Ms. Bridgewater is a
member of the Argentum — CFO Roundtable. In addition, she sits on Casey’s General Stores board, audit
committee and compensation committee. She is also a member of the board and audit committee at Guide
One Insurance. She holds bachelor’s degrees in accounting and French from the University of Northern
Towa.

Rick Exline is the Executive Vice President/Senior Managing Director of LCS. He leads a team of
highly skilled professionals dedicated to elevating senior living experience. With over four decades of
knowledge and expertise, Mr. Exline oversees the company’s life plan community management services,
national marketing and sales, and the health care group. Collaborating with the leadership team, he
identifies growth strategies that maximize market opportunities for single site, affiliated, and third-party
managed communities. Mr. Exline’s team developed and launched the next generation opportunity
platform for third-party managed life plan communities. This innovation transformed the regional
operations support model by relocating regional and corporate support staff. He serves on the board of
managers for Life Care Companies LLC; the board of directors for LCS Holdings, Inc.; and the executive
leadership and senior living management teams. Mr. Exline is also a trustee for the company’s 401(k)
benefits program. Outside the organization, he serves on the Simpson College board of trustees and is a
board member for Above & Beyond Cancer. He holds dual bachelor’s degrees in business administration
and health care leadership.

Jason Victor is Senior Vice President, Controller and Treasurer of LCS. He joined LCS in 2007.
In this role, he provides oversight and direction for the organization’s financial matters, ensuring its
consistent and efficient fiscal performance. Mr. Victor has responsibility for the organization’s corporate
accounting, corporate payroll, community payroll, treasury and tax departments. He oversees all aspects of
general accounting, cash management, billing and receivables, accounts payable, payroll, consolidations,
and financial reporting. In addition, he provides oversight and guidance related to audits, internal controls,
technical accounting, tax, and financial management systems. Also, he serves on Hexagon (insurance
captive) board of directors and is a trustee for the company’s frozen ESOP. He began his career in 1991
with Ernst & Young in Des Moines, and later worked 10 years for a Fortune 500 organization. Mr. Victor
holds a bachelor’s degree in accounting and is a Certified Public Accountant with an active license in the
State of lowa.
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Management Agreement with LCS

The Obligor and LCS have most recently entered into its most recent Management Agreement,
effective as of January 1, 2021 (the “Management Agreement”), pursuant to which the Obligor has engaged
LCS to manage, operate, and maintain the Community as agent of the Obligor. Under the Management
Agreement, LCS is responsible for recruiting and employing the Executive Director to manage the day-to-
day operations of the Community; supervising the licensing, equipping, and staffing of the Community;
preparing annual budgets; establishing and operating a system of financial controls for the Community
including comparative analyses with other facilities; and overseeing the food service and quality
accommodations provided by the Community. In addition, LCS is expected to facilitate the Obligor’s use
of the Life Care Services Leads Management System for relevant marketing efforts, provide training for
the Obligor’s marketing personnel, regularly monitor the occupancy level of the Community, make specific
recommendations with regard to marketing procedures and promotions, and arrange for a regular review of
the Community marketing program by LCS’s marketing specialists.

For services provided under the Management Agreement, the Obligor is obligated to pay LCS the
following fees:

° a monthly management fee of the greater of (a) $45,000 or (b) 3.6%, 3.7%, 3.8%, 3.9%,
and 4.0% of total gross operating revenue per month for fiscal years 2021, 2022, 2023,
2024, and 2025, respectively;

° a flat standard services fee to reimburse miscellaneous expenses incurred by LCS of 0.53%,
0.52%, 0.51%, 0.50%, and 0.49% of total gross operating revenue per month for fiscal
years 2021, 2022, 2023, 2024, and 2025, respectively, and

° an incentive fee of 0.90%, 0.80%, 0.70%, 0.60%, and 0.50% of total gross operating
revenue per month for fiscal years 2021, 2022, 2023, 2024, and 2025, respectively, if the
following criteria are met: (1) favorable responses to a resident satisfaction survey or an
employee engagement survey; (2) expense goal set forth in the Obligor’s budget is
achieved; (3) monthly occupancy goal set forth in the Obligor’s budget is achieved; and
(4) extraordinary performance by LCS for the Community as determined by a vote of the
Obligor’s Board of Directors.

The Management Agreement has a term of five years, unless sooner terminated. The Obligor can
terminate the Management Agreement for cause if LCS (1) breaches any material term of the Management
Agreement and such breach is not cured within sixty days’ of written notice of such breach from the
Obligor, (2) the Obligor sells the Community in which case the termination is effective sixty days after
delivery of notice of the sale to LCS, or (3) LCS files for receivership or bankruptcy which has not been
dismissed within thirty days of such filing. LCS can terminate the Management Agreement for cause if the
Obligor (1) fails to pay any amount due to LCS under the Management Agreement or fails to provide funds
to LCS to operate the Community and pay Community expenses and such breach is not cured within ten
days’ written notice, (2) fails to maintain insurance as required by the Management Agreement, (3)
materially breaches any other term of the Management Agreement and such breach is not cured within 60
days’ notice, or (4) files for receivership or bankruptcy which has not been dismissed within thirty days of
such filing. Additionally, both the Obligor and LCS can terminate the Management Agreement without
cause by giving six months’ written notice.

Resident Council

The Obligor’s administration assisted residents in establishing a Resident Council and its bylaws.
The residents annually elect a council of representatives (the “Resident Council”), which, in turn, forms
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committees in various areas of concern to inform administration. Monthly meetings are held to facilitate
communication among residents, administration, and the Board. The Resident Council has no formal role
in management/policy except insofar that certain members are members of the Board.

THE COMMUNITY
General

The Community is located on an approximately 56 acre campus in Wilmington, North Carolina. It
is 20 minutes from downtown Wilmington and is adjacent to low-density residential housing as well as two
Tom Fazio golf courses. The Community is located near the intracoastal waterway. The Existing
Community currently contains two Existing Independent Living Cottages, 66 Existing Independent Living
Duplexes, 48 Existing Independent Living Villas and 129 Existing Independent Living Apartments. The
Existing Community currently has more than 25,500 square feet of common space.

In addition to the primary intent of the Obligor, which is to assure the residents of continuing care
throughout their retirement years, the Community is designed to create an environment that will enrich the
lives of the people who live and work there. The design of the main commons facility provides areas for
dining and meetings without detracting from the homelike environment of the Community. The Community
also contains solarium lounges equipped with small libraries, personal laundry facilities, a main
lobby/lounge with fireplace, administrative offices, a main dining room overlooking Blue Heron Pond, a
private dining room, private storage, a resident care center, an arts and crafts room, a library, a beauty/barber
salon, and a large auditorium and a large patio area that overlooks Blue Heron Pond. Other common areas
include an indoor pool, exercise room, woodworking shop, outdoor areas for gardening, and nature
pathways.

The Obligor operates the Existing Community on the continuing care concept, which recognizes
the changing needs of the aged along a continuum from independent residence to increased dependence as
healthcare needs increase.

Entrance Fee and Monthly Fees

Under the terms of the resident’s residence and services agreement (a “Residency Agreement”),
residents pay an initial entrance fee (“Entrance Fee”) and monthly fees (“Monthly Fees”), in exchange for
the right to occupy a unit at the Existing Community and a comprehensive range of services. The current
Entrance Fees and Monthly Fees for the Existing Community are set forth below. Currently, there are
second person Entrance Fees and Monthly Fees for the Existing Independent Living Units.

Entrance Fee Plan Types

The Obligor currently offers three Entrance Fee plan types: (i) the 90% Percent Return of Capital™
Plan (the “90% Plan”), (ii) the 50% Percent Return of Capital Plan™ Plan (the “50% Plan”) and (iii) on a
limited basis, the Traditional Residency Agreement (the “Traditional Plan). Under the Residency
Agreement for the 90% Plan, the resident or resident’s estate will be eligible for a partial reimbursement of
up to 90% of the Entrance Fee. Under the Residency Agreement for the 50% Plan, the resident or resident’s
estate will be eligible for a partial reimbursement of up to 50% of the Entrance Fee. Under the Residency
Agreement for the Traditional Plan, the Entrance Fee paid by the resident will reduce at a rate of 2% per
month of occupancy (or portion thereof) and after 50 months of occupancy, no refund will be paid.
Reimbursements and refunds are paid only after receipt of the Entrance Fees paid by the new resident.
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The following table shows the refund type mix for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2017
through December 31, 2020 and for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2021.

Fiscal Year As of
September
Plan Type 2017 2018 2019 2020 30, 20210
90% Refundable 78 78 72 57 46
50% Refundable 178 184 190 183 154
Traditional 9 9 12 12 13

() Reflects the total number of primary residents, which excludes six residents who are currently depositors.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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The rate structure, effective January 1, 2021, for Entrance Fees and Monthly Fees by type of
Existing Independent Living Units is as follows:

Existing Independent Living Units
50% Return  90% Return
Traditional of Capital of Capital
Available Square  Plan Entrance Entrance Fee Entrance Fee Monthly

Independent Living Unit Type Units Footage Fee Plan Plan Fee
Apartments
Studio 4 521 $ 83,150 $105,450 $ 159,400 $ 2,810
One-Bedroom Units:
One Bedroom Traditional 36 721 105,050 133,300 201,900 3,113
One Bedroom Deluxe 21 856 123,750 156,350 236,350 3,406
One Bedroom Elmwood 3 917 n/a 228,500 291,600 3,413
One Bedroom Ashland 3 941-942 n/a 235,050 299,650 3,482
Two-Bedroom Units:
Two Bedroom Traditional 15 996 142,500 180,800 272,900 3,711
Two Bedroom Lakeside 17 1,023 150,700 193,050 290,600 3,812
Two Bedroom Combo 1 1,300 159,250 201,900 304,000 3,900
Two Bedroom Deluxe 6 1,250 159,500 204,100 307,350 4,006
Two Bedroom Classic 2 1,325 162,300 206,350 310,600 4,415
Two Bedroom Ingleside 4 1,180 n/a 272,450 348,100 3,719
Two Bedroom Oatland 2 1,256 n/a 279,050 356,200 3,838
Two Bedroom Orton 6 1,359 n/a 348,350 444,950 4,369
Two Bedroom Woodlawn 3 1,397 n/a 336,250 428,800 4,339
Two Bedroom Waverly 1 1,450 n/a 353,150 451,400 4,546
Two Bedroom Carlisle 3 1,488 n/a 373,650 477,300 4,575
Two Bedroom Covington 2 1,491 n/a 336,500 467,550 4,605
Total Apartments/wtd

Averages 129 960 $126,014 $191,329 $273,840 $3,582
Cottages/Homes/Villas:
Ashton Cottage 1 1,720 n/a $349,450 $482,000 $5,546
Baywater Cottage 1 1,690 n/a 337,350 470,000 5,417
Vista 4 1,260 196,650 251,950 380,000 4,784
Regency 4 1,375 205,950 263,950 398,950 4,795
Vista II 9 1,440 210,200 268,750 406,250 4,953
Regency 11 9 1,460 218,600 279,600 420,700 4,984
Royale 5 1,480 225,700 288,150 436,300 5,024
Grande 5 1,510 229,550 294,150 443,600 5,088
Royale II 13 1,620 241,100 308,600 465,350 5,248
Grande 11 13 1,690 245,900 314,650 473,700 5.343
Duplex A Meadowlark 2 1,720 n/a 343,300 476,050 5,546
Duplex B Meadowlark 2 1,690 n/a 331,300 464,000 5,417
Deluxe Villa 24 1,250 170,250 218,200 333,200 4,110
Custom/Traditional Villa 16 1,260-1,350 192,000 245,900 370,050 4,281-4,707
Villa Special 8 1,433 213,250 272,450 412,250 4,806

Total
Cottages/Homes/Villas/wtd
Averages 116 1,435 $208,553 $270,684 $407,010 $4,780
Total/wtd Averages 245 1,188 $168,841 $228,901 $336,892 $4,163



Rate Increases

The Board reviews Entrance Fee options annually, raising fees when appropriate for reasons
ranging from inflation to covering certain identifiable expenses necessary to successfully operate the
Community. Rate changes for Entrance Fees and Monthly Fees are typically established by the Board and
become effective annually. However, increases in Monthly Fees can be approved by the Board at any time
upon 60 days’ written notice to the residents and will be increased only if it necessary (i) to meet the
financial needs of the Community, (ii) to provide services to the residents, (iii) to maintain the premises
and residences, (iv) to maintain reserve funds required pursuant to financing or State statutory or regulatory
requirements and (v) for prudent management of the Obligor. The following table shows the average
changes in the Monthly Fee for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2017 through December 31, 2021. All
changes during this period occurred once per year on January 1, including Monthly Fees.

Average Entrance Fees Increases

2016-2017  2017-2018 2018-2019  2019-2020 2020-2021
One Occupant (§’s per $5,920 $4,873 $5,516 $7,551 $6,759
month)
Two Occupants ($’s per 0 0 0 0 0
month)
Approximate Percentage 2.97% 2.00% 2.40% 3.28% 2.90%
Increase
Average Monthly Fees Increases
2016-2017 2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020  2020-2021
One Occupant ($’s per
month) $103 $108 $122 $127 $121
Two Occupants ($’s per
month) 37 37 41 0 42
Approximate Percentage
Increase 2.85% 2.75% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%
Occupancy

The following table summarizes the average historical occupancy of the Existing Community in
number of units and average occupancy for Existing Independent Living Units for fiscal years ended
December 31, 2017 through December 31, 2020 and for the eight-month period ended August 31, 2021.

Fiscal Year As of
August 31,
Plan Type 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Number Occupied 229.0 232.0 231.9 226.3 216.3
Percentage Occupied 93.1% 94.3% 94.3% 92.1% 88.3%



Entrance Fee Turnover

The following table sets forth an Entrance Fee turnover analysis for the Existing Independent
Living Units for fiscal years ended December 31, 2017 through December 31, 2020 and for the eight-
month period ended August 31, 2021.

Fiscal Year

As of
August 31,

2017 2018 2019 2020° 2021°
Beginning Occupancy 228 230 228 231 220
Transfers 13 20 23 9 3
Death/Move Out 24 22 10 23 12
Move In 30 31 23 18 9
Entry Fees Received
(Net of Refunds) $3,514,888 $2,914,901 $2,716,669 $815,222 $476,311

* Entrance Fee turnover was affected by the COVID-19 pandemic during these periods. In addition, there have been fewer
full Entrance Fees paid as residents are moving within the Community and in anticipation of the full master plan as set forth
in “OTHER--Management Strategy, Future Plans” herein.

Payment of an Entrance Fee assures a resident a place in the Community for life and lifetime access
to Champions Assisted Living or the Davis Health Care Center (or in alternate facilities which the Obligor
may own or with which the Obligor may contract to provide these health care services) as long as the
resident complies with the Residency Agreement (see “HEALTH CARE” herein). Upon acceptance, the
resident will sign a Residency Agreement to reserve the residence selected and will pay an Entrance Fee
Deposit to the Community. The balance of the Entrance Fee will be paid upon the earlier of (i) occupancy
or (ii) 120 days after the Residency Agreement is executed by the resident.

Waitlist

Prospective residents who financially qualify to be a resident at the Community can deposit $10,000
to request a specific type of residence and be placed on a waitlist. When the requested type of residence
becomes available, the prospective resident is given first priority, after current residents on an internal
waitlist. They must decide within five business days whether they would like to reserve the specific type of
residence selected. If they decide to move in to the residence, the $10,000 deposit is credited to the Entrance
Fee Deposit. If they decide not to move in or the five business day period expires, the available room for
that unit type is offered to the next person on the waitlist. While on the waitlist, prospects are permitted 3
meals a month in the dining room, access to the wellness center, and can attend one Community event each
month, all subject to current COVID-19 restrictions. The Obligor currently has a waitlist of 26 people that
have each paid the $10,000 deposit.

Primary Market Area and Competition

Please see Appendix C hereto regarding the Community’s primary market area and its competition.



HEALTH CARE
General

The Obligor does not currently provide assisted living or health care services at the Community.
The Obligor currently contracts with the HC Provider pursuant to the Transfer Agreement for the provision
of such services to the Community’s residents. Under the Transfer Agreement, the Obligor does have the
right to use other facilities for health care services but it doesn’t do so presently. In the event the Transfer
Agreement were terminated the Obligor would contract with another community or explore options to
obtain the necessary licenses to provide such services to the Community. The description below describes
the provision of assisted living and health care services with the Davis Community. Ifthe Obligor contracts
with another facility in the future there is no guarantee such terms would be the same.

Transfer Agreement

Pursuant to a Nursing Care Agreement entered into on October 3, 1984, as amended and restated
by a Restated Nursing Care Agreement, dated March 14, 1986 (as further amended from time to time, the
“Transfer Agreement”), between the Obligor and the HC Provider, the HC Provider provides priority access
to a private one-bedroom suite in the case of assisted living or a semi-private nursing bed in the case of
skilled nursing. Additional fees for other services will be the responsibility of the residents. When
appropriate, the HC Provider will look to Medicare, third party insurance, resident and Obligor to satisfy
uncovered charges.

The HC Provider permanently reserves one semi-private bed in the Davis Health Care Center for
Community residents. With regard to the Davis Health Care Center, fees will be paid by the Obligor for
room, board and nursing care at standard published rates for the unoccupied private room, but charges will
not be made if the room is unavailable. If occupancy at the Davis Health Care Center is below 95%, the
Obligor is only charged 50% of the bed hold rate. In addition, Community residents have wait-list priority
at Champions Assisted Living for suite choice, suite upgrades, and special care units, secondary to existing
Champions Assisted Living residents.

Pursuant to the Residency Agreement, if no beds are available at the Davis Community, the Obligor
will provide access to an alternate skilled nursing facility (in a semi-private room, unless a private room is
medically necessary) or assisted living facility (in a private suite, unless a semi-private suite is requested),
as applicable, of the Obligor’s choice. The Obligor is responsible for charges associated with the alternate
accommodations to the extent the Obligor would have been responsible for the resident’s care and
accommodations at the Davis Community (i.e. the Health Care Benefit). If the resident decides to go to a
different alternate facility than the one the Obligor selects, there is no obligation to the Obligor for such
charges. The resident must relocate to the Davis Community once a unit becomes available. Community
residents will continue to be responsible for Monthly Fees until their unit is vacated.

At this time, the Transfer Agreement shall continue as an open-ended contract subject to
termination by either party with three years written notification of such termination. The Transfer
Agreement may be terminated upon mutual agreement of the parties effective 180 days after the mailing of
written notice of such termination.

Health Care Benefit

A resident may be temporarily or permanently assigned to an assisted living bed or skilled nursing
bed at the Davis Community if the resident is determined to need such care. See “Transfer Agreement”
above for more information on the transfer of residents to the Davis Community. Accommodations at the
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Davis Community may be a private one-bedroom suite in the case of assisted living or a semi-private
nursing bed in the case of skilled nursing. If the resident wishes to occupy a larger suite, the resident is
assessed the incremental fee for the larger unit. The Obligor covers the charges for temporary assisted living
or nursing care for up to 30 calendar days for each resident each fiscal year (the “Health Care Benefit”). If
there are two residents under the Residency Agreement, the Community allows the residents to combine
the Health Care Benefit to be used by only one resident. During such time, the resident continues to pay the
Monthly Fee for their residence at the Community (first and second person as applicable), pays the charges
for additional meals per day not covered by the Monthly Fee, and pays the charges for any additional
services and supplies incurred by the resident. Any unused Health Care Benefit days are not carried over
to the next year. If the resident utilizes more than the Health Care Benefit during a temporary stay, then
they are responsible for paying the full daily rate charged by the Davis Community, as well as the Monthly
Fee for their residence at the Community (first and second person as applicable) and the charges for any
additional services and supplies incurred by the Resident.

If a resident is permanently assigned to the Davis Community, or another contracted facility, the
resident no longer qualifies for the Health Care Benefit and they are required to vacate and release their
residence at the Community. The Monthly Fee continues until removal of the resident’s personal property
from the residence. Typically, a resident is considered permanently assigned to assisted living after 30
consecutive days of care and to skilled nursing after 90 consecutive days of care. However, a resident may
be considered permanently assigned prior to those time frames if the Obligor determines that long-term
care is needed.

Once the resident is permanently assigned to the Davis Community the resident pays a monthly or
a per diem charge to the Obligor in lieu of the Monthly Fee, in an amount equal to 75% of the monthly or
daily semi-private pay rate then being charged by the Davis Community (the “HC Charge”). The Obligor
is obligated to pay such fees to the HC Provider and the resident is then obligated to pay such fees to the
Obligor.

In the case of couples, if only one resident requires permanent care at the Davis Community, the
other resident would continue to occupy the residence at the Community under the terms of the Residency
Agreement and pay the first person Monthly Fee. The resident at the Davis Community, would pay the
Obligor the HC Charge, plus the charges for any additional services and supplies. If the resident in the
Community residence dies, the resident at the Davis Community will pay the Obligor the HC Charge, as
well as the first person Monthly Fee for the residence until the removal of the personal property from the
residence and from any storage unit. If both residents are permanently assigned to the Davis Community,
they will each pay the Obligor the HC Charge and are required to vacate and release their residence at the
Community.

Resident Care Center

The Community provides health services in the “Resident Care Center,” which is staffed by a
licensed nurse 24-hours a day, seven days a week. The Resident Care Center is utilized to respond to
resident's emergency calls and to provide temporary nursing care and outpatient services. Outpatient
services are provided by a nurse during regularly scheduled office hours. The nurse is available for routine
consultations and checks of weight, blood pressure or other preventive care services. Some routine
outpatient services are included in the Monthly Fee; provided, however, special services such as injections
and medication management are governed by State regulations and are subject to an additional charge.
Delivery service from several pharmacies to the Resident Care Center is provided for the residents'
convenience. Other Resident Care Center services are available for an extra charge.



The Davis Community

The HC Provider owns and operates the Davis Center, which is adjacent to the Community’s
campus. The Davis Community has an 123 bed assisted living component called “Champions Assisted
Living” and a 179 bed skilled nursing component called the “Davis Health Care Center.” The first Davis
Health Care Center opened in 1966 and the Champions Assisted Living was completed in 2000.
Construction began in 2012, to completely renovate the Davis Health Care Center to ten households where
residents and staff operate as a family unit. Two of such freestanding houses opened in 2013 and the
remainder in 2015 (including two dedicated to short-term rehabilitation). Each house has a unique décor,
working fireplaces, courtyards, dining room, living room and family room spaces. In addition, in 2010, a
rehabilitation and wellness pavilion was added to provide seniors with a state-of-the-art fitness center,
outpatient therapies and short-term inpatient care.

When residents are permanently transferred to the Davis Community, the Obligor pays
100% of the such fees to the HC Provider and the resident then reimburses the Obligor 75% of such
fees.

The following table sets forth the rate increases at the Davis Community for the years ended
September 30, 2017 through 2022 (such rate increases become effective on October 1).

Fiscal Year
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Champions AL 8.0% 3.0% 3.5% 3.5% 3.0% 5.0%
Davis SNF 6.0% 3.0% 3.5% 3.5% 3.1% 5.0%

The following table sets forth the historical average assisted living beds and skilled nursing beds
utilized by Obligor residents for the December 31, 2017 through December 31, 2020 and the actual
utilization at August 31, 2021.

Fiscal Year

As of
August 31,
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021°
Assisted Living Beds 17.0 23.3 28.8 25.6 22.0
Skilled Nursing Beds 21.5 19.5 17.4 14.2 9.3
Total 38.5 42.8 46.2 39.8 31.3

ADMISSIONS AND RESIDENCY AGREEMENT PROVISIONS
Admissions Criteria

To be eligible for admission at the Community, prospective residents must (1) be at least 62 years
old (in the case of double occupancy, at least one of the prospective residents must be at least 62 years old)
at the time of execution of the Residency Agreement, (2) meet certain health qualifications to live
independently at the Community (with or without reasonable accommodation or reasonable modification),
and (3) have sufficient financial resources to pay the Entrance Fee, Monthly Fees, and any extra charges
incurred under the Residency Agreement.

To determine a prospective resident’s health qualifications to live independently in a residence,
applicants will provide their insurance and health information by completing a Confidential Data
Application and Resident Health Information Form. The applicant will also undergo a memory health
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assessment, which is administered by the Obligor, and a confidential history and health examination, which
is completed by the prospective resident’s physician.

Evaluation of a resident’s ability to meet their financial obligations under the Residency Agreement
is dependent upon two factors — net worth and average monthly income. Generally, a prospective resident
should have a minimum net worth equal to two times the amount of the Entrance Fee (prior to payment of
the Entrance Fee) and a minimum monthly income range of one and one-half to two times the Monthly Fee
(including second person fees when applicable) in effect at the time of residence. The stability and certainty
of continued income are also a factor in the evaluation process.

Reservation Agreement; Entrance Fee Deposit

As part of their application and to reserve residence, a prospective resident must execute a
reservation agreement (the “Reservation Agreement”), disclose their finances, and place a deposit equal to
10% of the Entrance Fee (the “Entrance Fee Deposit”) on the selected residence. The remaining 90% of the
Entrance Fee is due upon the earlier of (i) the date of occupancy (the “Occupancy Date™) or (ii) 120 days
after the Residency Agreement is executed by the resident. The Reservation Agreement reserves the right
of the prospective resident to choose their residence and indicate their intent to execute the Residency
Agreement.

Residency Agreement

Upon meeting the admissions criteria and being accepted as a resident of the Community, the
Obligor enters into a Residency Agreement with each resident. The Residency Agreement indicates which
unit is reserved by the applicable resident and the amount of the Entrance Fee to be paid. When the resident
pays the Entrance Fee and the ongoing Monthly Fees, the resident is entitled to occupy their assigned unit
and to receive certain services and amenities, including:

One full meal per day in the dining room or delivery service of lunch or dinner;

Weekly housekeeping and flat linen service;

Utilities, including air conditioning, heating, electricity, water, sewer, and trash disposal;
Cable television, local and long-distance telephone service, and internet access;
Building and grounds maintenance;

Scheduled local transportation;

24-hour security and emergency response system;

Storage;

Planned social, educational, cultural, spiritual, and recreational activities;

Use of the common areas; and

Up to 30 annual days of care at the Davis Community or comparable healthcare facility.
See “HEALTH CARE” herein for more information.

Certain services are available to residents for an additional charge. These services include, but are
not limited to additional meals (including guest meals), guest accommodations, beauty/barber shop
services, personal laundry service, additional outpatient services and special services, and extended home
care services.

Payment of Monthly Fee

Residents are required to pay a Monthly Fee to the Obligor. A pro rata portion of the first month’s
Monthly Fee is required to be paid on or before the Occupancy Date or within 120 days of the date the
resident executes the Residency Agreement. Thereafter, the resident must pay the Monthly Fee by the fifth
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business day of each month. Monthly Fees are intended to be used to fund all on-going costs of operating
the Community.

The Monthly Fee is stated in the Residency Agreement at the time the Residency Agreement is
executed. Total Monthly Fees are higher when a second person shares a residence with the resident. The
Monthly Fee may be changed upon 60 days' written notice to the residents and will be increased only if
necessary (1) to meet the financial needs of the Obligor, (2) to provide services to the residents, (3) to
maintain the premises and residences, (4) to maintain reserve funds required pursuant to a financing or State
statutory or regulatory requirements, and (5) for prudent management of the Community.

Financial Assistance

If a resident encounters financial difficulties after becoming a resident and is unable to pay the
Monthly Fee, the Monthly Fee may be reduced or deferred based on the resident’s ability to pay. The
resident will be permitted to remain at the Community if this does not impair the Obligor’s ability to operate
the Community on a sound financial basis. Financial assistance is not available to the resident if the resident
has impaired their ability to meet their financial obligations by making unapproved gifts or other transfers
or by not maintaining adequate insurance coverage. If the resident needs assisted living or nursing care
after experiencing financial difficulty, the resident will receive such care in an assisted living or health care
enter as appropriate. The resident is required to apply for any public assistance programs to receive financial
assistance. In fiscal years 2019 and 2020, the Obligor provided financial assistance in the aggregate
amounts of $205,056 and $239,923, respectively.

Provisions for New Second Resident; Resident Marrying

If a resident chooses to share occupancy of their residence with a person who is not already a
resident of the Community, the non-resident occupant may become a resident if they meet all the Obligor’s
requirements for admission, enter into a Residency Agreement with the Obligor, and pay an Entrance Fee
equal to the then-current second person Entrance Fee. The resident and the non-resident occupant will pay
the second person Monthly Fee. If the non-resident occupant does not meet the Obligor’s requirements for
admission as a resident, they will not be permitted to occupy the residence for more than 30 days (except
with the Obligor’s written approval) and the resident may terminate the Residency Agreement as provided
below, or the non-resident occupant may be approved for admission under special circumstances as agreed
to in writing by the Obligor and the resident.

Should a resident marry a non-resident, the non-resident spouse’s acceptance will be in accordance
with the Obligor’s residency policy governing all other admissions. A second person Entrance Fee will be
paid upon residency and a second person Monthly Fee will be paid. If the resident's spouse does not meet
the residency requirements, they will not be permitted to occupy the residence for more than 30 days (except
with the Obligor’s express written approval), and the resident may cancel the Residency Agreement. Should
the resident marry a person who is also a resident of the Community and should they decide to occupy one
residence, they must declare which residence will be occupied and which residence will be released (or
they may choose to release both of their residences and occupy a new residence). The Entrance Fees paid
by the residents may or may not be adjusted, depending on the residences occupied and released. The
Monthly Fee will be adjusted to the then-current first and second person Monthly Fee in effect for the
occupied residence.

Cancellation of Residency Agreement and Entrance Fee Refunds

The following sets forth the manner in which Residency Agreements may be cancelled and
Entrance Fees refunded to residents.



Resident’s Cancellation Before Occupancy,; Right of Rescission. Under North Carolina law, a
resident has the right to rescind the Residency Agreement within 30 days (the “Rescission Period”)
following the later of (i) their execution of the Residency Agreement; or (ii) the receipt of a disclosure
statement that meets the requirements of N.C.G.S. § 58-64-20. The resident may, but is not required to,
move into the Community before the expiration of the 30-day rescission period.

The Entrance Fee Deposit is refundable before occupancy if (i) the resident is not accepted for
residency, (ii) the resident provides written notice of rescission as set forth above within 30 days, (iii) the
resident becomes unable to occupy their residence due to change of condition, such as death, illness, injury
or incapacity, or (iv) resident elects to cancel the Residency Agreement because of a substantial change in
the resident's physical, mental or financial condition. The Obligor will refund all amounts paid by the
resident, without interest, less those costs incurred by the Obligor pursuant to resident's written request,
within 60 days following cancellation.

The resident may also terminate a Residency Agreement after the Rescission Period and prior to
the Occupancy Date upon 30 days’ written notice to the Obligor. In such event, the resident will receive a
refund of all amounts paid, less a non- refundable fee equal to $2,500, which will be reduced from the
Entrance Fee refund, and less costs incurred by the Obligor pursuant to resident's written request, within 60
days following the receipt of written notice of such termination.

Resident’s Cancellation After Occupancy. After moving into the Community, the resident may
cancel a Residency Agreement at any time by giving the Obligor 120 days' written notice. If the Residency
Agreement is cancelled after occupancy, or if the resident dies, the resident or resident's estate will receive
a refund based on the type of Residency Agreement the resident selected. If the resident entered into the
90% Plan or the 50% Plan, the Obligor will refund 90% and 50% of the Entrance Fee, respectively. If the
resident selected the Traditional Plan, the amount of the Entrance Fee eligible to be refunded to the resident
is reduced by 2% per month of occupancy (or portion thereof). After 50 months of occupancy under the
Traditional Plan, the Entrance Fee is no longer refundable.

Refunds, if any, are paid within 30 days following the date the residence is reoccupied by a new
resident and upon the Obligor’s receipt of the proceeds of the full Entrance Fee paid by the new resident.
The Entrance Fee refund is reduced by any fees or charges owed to the Obligor under the Residency
Agreement. All second person Entrance Fees are nonrefundable.

Obligor’s Cancellation. The Obligor may only cancel a Residency Agreement after it has been
executed for just cause: (1) the resident does not comply with the terms of the Residency Agreement or the
published operating procedures, covenants rules, regulations, and policies for residents of the Community,
(2) nonpayment of fees, (3) the resident's health status or behavior constitutes a substantial threat to the
health or safety of the resident, other residents, and others, or would result in physical damage to the
property of others or the Obligor, or (4) there is a major change in the resident's physical or mental
condition, and said condition cannot be cared for in the Davis Community (or alternate facilities) within
the limits of its licenses.

Before canceling a Residency Agreement, the Obligor must provide the resident with written notice
of the reasons for the cancellation and give the resident 30 days to correct the problem. However, if it is
determined that the 30 day waiting period is detrimental to the resident or other residents or staff of the
Obligor, the waiting period is not required. If the Obligor cancels the Residency Agreement for just cause,
the resident is entitled to receive a refund of a portion of the Entrance Fee as described in “Cancellation of
Residency Agreement and Entrance Fee Refunds — Resident’s Cancellation After Occupancy” above.



THE PROJECT
Project Summary

The Obligor wishes to position the Community for growth and ongoing service to its senior-aged
residents and the surrounding community by renewing, renovating, and expanding its existing structures
and by creating new independent living units and infrastructure. The Project is expected to improve and
modernize common gathering spaces and dining areas.

The Obligor will use a portion of the proceeds of the 2021 A Bonds and the 2021B Bonds to finance,
or reimburse the costs of, improvements to the Community including, but not limited to, (a) the renovation
and expansion of the Obligor’s existing community building, including the addition of amenities such as
new indoor and outdoor dining areas, a game room, a meeting room, a cinema, and an arts studio, and
improvements to the existing auditorium, (b) the relocation of the existing maintenance building and
construction of a new maintenance building/area for storage, (c¢) the construction of new outdoor amenities
including a dog park, community gardens, walking paths, and a restructured pond, (d) the construction,
furnishing and equipping of approximately 44 new independent living apartment units (the ‘“Project
Independent Living Apartments”) to be located in four apartment buildings, (e) upgrading informational
technology systems throughout the Community and (f) other associated site work and development
(collectively, the “Project”). The Project will position the Community to attract new residents with a wide
range of income providing distinct offerings for seniors.

Upon completion of the Project, the Community is expected to include 290 total independent living
units, consisting of 2 cottages, 66 duplex homes, 48 villas, and 174 apartments, together with common
facilities that serve the entire Community. The following table highlights the number of units by type of
unit at the Community before and after completion of the Project:

Mix Upon
Unit Type Current Mix Added Completion
Cottages 2 0 2
Duplex Homes 66 0 66
Villas 48 0 48
Apartments 129 44 173
Total 245 44 289

Project Timeline

The following table illustrates the anticipated timeline for construction completion and fill-up of
the Project.

Anticipated Project Timeline

Obtain permanent financing December 2021

Construction commences on the Project December 2021

?rOJect Indepe(rll)dent Living Apartments available December 2022
or occupancy

Project Independent Living Apartments expected November 2023

to achieve stabilized occupancy of 93%

( The New Independent Living Units are to be available in phases beginning in December 2022 through April 2023.
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The Project Manager

General. The Obligor entered into a Development Agreement (the “LCS Development
Agreement”) with LCS Development, LLC (“LCS Development”) effective July 25, 2019 pursuant to
which LCS Development was engaged to provide development consulting services during the planning and
development of the Project and to provide support for the marketing of the Project Independent Living
Apartments. LCS Development specializes in providing planning, development, marketing, management
and strategic consulting services related to all areas critical to the senior housing and services business.
Pursuant to the terms of the LCS Development Agreement, LCS Development is responsible for planning
and development, assisting with obtaining financing for the Project, providing marketing and sales support
for initial occupancy development efforts, arranging for and overseeing design and construction services,
and handling certain bookkeeping functions. LCS Development will also train and supervise the marketing
and sales staff for the Project. See “LCS Development Agreement” below.

LCS Development Experience. LCS Development is a privately-owned limited liability company
organized and existing under the laws of the State of lowa. LCS Development started in 1971 as a subsidiary
of a Des Moines, lowa-based general contractor, The Weitz Company, and is one of six companies
comprising the LCS family. LCS Development provides services for the development, expansion and
repositioning of life plan communities (CCRCs) and other senior living communities.

LCS Development provides services for every phase of senior living development: planning,
design, sales and construction. LCS Development helps build community occupancy, drive presales and
conversion sales, manage buyer retention, assist with resident move-in, and develop marketing and sales
budgets. Specifically, LCS Development provides the following services to its clients: market research;
new development site selection and planning; team-building and planning; financial feasibility and
modeling; analysis of financing alternatives; program development; long-range planning; construction
management; design management; construction management site planning; comprehensive management of
the development process; master planning services; occupancy development; and redevelopment.

A representative list of retirement communities for which LCS Development has provided
development consulting services over the past three years includes the following:

Community Location Community Location
Green Hills Retirement

Arbol Santa Rosa, CA Community Ames, IA
Atlantic Shores Virginia Beach, VA Greenwood Village South Greenwood, IN
Blakehurst Towson, MD Heritage at Brentwood Brentwood, TN
Blakehurst | Mission Jewish Fed of South Palm

Helpers Towson, MD Beach County Boca Raton, FL
Broadview Purchase, NY Lake Park Oakland, CA
Burcham Hills Lansing, MI Lake Port Square Leesburg, FL
Capital Manor Salem, OR Laurel Circle Bridgewater, NJ
Casa de Las Campanas San Diego, CA Marquette Indianapolis, IN
Clare, The Chicago, IL Monarch Landing Naperville, IL
Croasdaile Durham, NC Plantation Village Wilmington, NC
Cypress Glen Greenville, NC Regency Oaks Clearwater, FL

Dallas Retirement Village
Delaney - Bridgewater
Delaney - Green

Delaney — Vale

Eastcastle Place

Embassy Manor

Dallas, OR
Bridgewater, NJ
Florham Park, NJ
Woburn, MA
Milwaukee, WI

Edison, NJ

RMR | Diversified
Healthcare Trust

Rolling Green Village

Sagewood

Sedgebrook

Sierra Winds

Sinai Residences — Boca
Raton
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Delaware
Greenville, SC
Phoenix, AZ
Lincolnshire, IL
Peoria, AZ

Boca Raton, FL



Community Location Community Location

Forum of Rancho San

Antonio Cupertino, CA Trillium Woods Plymouth, NC
Freedom Plaza Sun City Center, FL Village at Gleannloch Farms  Spring, TX
Freedom Point at the Wesley Pines Retirement

Villages The Villages, FL Community Lumberton, SC
Friendship Village —

Kalamazoo Kalamazoo, MI Westminster Austin, TX
Friendship Village - Tempe  Tempe, AZ Whitestone Greensboro, NC
Galleria Woods Birmingham, AL Wyndemere Wheaton, IL
Glenview Naples, FL

Leadership. Nick Herrick is a Director of Development at LCS Development. In his role at LCS
Development, Mr. Herrick is responsible for creating and executing on master plans designed to drive
revenue through increased occupancy for senior living communities. As director of development, he works
closely with market researchers, architects, regulatory officials, sponsoring boards, attorneys, lenders,
interior design firms, construction companies and operations management to identify community needs that
enrich the resident experience. By leading a team of project managers to oversee every detail in the
development process, Mr. Herrick has successfully collaborated with many senior living community
owners to create new and exciting spaces for residents to enjoy. Under his leadership, LCS Development
received the Senior Housing News Architecture and Design Award for best Renovation/Repositioning. Mr.
Herrick holds a bachelor’s degree in construction management and a minor in real estate from the University
of Northern lowa. He served on the LCS United Way Committee for three years and is involved in his
community’s youth sports programs.

Lucas Schall is a Project Development Manager with LCS and is responsible for full project
oversight of assigned projects. His responsibilities include oversight from project inception through
construction completion and occupancy, including working with market research, finance, design, sales,
operations, and construction teams. He has over 15 years in development and project management, with the
last 5 years focused on senior living. He has successfully completed multiple senior living projects on
schedule and under-budget. Mr. Schall graduated from Brown College in the Twin Cities with degrees in
broadcasting and communications before finding a path in development and project management.

Joel Bleeker is the VP/Director of Design for LCS Development and has been with LCS
Development since 1991. Mr. Bleeker, who has nearly 35 years of design experience, is a licensed architect
with undergraduate degrees and an masters in business administration from lowa State University. He
currently leads the design management group within LCS Development, where his team sets standards for
project design criteria, directs the design process of each project, and oversees the individual project designs
and performance of the design teams and more. During his time with the company, he has been involved
with master planning and or/repositioning projects at more than 30 communities as well as more than a
dozen green-field continuing care retirement communities across the nation.

Jason Reis is a Senior Design Manager for LCS Development. Mr. Reis has over 20 years of
professional experience in architecture and is responsible for managing the design activities for
development projects across the country ensuring an aesthetically pleasing design while maintaining
optimum functionality that supports operational goals and objectives. He works closely to assist with design
programming, scheduling the entire design process, and maintaining the design within the established
budget. He graduated with a bachelor of architecture degree from Iowa State University. He is an active
member of American Institute of Architects and has his Architectural Registration in the State of lowa.

Rob Lang is a Finance Manager for LCS Development. He is responsible for financial oversight
of LCS Development. Mr. Lang’s focus areas include budgeting, reporting, forecasting, and analysis. He
also partners with project development managers and leadership to aid in business decisions of LCS
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Development. He has 5 years of experience with LCS, with roles focusing on financial planning and
analysis. Mr. Lang graduated with a bachelor of science in accounting & finance from Bethel University in
St. Paul, MN. He is currently pursuing his masters in business administration from the University of lowa.

LCS Development Agreement. The LCS Development Agreement calls for LCS Development to
provide the following services, among others: (a) all necessary planning to implement the development
plan approved by the Obligor, including any revisions thereto; (b) preparation of detailed budgets for each
phase of development activity, which are to be submitted for approval by Obligor; (c) assistance in
obtaining all necessary governmental approvals required for the development and construction of the
Project; (d) assistance with selection of design consultants and a pre-construction consultant, and
coordination of submission of plans and specifications to the Obligor for Obligor’s approval;
(e) development and supervision of the marketing plan for the Project to prospective independent living
residents; (f) assistance in securing permanent financing for the Project; (g) assistance in overseeing and
coordinating the work of contractors in connection with the architectural and construction program for the
Project; (h) overseeing the design, procurement, and installation of furniture, fixtures, and equipment, and
(i) preparation of monthly cost reports.

As compensation for development consulting services rendered pursuant to the LCS Development
Agreement, the Obligor will pay LCS Development a development fee (the “Development Fee”) equal to
4.25% of the capital costs associated with the Project incurred by the Obligor, including financing costs,
currently estimated to be approximately $2,311,000. The Development Fee will be paid in installments
upon achievement of various project milestones (see page C-16 in Appendix C regarding project milestone
payments).

The Architect

The Obligor has engaged CIMW Architecture, PA (“CIMW?) as the architect for the Project. The
firm is the successor to a continuous series of partnerships dating back to 1906. Currently a 40+ person
architecture and interior design firm with offices in North Carolina and Virginia, CJMW is directed by 8
principals, several of whom have led the firm for more than 30 years. Designing for senior living
organizations has been a key focus for over 40 years, and CJMW has received national recognition for the
quality of its design work for the elderly from key groups such as SAGE (Society for the Advancement of
Gerontological Environments), LeadingAge, and the AIA. Prior projects have included continuing care
retirement communities, independent living units, nursing care units, assisted living units, and special care
units for Alzheimer’s care. In addition, CIMW’s expertise includes design for healthcare, hospitality,
cultural and corporate clients.

A representative list of the CIMW’s senior housing projects in North Carolina includes the
following:

e Aldersgate, Charlotte, North Carolina e River Landing, High Point, North Carolina

e The Cedars of Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, North e St. Joseph of the Pines, Southern Pines, North
Carolina Carolina

e Covenant Village, Gastonia, North Carolina e Salemtowne Retirement Community, Winston-

e The Forest at Duke, Durham, North Carolina Salem, North Carolina

e Galloway Ridge at Fearrington, Pittsboro, North e Village at Brookwood, Burlington, North Carolina
Carolina o Well Spring A Life Plan Community, Greensboro,

e Glenaire, Cary, North Carolina North Carolina

e Penick Village, Southern Pines, North Carolina e  WhiteStone, Greensboro, North Carolina
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The Construction Manager and Construction Agreement

Construction Manager. Frank L. Blum Construction Company (“Blum”) has been engaged to
provide pre-construction services for the Project. Headquartered in Winston-Salem, North Carolina, Blum
will have primary responsibility for pre-construction services, including estimating, scheduling analysis,
and design constructability reviews. Incorporated in 1923, Blum provides construction management “at
risk,” general contracting, pre-construction and design-build services to clients in the athletic facilities,
biotechnology and research facilities, financial institutions, healthcare facilities, K-12 and higher education,
hospitality, manufacturing, mission critical data centers/power plants, multi-family, museum, galleries and
performing arts, not-for-profits, corporate, religious facilities, and senior living community markets.

A representative list of Blum’s senior housing projects in North Carolina includes the following:

Aldersgate, Charlotte, North Carolina e Givens Highland Farms, Black Mountain, North
Arbor Acres, Winston-Salem, North Carolina Carolina

Brookridge, Winston-Salem, North Carolina Glenaire, Cary, North Carolina

Carolina Village, Hendersonville, North Carolina Penick Village, Southern Pines, North Carolina
Croasdaile Village, Durham, North Carolina River Landing, Colfax, North Carolina

Cross Road, Asheboro, North Carolina Salemtowne, Winston-Salem, North Carolina
Covenant Village, Gastonia, North Carolina WhiteStone, Greensboro, North Carolina

Givens Estates, Asheville, North Carolina

Construction Agreement. The Obligor and Blum have entered into a Standard Form of Agreement
Between Owner and Construction Manager as Constructor where the basis of payment is the Cost of Work
Plus a Fee with a Guaranteed Maximum Price, dated April 3, 2020 with a Guaranteed Maximum Price
Amendment, dated October 20, 2021 (as amended to date, the “Construction Contract”) establishing a
Guaranteed Maximum Price of $37,982,643 (the “Guaranteed Maximum Price””) which includes a 1%
construction contingency. The Construction Agreement provides for construction to commence on
December 6, 2021 and for a different substantial completion date for each component of the Project (each
a “Substantial Completion Date”) as set forth in the table below. Blum is liable for liquidated damages that
vary for each component of the Project commencing 31 days after the respective Substantial Completion
Date until the date of actual completion in the amounts forth in the table below. In addition, at closing,
Blum will provide a payment and performance bond in the full amount of the Guaranteed Maximum Price
from Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America.

Portion of Work Substantial Completion Date Liquidated Damages (per diem)
Maintenance/Hobby Building August 2, 2022 N/A
Apartment Building A November 30, 2022 $909.80
Apartment Building B-3 March 21, 2023 $1,364.69
Apartment Building B-2 March 28, 2023 $1,364.69
Apartment Building B-1 March 30, 2023 $1,364.69
Community Building Renovation May 2, 2023 $1,300.00
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The Construction Monitor

The construction consulting firm of Alcala Construction Management, Inc. (“ALCALA CM”), a
full-service national construction consulting company founded in 2007 that specializes in the senior living
industry, has been selected and retained by the Corporation to review construction progress, quality, and
contractor requisition requests on a monthly basis for the Project during the construction period. In
addition, ALCALA CM has provided the pre-construction consulting services described in the next
paragraph. ALCALA CM has developed the unique and proprietary, industry-specific due-diligence,
construction consulting and facility assessment services to fulfill financial institutions’ requirements for
start-up, expansion and renovation projects.

Prior to construction, ALCALA CM’s responsibilities included conducting a review of the scope,
including engineering designs, project budgets, drawings, specifications, permits, construction contracts
and fees, and issuing a Pre-Construction Document Review Report.

During the construction process, ALCALA CM will be responsible for the following actions in
connection with the construction of the Project: (i) reviewing and certifying all disbursement requests for
the payment of expenses incurred for work, labor, materials and equipment furnished by or on behalf of the
Construction Manager under the Construction Contract; and (i) monitoring such items as change orders,
budget amendments, updates to the construction schedule, releases of liens, governmental approvals and
the final as-built survey.

Regulatory Permits and Approvals

The Obligor has received all approvals and permits necessary for the Obligor to construct the
Project.

COVID-19 PANDEMIC
The Community

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the highly contagious respiratory
disease named “coronavirus disease 2019” (“COVID-19”) to be a pandemic, and on March 13, 2020, a
national emergency was declared in the United States. From the time when COVID-19 was first identified
in the United States, the Obligor has proactively worked to ensure that all residents and employees at the
Community were protected against COVID-19.

Below is a list of several of the precautions taken at the Community:

e Closed the Community to visitors in the beginning of the crisis and set up no-contact visitation
stations for visitors

e Shut down the dining room and delivered meals daily

e Implemented a screening checkpoint for all vehicles entering the Community (associates,
visitors, vendors and residents). The Community now has advanced entry biometric screening
for all associates and vendors

¢ Installed no-touch wall thermometers at every entrance for residents to self-screen

e Streamed exercise and meditation classes on the Community’s inhouse TV channel along with
streaming weekly call-in bingo

e Set up virtual classes, tours, doctor visits and video calls with family for residents

e Held a vaccine clinic for residents, associates and vendors in February and March and
vaccinated 99.5% of residents
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e Opened a market within the Community to limit the need for residents to leave the Community
for certain essential goods

¢ Installed needlepoint bipolar ionization units on all common area HVAC units

o Installed touchless faucets and door openers in common areas

e Followed all CDC and state/local guidelines in regards to masks, capacities, quarantines,
distancing etc.

e Mandated that all associates have their first dose of the COVID-19 vaccine by October 15,
2021 and be fully vaccinated or receive an approved exemption by November 15, 2021. As of
October 26, 2021, all associates have received their first dose of the vaccine except for three
approved exemptions.

The Obligor obtained funds under the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) from a participating
bank created under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”), as
amended by the Paycheck Protection Program Flexibility Act of 2020 (the “Flexibility Act”). The PPP, a
loan program administered by the Small Business Administration, provides loans to qualifying businesses
for the resources they need to maintain their payroll, hire back employees who may have been laid off, and
cover applicable overhead. Additionally, loans originated under this program may be forgiven, in whole or
in part, if certain criteria are met. In April 2020, the Obligor was successful in obtaining funding through
the PPP in the amount of $792,600. The Obligor was notified on March 22, 2021 that the loan had been
forgiven in full by the Small Business Administration.

The Davis Center

Management not aware of any reports of any serious COVID-19 issues at the Davis Center from
either Community residents who have been admitted therein or from media reports.

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Financial Statements

The Obligor maintains its financial records on the basis of a fiscal year ending December 31. The
audited financial statements of the Obligor and related disclosures for the two fiscal years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2020, together with the independent auditors’ report thereon, are set forth in
Appendix B to this Official Statement.

Summary Financial Information

The following summary statements of operations and changes in unrestricted net assets of the
Obligor for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2017 to 2020 have been derived from the financial
statements of the Obligor. The unaudited financial information for the eight-months ended August 31, 2020
and 2021 has been derived from unaudited financial statements and reflects all adjustments and normal
recurring accruals that management considers necessary for a fair and comparable presentation of revenues
and expenses for these periods.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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Selected Statement of Operations Sheet

Revenue, gains and other support:

Resident services
Amortization of advance fees
Insurance proceeds

Grant revenue

Other operating revenue

Total revenue, gains and
other support

Operating expenses:
Resident care
Dietary
Housekeeping
Plant facility costs
General and administrative
Marketing Costs-New

Development

Hurricane loss
Depreciation
Interest

Total operating expenses
Operating income

Non-operating Income:
Investment income

Excess of revenues over
expenses

Net assets, beginning of year

Net assets, end of year

Fiscal Year (audited) Eight-Months Eight-Months

ended ended
August 31, August 31,

2020 2021
2017 2018 2019 2020 (unaudited) (unaudited)
$13,336,013 $13,903,040 $14,597,412 $14,354,001 $9,728,415 $9,202,630
2,317,286 1,913,328 1,715,950 2,663,129 1,728,102 1,600,725
. 2,153,982 828,875 - 0 0
- - - 792,600 0 0
405,807 510,691 892,675 577,163 376,269 354,807
$16,059,106 $18,481,041 $18,034,912 $18,386,893 $11,832,786 $11,158,162
$4,309,853 $4,544,943 $4,937,865 $4,723,003 $3,328,531 $2,729,397
2,050,451 2,010,947 2,145,603 2,148,130 1,455,637 1,428,195
721,983 721,070 761,152 784,613 531,769 570,780
1,906,343 1,957,809 2,070,834 2,180,653 1,431,766 1,499,331
2,809,765 3,008,570 3,146,216 3,279,004 2,114,618 2,327,938
- - - - - 245,474
- 2,848,794 355,586 - - -
2,098,082 2,154,284 2,209,700 2,228,598 1,482,769 1,527,598
371,690 387,632 391,806 320,832 222,740 190,913
$14.268.167 $17.634,049 $16,018.762 $15.664.833 $10,567.830 $10.519.,626
$ 1,790,939 $ 846,992 $2,016,150 $ 2,722,060 $ 1,264,956 $ 638,536
$ 686,559 $ (358,052) $ 1,321,536 $ 1,613,489 $ 856,984 $1,117,719
$ 2,477,498 $ 488,940 $ 3,337,686 $ 4,335,549 $2,121,940 $ 1,756,255
$(2,236,146) $ 241,352 $ 730,292 $ 4,067,978 $4,067,978 $ 8,403,527
$ 241,352 $ 730,292 $ 4,067,978 $ 8,403,527 $6,189,918 $10,159,782
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Selected Balance Sheet Information

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents
Assets limited as to use, current
portion
Accounts receivable
Entrance fees receivable
Hurricane funds receivable
Prepaid expenses and other

Total current assets

Assets limited as to use, noncurrent
portion
Property and equipment, net

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Hurricane related payable
Refunds payable
Deposits and advanced payments
Long-term debt, current maturities

Total current liabilities
Refundable fees
Refundable entrance fees
Deferred revenue from entrance fees
Long-term debt, less current
maturities

Total liabilities
Net assets without donor restrictions

Total liabilities and net assets

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

Fiscal Year (audited) Eight-Months Eight-Months

ended ended
August 31, August 31,

2020 2021
2017 2018 2019 2020 (unaudited) (unaudited)
$7,617,175 $ 9,090,454 $9,412,938 $9,227,510 $9,600,431 $ 7,284,321
896,245 801,468 1,109,830 1,457,117 880,666 2,247,627
183,832 336,784 193,805 249,040 309,429 214,470
558,282 647,392 284,960 324,395 140,975 33,785
- 1,453,634 250,000 - - -
384,919 408,144 522,199 683,503 613,376 683,349
$ 9,640,453 $12,737,876 $11,773,732 $11,941,565 $11,544,877 $10,463,552
$ 7,223,684 $ 7,594,843 $10,551,663 $11,834,262 $11,997,766 $13,833,167
42,060,276 41,849,808 41,625,120 42,242,478 42,061,012 43,828,250
$58,924,413 $62,182,527 $63,950,515 $66,018,305 $65,603,655 $68,124,969
$ 1,340,750 $ 1,400,664 $ 185,429 $ 461,370 $ 490,135 $ 976,451
- 291,552 333,254 365,199 412,114 432,970
- 1,697,809 329,590 - - -
- - 700,377 2,322,365 2,476,818 2,234,190
320,438 362,968 428,404 399,489 377,910 1,606,158
369,529 381,160 392,124 405,500 369,529 369,529
$2,030,717 $4,134,153 $2,369,178 $ 3,953,923 $ 4,126,506 $ 5,619,298
3,462,642 3,946,212 4,452,165 3,111,350 3,604,464 2,910,667
28,659,230 28,956,710 28,751,752 27,472,131 27,417,108 26,710,972
12,275,680 11,893,265 12,793,751 12,012,642 12,217,644 11,938,245
12,254,792 12,521,895 11,515,691 11,064,732 12,048,015 10,786,005
$58,683,061 $61,452,235 $59,882,537 $57,614,778 $59,413,737 $57,965,187
241,352 730,292 4,067,978 8,403,527 6,189,918 10,159,782
$58,924,413 $62,182,527 $63,950,515 $66,018,305 $65,603,655 $68,124,969
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Days’ Cash on Hand

Fiscal Year (unaudited)

Eight-Months

Eight-Months

ended ended
August 31, August 31,
2020 2021
2017 2018 2019 2020 (unaudited) (unaudited)
Cash and Cash equivalents $7,617,175 $9,090,454 $ 9,412,938 $ 9,227,510 $ 9,600,431 $ 7,284,321
Assets limited as to use 8,119,929 8,396,311 11,661,493 13,291,379 12,878,432 16,080,794
Less resident funds - (70,353) (80,426) - - -
Less hurricane funds - - (2,330,371) - - -
Less development funds - - 0 (22,000) - (1,241,852)
$15,737,104 $17,416,412 $18,663,634 $22,496,889 $22,478,863 $22,123,263
Operating expenses $14,268,167 $17,634,049 $16,018,762 $15,664,833 $10,567,830 $10,519,626
Less depreciation (2,098,082) (2,154,284) (2,209,700) (2,228,598) (1,482,769) (1,527,598)
Less hurricane loss - (2,848,794) (355,586) - - -
$12,170,085 $12,630,971 $13,453,476 $13,436,235 $ 9,085,061 $ 8,992,028
Daily operating
expenses/365 or 244 33,343 34,605 36,859 36,812 37,234 37,004
Days Cash on Hand 472 503 506 611 604 598
Debt Service Coverage Ratio
. . Eight-Months  Eight-Months
Fiscal Year (unaudited) ended ended
August 31, August 31,
2020 2021
2017 2018 2019 2020 (unaudited) (unaudited)
Total Excess of Revenues over
Expenses, Net of Hurricane
Impact $2,477,498 $1,183,752 $2,864,397 $4,335,549 $2,121,940 $1,756,255
+ Interest, Depreciation &
Amortization Expenses 2,469,772 2,541,916 2,601,506 2,549,430 1,705,509 1,718,511
- Amortization of Deferred
Revenue 2,317,286 1,913,328 1,715,950 2,663,129 1,728,102 1,600,725
+ Net Proceeds from Entrance
Fees 3,514,888 2,914,901 2,716,669 815,222 700,827 476,311
Funds Available for Debt
Service 6,144,872 4,727,241 6,466,622 5,037,072 2,800,174 2,350,352
Annual Debt Service 758,415 758,415 758,415 758,415 505,610 505,610
Debt Service Coverage Ratio 8.10 6.23 8.53 6.64 5.54 4.65
Debt Service Coverage Ratio-
Revenues Only 3.47 2.39 4.94 5.57 4.15 371

Note: For purposes of calculating Funds Available for Debt Service, Net Proceeds from Entrance Fees equals Proceeds from non-
refundable advance fees and deposits plus Proceeds from refundable entrance fees less Refunds of entrance fees plus Refunds

payable.
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Management's Discussion of Financial Performance

The following paragraphs discuss the results of operations for the fiscal years ended December 31,
2018 to 2020 and for the eight-month period ended August 31, 2021.

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. In the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, average
occupancy of independent living units was 94.3%, the average census at Champions Assisted Living was
23.3 residents and the average census at Davis Health Care Center nursing was 19.5. The Obligor increased
its Monthly Fees by 2.75% and Entrance Fees were increased 2%. Unrestricted revenues increased
approximately 15.1%, while total operating expenses increased approximately 23.6% due to Hurricane
Florence, which hit Wilmington, North Carolina in September 2018, which resulted in a decrease in
operating income over the prior fiscal year. Change in net assets was approximately $489,000. The Obligor
had approximately $2.85 million in hurricane expenses, and collected $2.15 million in insurance proceeds
in 2018 with another $829 thousand collected in 2019.

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2019. In the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, average
occupancy of independent living units was 94.26%, the average census at Champions Assisted Living was
28.8 residents and the average census at the Davis Health Care Center was 17.4. The Obligor increased its
Monthly Fees by 3% and Entrance Fees were increased by 2.4%. Unrestricted revenues decreased
approximately 2.4%, while operating expenses decreased approximately 9.2%, which resulted in an
increase in operating income over the prior fiscal year. Change in net assets increased by $3.34 million.
Hurricane Dorian hit Wilmington in September of 2019. The Obligor had expenses of approximately
$356,000 in hurricane expenses and, $250,000 of that was recouped in insurance proceeds. Also included
in the 2019 revenues was approximately $829,000 of insurance proceeds from Hurricane Florence.

Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2020. In the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, average
occupancy of independent living units was 92.1%, the average census at Champions Assisted Living was
25.6 residents and the average census at the Davis Health Care Center was 14.2. See “COVID-19
PANDEMIC” herein for a discussion of the Obligor’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact
on occupancy rates. The Obligor increased its Monthly Fees by 3% and Entrance Fees were increased by
3.28%. Unrestricted revenue increased approximately 1.95%, while operating expenses decreased
approximately 2.21%, which resulted in an increase in operating income over the prior fiscal year. Change
in net assets was approximately $4.3 million.

Eight-month period ended August 31, 2021. In the eight-month period ended August 31, 2021,
average occupancy of independent living units was 88.3%, the average census at Champions Assisted
Living was 22 residents and the average census at the Davis Health Care Center was 9.3. The lower Davis
Health Care Center census figures were primarily due to COVID-19 and the resulting transition to home
care. See “COVID-19 PANDEMIC” herein for a discussion of the Obligor’s response to the COVID-19
pandemic and its impact on occupancy rates. Effective January 1, 2021, the Corporation increased its
Monthly Fees by 3% and Entrance Fees by 2.9%. Unrestricted revenues decreased approximately 5.7%
due to lower independent living census, while department operating expenses remained relatively flat.
Change in net assets increased by $1.8 million, of which $1.2 million was attributed to deposits for new
construction.

Investment Guidelines

The Obligor’s current investments are managed by the Board’s finance committee and an
investment advisor.
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Investment Objectives and Time Horizon.

The Obligor’s major investment objectives are to maintain (i) the purchasing power of the current
assets and all future contributions and (ii) an appropriate asset allocation based on total return policy that is
compatible with the investment guidelines and risk profile. The Obligor’s investment guidelines are based
on an investment horizon of greater than five years.

Performance Expectations and Risk Tolerance.

In general, the Obligor expects the funds to achieve the following objectives over a five-year
moving time period: (i) the portfolio’s total return net of all fees should exceed the increase in the Consumer
Price Index plus 3%; (ii) returns should exceed the return of a broad market index and/or style index
comprised of securities of a nature similar to the manager’s style over a full market cycle; and (iii) it will
be the objective of the portfolio to meet these goals over full market cycles, which tend to range from 3 to
5 years. The Obligor recognizes and acknowledges some risk must be assumed in order to achieve the
long-term investment objectives of the portfolio. In establishing the risk tolerances for the respective funds,
the ability to withstand short- and intermediate-term variability are considered.

Asset Allocation.

The Obligor recognizes that the strategic allocation of portfolio assets across broadly defined
financial asset and sub-asset categories with varying degrees of risk, return, and return correlation will be
the most significant determinant of long term investment returns and portfolio asset value stability. The
Obligor expects that actual returns and return volatility may vary from expectations and return objectives
across short periods of time. While the Obligor wishes to retain flexibility with respect to making periodic
changes to the portfolio’s asset allocation, it expects to do so only in the event of material changes to the
fund, to the assumptions underlying fund spending policies, and/or to the capital markets and asset classes
in which the portfolio invests. The Obligor recently changed its allocation policy such that fund assets will
be managed as a balanced portfolio composed of two major components: an equity portion of 65% and a
fixed income portion of 35%. The role of equity investments will be to maximize the long term real growth
of portfolio assets, while the role of fixed income investments will be to generate current income, provide
more stable periodic returns, and provide some protection against a prolonged decline in the market value
of portfolio equity investments. Cash investments will be considered as temporary portfolio holdings and
will be used for liquidity needs while generating a return that is in excess of that offered by money market
funds or other short term alternatives. At September 30, 2021, the value of the Obligor’s investments was
$13,409,400, with the asset mix being 67.2% equities and 32.8% fixed income.

Budgeting
Annually, the Obligor’s management team prepares a budget for the following fiscal year. The
assumptions used are based on industry trends, best practices and management experience. The Director

of Accounting, with the assistance of LCS, compiles the budget for review by the Executive and Finance
Committee. The Executive and Finance Committee recommends that the budget be accepted by the Board.
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OTHER
Management Strategy, Future Plans

Management of the Obligor continually monitors opportunities to improve the Community. The
Obligor’s current master plan is separated into three phases, Phase 1 of which is the Project. Phase 2 will
consist of replacing eight quad buildings with five eight-plex buildings that will contain 70 new independent
living units, constructing a new 30 unit independent living building, and replacing the current independent
living “Building C” of the Community with a new 22-unit independent living building. Phase 3 will consist
of replacing independent living “Buildings A and B” in the Community with a new 53-unit independent
living building. The time of such Phases 2 and 3 will be determined upon completion of the Project.

The Board is currently considering changing the Obligor’s name. Special consideration will be
given to the focus group findings, legal implications, cost and timing of a potential change, all of which are
being carefully explored. However, the Board has deferred further examination of a name change until the
Project is successfully marketed.

Employees and Benefits

Currently, the Obligor employs approximately 139 employees, and it does not have any employees
represented by a union. Current employee benefits include health insurance, dental insurance, vision
insurance, life and AD&D insurance, short- and long-term disability, voluntary life insurance, flexible
spending accounts, supplemental insurance plans, emergency travel assistance, scholarships with Cape Fear
Community College, and a 403D retirement plan.

Environmental Matters

The Obligor is subject to a wide variety of federal, state and local environmental and occupational
health and safety laws and regulations which address, among other things, health care operations, facilities
and properties owned and operated by health care providers. On November 1, 2021, the Obligor obtained
a Phase I environmental assessment with respect to the Mortgaged Property. The Phase I environmental
assessment revealed no evidence of current recognized environmental conditions and the engineering
consultant did not recommend any additional investigation at the time of the Phase I environmental
assessment. In addition, at the present time, management of the Obligor is not aware of any pending
environmental matters or threatened claims, investigations, or enforcement actions regarding such matters
which, if determined adversely to the Obligor, would have a material adverse effect on its operations of
financial conditions.

Hurricane Preparedness

The Obligor is a National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (“NOAA”) Weather-Ready
Ambassador and regularly receives guidance and information on emergency preparedness for extreme
weather, water, and climate events from NOAA. In preparation for hurricane season each year, the Obligor
secures additional food, water, and medical supplies; ensures that they have at least 72 hours of fuel for
generators; confirms with the Davis Community that residents in need of assistance with daily activities of
living have access to their facilities; confirms access to three convention center evacuation sites, based on
the track of the storm; and secures transportation for residents to the evacuation sites, if necessary. The
Executive Director is responsible for determining when evacuation of residents is necessary based on three
criteria: (1) whether the storm is a Category 3 or higher, (2) whether the storm has a 40% or greater chance
of a direct impact on the Community, and (3) the predicted duration of the storm. The Obligor also provides
staff with hurricane preparedness training and frequently provides residents with information on the
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Community’s emergency procedures and hurricane preparedness awareness. For example, prior to and
during Hurricane Florence, Community residents were bused to and stayed in hotel space in Greensboro.

Insurance

The Corporation is a member of the Life Care Services Advantage Insurance Program, which
provides consistency and continuity at a reasonable cost. The Corporation maintains insurance coverage
for a variety of risks, including replacement of real and personal property, commercial general liability,
professional liability, business interruption, crime, and auto. Commercial general and professional liability
limits are $1,000,000 per incident and $3,000,000 aggregate. The Corporation also maintains an Umbrella
Liability policy of $10,000,000 per incident and $50,000,000 aggregate. The Workers’ Compensation
policy contains statutory limits of $500,000.

Litigation

There is currently no litigation pending or, to the knowledge of the Obligor, threatened which in
the opinion of the Obligor’s management will materially adversely affect the financial conditions or
operations of the Obligor.

Cybersecurity

The Obligor relies on a large and complex technology environment to conduct its operations and
faces multiple cybersecurity threats involving, but not limited to, hacking, phishing viruses, malware and
other attacks on its computing and other digital networks and systems. To mitigate the risk of business
operations impact and/or damage from cybersecurity incidents or cyber-attacks, the Obligor (1) invests in
multiple forms of cybersecurity and operational safeguards, (2) carries a cyber insurance policy, (3)
conducts an audit of its systems every other year, and (4) provides monthly online trainings to employees
with access to their systems. To date, the Obligor has not been the victim of a cybersecurity breach.
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DHG

Independent Auditors’ Report

Board of Directors
Plantation Village, Inc.
Wilmington, NC

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Plantation Village, Inc. (the “Community”),
which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the related statements of
operations and changes in net assets and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to
the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

DHG is registered in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office to Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP.



Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Community as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Dixen H‘Lﬂhes Goodman [LP

Raleigh, NC
April 29, 2021
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Plantation Village, Inc.
Balance Sheets
December 31,2020 and 2019

2020 2019
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,227,510 $ 9,412,938
Assets limited as to use, current portion 1,457,117 1,109,830
Accounts receivable 249,040 193,805
Entrance fees receivable 324,395 284,960
Hurricane funds receivable - 250,000
Prepaid expenses and other 683,503 522,199
Total current assets 11,941,565 11,773,732
Assets limited as to use, noncurrent portion 11,834,262 10,551,663
Property and equipment, net 42,242,478 41,625,120
Total assets $ 66,018,305 $ 63,950,515
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 461,370 $ 185,429
Accrued expenses 365,199 333,254
Hurricane related payable - 329,590
Refunds payable 2,322,365 700,377
Deposits and advanced payments 399,489 428,404
Long-term debt, current maturities 405,500 392,124
Total current liabilities 3,953,923 2,369,178
Refundable fees 3,111,350 4,452,165
Refundable entrance fees 27,472,131 28,751,752
Deferred revenue from entrance fees 12,012,642 12,793,751
Long-term debt, less current maturities 11,064,732 11,515,691
Total liabilities 57,614,778 59,882,537
Net assets without donor restrictions 8,403,527 4,067,978
Total liabilities and net assets $ 66,018,305 $ 63,950,515

See accompanying notes.



Plantation Village, Inc.
Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended December 31,2020 and 2019

2020 2019
Revenue, gains and other support:
Resident services $ 14,354,001 $ 14,597,412
Amortization of advance fees 2,663,129 1,715,950
Insurance proceeds - 828,875
Grant revenue 792,600 -
Other operating revenue 577,163 892,675
Total revenue, gains and other support 18,386,893 18,034,912
Operating expenses:
Resident care 4,723,003 4,937,865
Dietary 2,148,130 2,145,603
Housekeeping 784,613 761,152
Plant facility costs 2,180,653 2,070,834
General and administrative 3,279,004 3,146,216
Hurricane loss - 355,586
Depreciation 2,228,598 2,209,700
Interest 320,832 391,806
Total operating expenses 15,664,833 16,018,762
Operating income 2,722,060 2,016,150
Non-operating income:
Investment income 1,613,489 1,321,536
Excess of revenues over expenses 4,335,549 3,337,686
Net assets, beginning of year 4,067,978 730,292
Net assets, end of year $ 8,403,527 $ 4,067,978

See accompanying notes.



Plantation Village, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31,2020 and 2019

Cash flow from operating activities:
Excess of revenues over expenses
Adjustments to reconcile excess of revenues over expenses
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Proceeds from non-refundable advance fees and deposits
Amortization of advance fees
Net realized gains
Net unrealized gains
Depreciation
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Hurricane receivable / payable
Prepaid expenses and other
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Refunds payable

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Net changes in assets limited as to use
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash used by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from refundable entrance fees
Refunds of entrance fees
Payments on long-term debt
Net cash used by financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of year

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of year

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest, including capitalized interest

Notes receivable received for entrance fees

See accompanying notes.

2020 2019
4,335,549  $ 3,337,686
2,482,363 3,620,457
(2,663,129) (1,715,950)
(1,016,017) (113,864)

(392,375) (969,266)
2,228,598 2,209,700
(55,235) 142,979
(79,590) (164,585)
(161,304) (114,055)
275,941 (514,858)
31,945 41,702
1,621,988 -
6,608,734 5,759,946
112,417 (1,884,654)

(2,845,956) (1,985,012)
(2,733,539) (3,869,666)
1,719,054 1,284,254
(5,008,183) (2,188,042)

(437,583) (366,610)

(3,726,712) (1,270,398)

148,483 619,882
10,130,644 9,510,762
10,279,127  $ 10,130,644
320,832  $ 391,806
675122  $ 1,204,783




Plantation Village, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

Notes to Financial Statements

1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

Plantation Village, Inc. (the “Community”) is a nonprofit organization which principally provides housing, health
care, and other related services to residents through the operation of a continuing care retirement community in
Wilmington, North Carolina containing 273 living units, of which 116 are villas, duplexes, and cottages.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Community maintains deposits with high credit quality financial institutions, of which the balances at each
institution exceeds the federally insured amount.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Community’s operating cash is placed with high credit quality institutions. The funds on deposit are in excess
of federally insured amounts. Restricted cash is included with cash and cash equivalents in the statements of
cash flows.

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the
balance sheets that sum to the total amounts shown in the statements of cash flows.

2020 2019
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,227,510 $ 9,412,938
Assets whose use is limited:
Deposits and advanced payments 985,280 654,793
Resident funds 66,337 62,913
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in
statements of cash flows $ 10,279,127 $ 10,130,644



Plantation Village, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

Assets Limited As To Use

Assets limited as to use consists of cash, money market, mutual funds, and exchange-traded funds. The use of
these assets are restricted or limited under terms of certain agreements or by the designation of the Community's
Board of Directors. Money market funds, mutual funds, and exchange-traded funds are carried at fair value in the
balance sheets. Investment income, including unrealized and realized gains and losses, are included in excess of
revenues over expenses. Amounts required for current liabilities are classified as current assets.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are carried at their original billed amounts. The Community has experienced few
uncollectible accounts in the past as any past due receivables can be applied against refunds due to the resident
from their initial investment in the Community.

Accounts receivable are considered past due if any portion of the receivable balance is outstanding for more than
60 days. Interest is charged on accounts receivable outstanding for more than 90 days and is recognized as it is
charged.

Entrance Fees Receivable

Entrance fees receivable consist of short-term promissory notes from current residents related to the payment of
the final installment of their entrance deposit. If the resident pays the note on or before the agreed upon due date,
no interest is charged.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, including construction in progress, is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Donated property is initially recorded at its estimated fair value at the date of receipt, which is then treated as
cost. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method based on the following estimated useful service lives:

Buildings 25 - 40 years
Land improvements 20 years
Equipment, furniture, and fixtures 5-10 years
Vehicles 5 years

The Community assesses long-lived assets for impairment when events or circumstances exist that indicate the
carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable. At December 31, 2020 there were no impaired long-
lived assets.

Deferred Revenue From Entrance Fees

A residency agreement is required of all residents. The Community has historically provided two alternative
residency agreements: traditional or return-of-capital plans. The traditional contract includes contract terms that 2
percent of contract total becomes nonrefundable per month for the first 50 months and thereafter 100 percent is
nonrefundable. The Community currently offers either 90 percent or 50 percent return-of-capital plans. Each
agreement provides for payment of an advance (entrance) fee and monthly service fees, each of which are
subject to periodic increases. Return-of-capital residency agreements also provide for partial refunds of entrance
fees upon termination of the agreement, but only upon re-occupancy of the unit and the collection of a new
entrance fee.

Nonrefundable entrance fees are deferred and amortized to income by the straight-line method over the average
expected remaining life of each resident beginning on the date of closing and are recalculated annually.



Plantation Village, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

Refundable Entrance Fees

Entrance fees payable are refundable advance fees that are recorded at the amount indicated by the contract.

Refundable Fees

Refundable fees related to residents who have been permanently assigned at a skilled nursing facility or assisted
living facility are classified as noncurrent liabilities due to the indeterminable timing of the ultimate payment.

Obligation to Provide Future Services

The Community annually calculates the present value of the net estimated cost of future services and use of
facilities to be provided to current residents and compares that amount to the balance of deferred revenue from
advance fees. If the present value of the net cost of future services and use of facilities, discounted at 1.92
percent, exceeds the deferred revenue from advance fees, a liability would be recorded (obligation to provide
future services) with a corresponding charge to income. To date, deferred revenue from advance fees has
exceeded the present value of the net estimated cost of future services and use of facilities.

Net Assets

The accompanying financial statements present information regarding the Community’s financial position and
activities according to two classes of net assets: net assets without donor restrictions and net assets with donor
restrictions. Net assets, revenues, gains, and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are classified as follows:

Net Assets without Donor Restrictions — Net assets available for use in general operations and not
subject to donor-imposed stipulations.

Net Assets with Donor Restrictions — Net assets subject to donor-imposed restrictions. Some donor-
imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those that will be met by the passage of time or
other events specified by the donor. Other donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual in nature, where the
donor stipulates that resources be maintained in perpetuity. When a donor restriction expires, through the
conclusion of a stipulated time restriction or accomplishment of a purpose restriction, net assets with
donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions. There were no net assets with
donor restrictions at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Resident Services Revenue

Resident services revenue is recorded at established rates monthly. Resident services revenue includes health
care revenue for residents under residency agreements, consisting of monthly fees for persons permanently
assigned to a nearby unrelated health center and charges for supplies and meals. The monthly fees equal 75
percent of the nearby, unrelated nursing facility's stated per diem rate. Assisted living care residents pay 75
percent of the stated per diem of a nearby unrelated assisted living facility. The costs to the Community of the
residents assigned to the health center or assisted living facility are included in resident care expenses.



Plantation Village, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

Grant Revenue

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security (‘CARES”) Act
provides for the establishment of the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”), a new loan program under the Small
Business Administration’s 7(a) program providing loans to qualifying businesses. Additionally, loans originated
under this program may be forgiven, in whole or in part, if certain criteria are met.

The Community received $792,600 under the PPP. Subsequent to yearend, a forgiveness calculation was
prepared and submitted to the Community’s lender indicating that the full amount of the loan qualifies for
forgiveness as the Community believed it had substantially met the conditions and requirements under the
program. On March 22, 2021, the Small Business Administration sent a notice of PPP forgiveness of $792,600
and related interest. Prior to forgiveness, the Community elected to account for the receipt of these funds as a
government grant by analogy to ASC 958-605. These funds were recognized as a refundable advance when
received and classified in accordance with the scheduled maturity outlined in the PPP loan agreement assuming
a ten-month deferral of payments from the end of the Community’s covered period. Grant revenue under this
method of accounting may only be recognized when the conditions attached to the grant have been substantially
met. The Community has fully utilized the proceeds of the loan for qualifying expenses under the PPP and the
Community’s covered period was closed as of the balance sheet date. Grant revenue has been recognized in the
statement of operations and changes in net assets in the grant revenue line item.

Advertising Expenses

All advertising expenses other than qualifying direct-response advertising costs associated with the initial
occupancy of units are expensed in the year in which they are incurred. Advertising expenses were approximately
$360,000 and $441,000 in 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Excess of Revenues Over Expenses

The statements of operations and changes in net assets include excess of revenues over expenses. Changes in
net assets without donor restrictions, which are excluded from excess of revenues over expenses, consistent with
industry practice, would include net assets released from restriction for purchase of property and equipment, and
contributions of long-lived assets (including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to
be used for the purposes of acquiring such assets).

Income Taxes

The Community has been recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as a not-for-profit corporation as described
in Section 501 (c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) and is exempt from federal income taxes pursuant to
Section 501(a) of the IRC. Similar provisions apply to state income taxes in the North Carolina law. In the opinion
of management, the Community has no uncertain tax positions.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the 2019 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the presentation of the
2020 financial statements. Changes in net assets previously reported for 2019 were not affected by these
reclassifications.

Subsequent Events

The Community has evaluated its subsequent events (events occurring after December 31, 2020), through April
29, 2021, which represents the date the financial statements were available to be issued.
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2. Fair Value Measurements

Under U.S GAAP, fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In determining fair value, the
Community uses various methods including market, income, and cost approaches. Based on these approaches,
the Community often utilizes certain assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability, including assumptions about risk and or the risks inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique. These
inputs can be readily observable, market corroborated, or generally unobservable inputs. The Community utilizes
valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
Based on the observability of the inputs used in the valuation techniques the Community is required to provide the
following information according to the fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy ranks the quality and reliability
of the information used to determine fair values. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value will be
classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:

Level 1: Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities traded in active exchange markets,
such as the New York Stock Exchange.

Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 including quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities, quoted prices in less active markets, or other observable inputs that can be
corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs supported by little or no market activity for financial instruments
whose value is determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies,
or similar techniques, as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value
requires significant management judgment or estimation; also includes observable
inputs for nonbinding single dealer quotes not corroborated by observable market data.

Assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair
value measurement. The Community’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value
measurement requires judgment and may affect the valuation of fair value assets and liabilities and their
placement within the fair value hierarchy levels.

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

When quoted prices are available in active markets for identical instruments, investment securities are classified
within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. Level 1 investments include money market funds, mutual funds, and
exchange-traded funds which are valued based on prices readily available in the active markets in which those
securities are traded, and money market funds which are based on their transacted value.

The Community does not have any financial assets or liabilities measured on a recurring basis categorized as
Level 2 or Level 3, and there were no transfers in or out of Level 3 for years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.
There were no changes during 2020 or 2019 to the Community’s valuation techniques used to measure asset fair
values on a recurring basis.

10
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The tables below present the balances of assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

December 31, 2020

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Mutual funds $ 1,036,139 $ - $ - $ 1,036,139
Exchange-traded funds 11,412,930 - - 11.412,930
Total $12,449,069 $ - 8 - $12,449,069

The Community had $10,069,820 of cash and cash equivalents included within cash and cash equivalents and
assets limited as to use on the balance sheets which are not included in the fair value hierarchy.

December 31, 2019

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Mutual funds $ 10,505,340 - - $ 10,505,340
Exchange-traded funds 430,957 - - 430,957
Total $ 10,936,297 $ - $ - $ 10,936,297

The Community had $10,130,644 and $7,490 of cash and cash equivalents and accrued interest, respectively,
included within cash and cash equivalents and assets limited as to use on the balance sheets which are not
included in the fair value hierarchy.

3. Assets Limited as to Use

The components of assets limited as to use consist of the following:

2020 2019
Current portion:
Deposits and advanced payments $ 985,280 $ 654,793
Resident funds 66,337 62,913
By Board for debt repayment 405,500 392,124
1,457,117 1,109,830
Noncurrent portion:
Resident funds 91,678 80,426
Under regulatory requirement, operating reserve (Note 7) 3,460,000 3,365,500
By Board for future asset replacement 2,228,598 2,209,700
By Board for return of capital 1,555,675 2,226,083
By Board for future operations 4,498,311 2,669,954
11,834,262 10,551,663

$ 13,201,379 $ 11.661.493

n
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In 2017, the Board of Directors designated amounts to fund current maturities of long-term debt, to fund one year
of depreciation based on immediate capital expenditure needs, and 50 percent of the refundable fee balance for
residents permanently assigned to a long-term care facility. These amounts may be invested in investment
accounts and other cash and cash equivalent accounts. The Board of Directors may modify its policy for

designated amounts from time to time.

The Community invests in various investment securities. Investment securities are exposed to various risks such
as interest rate, market, and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment securities, it is
at least reasonably possible that changes in the value of investment securities will occur in the near term and that

such changes could affect the amounts reported in the balance sheet.

A summary of net investment income for the years ended December 31 follows:

Interest income
Net realized gains
Net unrealized gains

Net investment income

4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following at December 31:

Land

Land improvements

Buildings

Fixed and movable equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Vehicles

Less accumulated depreciation

Construction-in-progress

Total property and equipment

2020 2019
$ 205,097 $ 238,406
1,016,017 113,864
392,375 969,266
$ 1,613,489 $ 1,321,536
2020 2019
$ 517,935 $ 517,935
1,994,822 1,902,799
65,146,679 63,990,436
2,442,992 2,385,939
1,709,355 1,688,683
415,931 415,931
72,227,714 70,901,723
32,003,005 29,773,854
40,224,709 41,127,869
2,017,769 497,251
$ 42,242,478 $ 41,625,120
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5. Debt
Long-term debt at December 31, 2020 and 2019, consist of the following:

2020 2019

Note payable to bank at 3.09%, due in 83 monthly installments
including interest beginning September 5, 2017, and consecutive
interest payments beginning September 5, 2013, due August
2023, collateralized by real estate. $ 7,815,998 $ 8,079,755

Note payable to bank at 1.10% above one-month LIBOR, not to
exceed 5.99% (1.22% at December 31, 2020), due in 83 monthly
installments including interest beginning September 5, 2017, and
consecutive interest payments beginning September 5, 2013, due

August 2023, collateralized by real estate. 3,654,234 3,828,060
11,470,232 11,907,815
Less current maturities 405,500 392,124

$ 11,064,732 $ 11,515,691

The proceeds of the above two notes are due in 2023, were used to finance the Phase Il Facility Expansion,
which was completed in January 2016. The original construction loan agreements provided for two interest only
loans during construction. The combined balances were limited to 70% of the appraised value of the property
collateralized by the loans. One loan was up to $13,175,000 at the 3.09% fixed rate and the other was up to
$6,000,000 at the LIBOR variable rate shown above.

The construction loans include certain affirmative covenants regarding financial information provided to the lender
bank. The Community was in compliance with all of the covenants as of December 31, 2020.

Aggregate maturities required on long-term debt as of December 31, 2020, are due in future years as follows:

2021 $ 405,500
2022 418,264
2023 10,646,468

$ 11,470,232

6. Management Agreement

The Community operates under a management agreement with Life Care Services, LLC (“LCS”). Under this
agreement, LCS coordinates the ongoing project management of the Community. In consideration for these
services, the Community pays LCS a base monthly management fee and an additional incentive fee based upon
achieving prescribed operating criteria. The management fee is subject to annual adjustment for cost-of-living
increases or facility expansion. Management fees, incentive fees and miscellaneous charges under agreements
with LCS totaled approximately $790,000, and $814,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, approximately $58,000 and $50,000, respectively, were included
in accounts payable on the balance sheets to LCS for various fees and charges under the agreement. The
Community renewed their management agreement with LCS for five years beginning January 1, 2017.
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7. Regulatory Matters

Continuing care retirement communities located in North Carolina are licensed and monitored by the State
Department of Insurance under Article 64 of Chapter 58 of the North Carolina General Statutes. The
Commissioner of Insurance has the authority to revoke or restrict the license of, or impose additional
requirements on, any continuing care facility under certain circumstances specified in General Statute 58-64-10.

North Carolina General Statute 58-64-33 requires that continuing care retirement communities with occupancy
levels in excess of 90 percent maintain an operating reserve equal to 25 percent of total operating costs
forecasted for the twelve-month period following the most recent annual statement filed with the Department of
Insurance upon approval of the Commissioner, unless otherwise instructed by the Commissioner. Continuing care
retirement communities with less than 90 percent occupancy are required to maintain an operating reserve equal
to 50 percent of forecasted total operating costs. Total operating costs shall include budgeted operating expenses
plus debt service less depreciation and amortization expense and revenue associated with non-contractual
expenses. The Community's occupancy was above 90 percent in 2020 and 2019. At December 31, 2020 and
2019, the Board of Directors had specifically designated $3,460,000 and $3,365,500, respectively, for the purpose
of meeting this requirement (Note 3).

The operating reserve can only be released upon the submittal of a detailed request from the Community and
must be approved by the North Carolina Department of Insurance.

8. Retirement Plan

The Community provides a retirement plan under Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Community
matches 50 percent of the first 6 percent of employee contributions for a maximum match of 3 percent an
employee's annual salary. Employees are eligible to participate in the plan after 90 days of service. An employee
is eligible for the employer match after one year of service during which he or she has worked at least 1,000
hours (an average of 20 hours per week) and is at least age 21. Employees are subject to a six-year vesting
schedule for the Community's contributions. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Community
contributed approximately $22,000 and $20,000, respectively.

9. Liquidity and Availability

Financial assets available for general expenditures in the next 12 months, classified as current assets were
$11,484,092 and $11,251,533 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The Community operates with a balanced budget and anticipates collecting sufficient revenue to cover general
expenditures, debt service, and budgeted capital expenditures. The accompanying statement of cash flows on
page 5, which identifies sources and uses of cash, indicates net cash provided by operating activities in 2020 and
2019. As explained in Note 3 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, $11,742,584 and $10,471,237, respectively, of
noncurrent assets limited as to use is generally not available due to board designation and regulatory
requirements but could be released to fund operations with appropriate Board and regulatory approval. The
Community regularly monitors liquidity required to meet its operating needs and other contractual commitments,
while also striving to maximize the investment of its available funds.

14
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10. Hurricane Loss

On September 5, 2019 Hurricane Dorian made landfall as a Category 1 hurricane at Wrightsville Beach, North
Carolina. Wrightsville Beach, North Carolina is a barrier island contiguous to Wilmington, North Carolina. The
winds and heavy rain caused widespread damage at the Community.

Total hurricane expense of $355,586 are included in the Statement of Operations and Changes in Net Assets for
the year ended December 31, 2019, which is the incurred costs of repairs resulting from the hurricane. At
December 31, 2020 all related expenditures have been reimbursed by insurance proceeds.

11. Schedule of Expenses by Natural Category and Function

The costs of providing the Community’s program and other activities have been summarized on a functional basis
below. Expenses that can be identified with a specific program or support service are charged directly to the
program or support service. Costs common to multiple functions have been allocated using an objective basis,
such as time spent, salaries, square feet, and other basis.

Expenses for year ended December 31, 2020
Health Care Resident General &
Services Services Administration Total

Salaries and benefits $ 1,151,807 $ 2,679,462 $ 650,240 $ 4,481,509

Dietary 785,810 - 785,810
Housekeeping - 13,535 - 13,535
Plant facility costs - 982,013 - 982,013
Supplies 20,639 360,446 55,164 436,249
Utilities - 556,318 - 556,318
General and administrative 3,243,104 490,093 2,075,283 5,808,480
Hurricane loss - - 51,489 51,489
Depreciation 3,113 2,195,059 30,426 2,229,598
Interest - - 320,832 320,832
Total operating expenses $ 4418663 §$ 8,062,736 §$ 3,183,434  $ 15,664,833

Expenses for year ended December 31, 2019

Health Care Resident General &
Services Services Administration Total
Salaries and benefits $ 969,169 $ 2,515,069 $ 665,649 $ 4,149,887
Dietary - 794,071 - 794,071
Housekeeping - 50,491 - 50,491
Plant facility costs - 961,844 - 961,844
Supplies 7,769 303,289 35,540 346,598
Utilities - 596,996 - 596,996
General and administrative 3,669,767 602,669 1,889,347 6,161,783
Hurricane loss - - 355,586 355,586
Depreciation 3,421 2,172,819 33,460 2,209,700
Interest - - 391,806 391,806
Total operating expenses $ 4,650,126 $ 7,997,248 $ 3,371,388 $ 16,018,762
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General and administrative expense include those costs that are not directly identifiable with any specific program,
but which provide for all the overall support of the Community. General and administrative activities include those
that provide governance, oversight, business management, financial recordkeeping, budgeting, legal services,
human resources management, and similar activities that ensure an adequate working environment and an
equitable employment program. Resources expended for fundraising from the general public are not significant.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Board of Directors
Plantation Village, Inc.
Wilmington, North Carolina

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Plantation Village, Inc. (the “Community”),
which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and the related statements of
operations and changes in net assets and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to
the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Community as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.
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Change in Accounting Principles
As described in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Community adopted several Accounting Standards

Updates (“ASU’s”) in 2019. The primary impacts of adopting these ASU’s are further described in Note 1.
Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Raleigh, North Carolina
April 28, 2020



Plantation Village, Inc.
Balance Sheets
December 31, 2019 and 2018

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

Assets limited as to use, current portion

Accounts receivable
Entrance fees receivable
Hurricane funds receivable
Prepaid expenses and other

Total current assets

Assets limited as to use, noncurrent portion

Property and equipment, net

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Hurricane related payable
Deposits and advanced payments
Long-term debt, current maturities

Total current liabilities

Refundable fees
Refundable entrance fees

Long-term debt, less current maturities
Deferred revenue from entrance fees

Total liabilities
Net assets without donor restrictions

Total liabilities and net assets

See accompanying notes.

2019 2018
9,412,938 9,090,454
1,109,830 801,468

193,805 336,784
284,960 647,392
250,000 1,453,634
522,199 408,144

11,773,732 12,737,876

10,551,663 7,594,843

41,625,120 41,849,808

63,950,515 62,182,527

885,806 1,400,664
333,254 291,552
329,590 1,697,809
428,404 362,968
392,124 381,160
2,369,178 4,134,153
4,452,165 3,946,212

28,751,752 28,956,710

11,515,691 11,893,265

12,793,751 12,521,895

59,882,537 61,452,235
4,067,978 730,292

63,950,515 62,182,527




Plantation Village, Inc.
Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018
Revenue, gains and other support:
Resident services $ 14,597,412 $ 13,903,040
Amortization of advance fees 1,715,950 1,913,328
Insurance proceeds 828,875 2,153,982
Other operating revenue 892,675 510,691
Total revenue, gains and other support 18,034,912 18,481,041
Operating expenses:
Resident care 4,937,865 4,544,943
Dietary 2,145,603 2,010,947
Housekeeping 761,152 721,070
Plant facility costs 2,070,834 1,957,809
General and administrative 3,146,216 3,008,570
Hurricane loss 355,586 2,848,794
Depreciation 2,209,700 2,154,284
Interest 391,806 387,632
Total operating expenses 16,018,762 17,634,049
Operating income 2,016,150 846,992
Non-operating income (loss):
Investment income (loss) 1,321,536 (358,052)
Excess of revenues over expenses 3,337,686 488,940
Net assets, beginning of year 730,292 241,352
Net assets, end of year $ 4,067,978 $ 730,292

See accompanying notes. 4
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Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

Cash flow from operating activities:
Excess of revenues over expenses
Adjustments to reconcile excess of revenues over expenses
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Proceeds from non-refundable advance fees and deposits
Amortization of advance fees
Net realized gains
Net unrealized (gains) losses
Depreciation
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivables
Hurricane receivable / payable
Prepaid expenses and other
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Net changes in assets limited as to use
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash used by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from refundable entrance fees
Refunds of entrance fees
Payments on long-term debt
Net cash used by financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of year

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of yeal

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest, including capitalized interest

Notes receivable received for entrance fees

See accompanying notes.

2018
2019 As Adjusted
3,337,686 S 488,940
3,620,457 2,552,802
(1,715,950) (1,913,328)
(113,864) (160,088)
(969,266) 729,000
2,209,700 2,154,284
142,979 (152,952)
(164,585) 244,175
(114,055) (23,225)
(514,858) 316,124
41,702 35,342
5,759,946 4,271,074
(1,884,654) (845,294)
(1,985,012) (1,943,816)
(3,869,666) (2,789,110)
1,284,254 3,410,563
(2,188,042) (3,048,464)
(366,610) (370,784)
(1,270,398) (8,685)
619,882 1,473,279
9,510,762 8,037,483
10,130,644  $ 9,510,762
391,806  $ 387,632
1,204,783  $ 736,865
5
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Notes to Financial Statements

Notes to Financial Statements

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

Plantation Village, Inc. (the “Community”) is a nonprofit organization which principally provides housing, health
care and other related services to residents through the operation of a continuing care retirement community in
Wilmington, North Carolina containing 273 living units, of which 116 are villas, duplexes and cottages.

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Concentration of Credit Risk
The Community maintains deposits with high credit quality financial institutions, of which the balances at each
institution exceeds the federally insured amount.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Community’s operating cash is placed with high credit quality institutions. The funds on deposit are in excess
of federally insured amounts. Restricted cash is included with cash and cash equivalents in the statements of
cash flows.

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the
balance sheets that sum to the total amounts shown in the statements of cash flows.

2019 2018
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,412,938 $ 9,090,454
Assets whose use is limited:
Deposits and advanced payments 654,793 362,968
Resident funds 62,913 57,340
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in
statements of cash flows $ 10,130,644 $ 9,510,762

Assets Limited As To Use

Assets limited as to use consists of (1) cash accounts, (2) cash equivalents, consisting of money market
accounts, and (3) mutual funds. The use of these assets is restricted or limited under terms of certain agreements
or by the designation of the Community's Board of Directors. Money market funds and mutual funds are carried at
fair value in the balance sheets. Investment income, including unrealized and realized gains and losses, are
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included in excess revenues over expenses. Amounts required for current liabilities are classified as current
assets.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are carried at their original billed amounts. The Community has experienced few
uncollectible accounts in the past as any past due receivables can be applied against refunds due to the resident
from their initial investment in the Community.

Accounts receivable are considered past due if any portion of the receivable balance is outstanding for more than
60 days. Interest is charged on accounts receivable outstanding for more than 90 days and is recognized as it is
charged.

Entrance Fees Receivable

Entrance fees receivable consist of short-term promissory notes from current residents related to the payment of
the final installment of their entrance deposit. If the resident pays the note on or before the agreed upon due date,
no interest is charged.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, including construction in progress, is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Donated property is initially recorded at its estimated fair value at the date of receipt, which is then treated as
cost. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method based on the following estimated useful service lives:

Buildings 25 - 40 years
Land improvements 20 years
Equipment, furniture, and fixtures 5-10 years
Vehicles 5 years

The Community assesses long-lived assets for impairment when events or circumstances exist that indicate the
carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable. At December 31, 2019 there were no impaired long-
lived assets.

Deferred Revenue From Entrance Fees

A residency agreement is required of all residents. The Community has historically provided two alternative
residency agreements: traditional or return-of-capital plans. The traditional contract includes contract terms that 2
percent of contract total becomes nonrefundable per month for the first 50 months and thereafter 100 percent is
nonrefundable. The Community currently offers either 90 percent or 50 percent return-of-capital plans. Each
agreement provides for payment of an advance (entrance) fee and monthly service fees, each of which are
subject to periodic increases. Return-of-capital residency agreements also provide for partial refunds of entrance
fees upon termination of the agreement, but only upon re-occupancy of the unit and the collection of a new
entrance fee.

Nonrefundable entrance fees are deferred and amortized to income by the straight-line method over the average
expected remaining life of each resident beginning on the date of closing and are recalculated annually.

Refundable Entrance Fees

Entrance fees payable are refundable advance fees that are recorded at the amount indicated by the contract.

Refundable Fees

Refundable fees related to residents who have been permanently assigned at a skilled nursing facility or assisted
living facility are classified as noncurrent liabilities due to the indeterminable timing of the ultimate payment.
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Obligation to Provide Future Services

The Community annually calculates the present value of the net estimated cost of future services and use of
facilities to be provided to current residents and compares that amount to the balance of deferred revenue from
advance fees. If the present value of the net cost of future services and use of facilities, discounted at 1.92
percent, exceeds the deferred revenue from advance fees, a liability would be recorded (obligation to provide
future services) with a corresponding charge to income. To date, deferred revenue from advance fees has always
exceeded the present value of the net estimated cost of future services and use of facilities.

Net Assets

The accompanying financial statements present information regarding the Community’s financial position and
activities according to two classes of net assets: net assets without donor restrictions and net assets with donor
restrictions. Net assets, revenues, gains, and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net assets and changes therein are classified as follows:

Net Assets without Donor Restrictions — Net assets available for use in general operations and not
subject to donor-imposed stipulations.

Net Assets with Donor Restrictions — Net assets subject to donor-imposed restrictions. Some donor-
imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those that will be met by the passage of time or
other events specified by the donor. Other donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual in nature, where the
donor stipulates that resources be maintained in perpetuity. When a donor restriction expires, through the
conclusion of a stipulated time restriction or accomplishment of a purpose restriction, net assets with
donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions. There were no net assets with
donor restrictions at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Resident Services Revenue

Resident services revenue is recorded at established rates monthly. Resident services revenue includes health
care revenue for residents under residency agreements, consisting of monthly fees for persons permanently
assigned to a nearby unrelated health center and charges for supplies and meals. The monthly fees equal 75
percent of the nearby, unrelated nursing facility's stated per diem rate. Assisted living care residents pay 75
percent of the stated per diem of a nearby unrelated assisted living facility. The costs to the Community of the
residents assigned to the health center or assisted living facility are included in resident care expenses.

Advertising Expenses

All advertising expenses other than qualifying direct-response advertising costs associated with the initial
occupancy of units are expensed in the year in which they are incurred. Advertising expenses were approximately
$441,000 and $439,000 in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Excess of Revenues Over Expenses

The statements of operations and changes in net assets include excess of revenues over expenses. Changes in
net assets without donor restrictions, which are excluded from excess of revenues over expenses, consistent with
industry practice, would include unrealized gains and losses on investments other than equity and investments
classified as trading securities, net assets released from restriction for purchase of property and equipment, and
contributions of long-lived assets (including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to
be used for the purposes of acquiring such assets).

Income Taxes

The Community has been recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as a not-for-profit corporation as described
in Section 501 (c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) and is exempt from federal income taxes pursuant to
Section 501(a) of the IRC. Similar provisions apply to state income taxes in the North Carolina law. In the opinion
of management, the Community has no uncertain tax positions.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

During 2019, the Community adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standard
Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-01, Financial Instruments — Overall (Subtopic 825-10), Recognition and Measurement
of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. The primary impact of adopting ASU No. 2016-01 is the requirement
to measure certain classes of investments at fair value with changes in fair value to be recognized in the
performance indicator. The Community has prospectively adopted the guidance in ASU No. 2016-01 to the 2019
financial statement information and disclosures.

Effective January 1, 2019, the Community has adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2074-09, Revenue
from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which amends existing accounting standards for revenue recognition.
Resident services revenue for recurring and routine monthly services are generally billed monthly in advance.
Payment terms are usually due within 30 days. The services provided encompass social, recreational, dining, along
with the assisted living and nursing care stated above from a nearby, unrelated nursing facility's, and these
performance obligations are earned each month. Resident fee revenue for non-routine or additional services are
billed monthly in arrears and recognized when the service is provided.

During 2019, the Community adopted FASB ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted
Cash, which requires amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents be included
with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown
on the statement of cash flows. This guidance is intended to improve the classification and presentation of
changes in restricted cash on the statements of cash flows and will provide more consistent application of U.S.
GAAP by reducing diversity in practice. The ASU also requires an entity to disclose information about the nature
of restricted cash. The statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2018 has been adjusted to
reflect retrospective application of the new accounting guidance. Total beginning cash presented on the statement
of cash flows as of December 31, 2019 increased from $9,090,454, presented as total ending cash on the
statement of cash flows as of December 31, 2018 (exclusive of restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents) to
$9,510,762 (inclusive of restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents). Total beginning cash presented on the
statement of cash flows as of December 31, 2018 increased from $7,617,175 to $8,037,483 (inclusive of
restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents

During 2019, the Community adopted FASB ASU. No 2018-08, Not-for-Profit Entities, Clarifying the Scope and
the Accounting Guidance for Contributions Received and Contributions Made. This ASU intended to clarify and
improve current accounting guidance to determine when a transaction should be accounted for as a contribution
or as an exchange transaction and provides additional guidance about how to determine whether a contribution is
conditional. The Community adopted ASU-2018-08 on January 1, 2019, using a modified-prospective basis. The
adoption of ASU 2018-08 did not have a material impact on the financial statements.

Subsequent Events

The Community has evaluated its subsequent events (events occurring after December 31, 2019), through
April 28, 2020, which represents the date the financial statements were available to be issued.

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the highly contagious respiratory disease named
“coronavirus disease 2019” (“COVID-19") to be a pandemic, and on March 13, 2020, a national emergency was
declared in the United States of America. Many state and local governments, including Wilmington, North
Carolina, have imposed strict measures to curtail certain aspects of public life in an effort to contain COVID-19 as
U.S. cases have risen sharply, and such curtailments have resulted in significant disruption of the U.S. economy
and financial markets. On March 18, 2020, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) announced
that all elective and non-essential medical, surgical, and dental procedures should be delayed during the COVID-
19 outbreak.

The Community is currently operating pursuant to its infectious disease protocols and emergency preparedness
plan. Management has activated plans to address risks associated with the impact of COVID-19, including
various cost savings measures and an evaluation of available sources of liquidity and other resources. It is not
currently possible to predict the impact on the Community associated with COVID-19, and therefore the
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accompanying financial statements do not reflect any adjustment as a result of this uncertainty. The Community’s
financial condition, liquidity, and results of operations could be adversely affected from the impact of COVID-19,
and such impact could be material.

On March 27, 2020 the federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act was signed into law,
which is intended to provide economic relief and emergency assistance for individuals, families, and businesses
affected by COVID-19. In addition to the CARES Act, the Community received approximately $793,000 under the
Paycheck Protection Program. Various state governments are also taking action to provide economic relief and
emergency assistance. The impact on the Community and its operations from these new measures is currently
uncertain.

2. Fair Value Measurements

Under U.S GAAP, fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In determining fair value, the
Community uses various methods including market, income, and cost approaches. Based on these approaches,
the Community often utilizes certain assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability, including assumptions about risk and or the risks inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique. These
inputs can be readily observable, market corroborated, or generally unobservable inputs. The Community utilizes
valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
Based on the observability of the inputs used in the valuation techniques the Community is required to provide the
following information according to the fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy ranks the quality and reliability
of the information used to determine fair values. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value will be
classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:

Level 1: Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities traded in active exchange markets, such as the
New York Stock Exchange.

Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 including quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities,
quoted prices in less active markets, or other observable inputs that can be corroborated by
observable market data.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs supported by little or no market activity for financial instruments whose
value is determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar
techniques, as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant
management judgment or estimation; also includes observable inputs for nonbinding single
dealer quotes not corroborated by observable market data.

Assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair
value measurement. The Community’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value
measurement requires judgment and may affect the valuation of fair value assets and liabilities and their
placement within the fair value hierarchy levels.

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

When quoted prices are available in active markets for identical instruments, investment securities are classified
within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. Level 1 investments include money market funds, mutual funds, and
exchange-traded funds which are valued based on prices readily available in the active markets in which those
securities are traded, and money market funds which are based on their transacted value.

The Community does not have any financial assets or liabilities measured on a recurring basis categorized as
Level 2 or Level 3, and there were no transfers in or out of Level 3 for years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
There were no changes during 2019 or 2018 to the Community’s valuation techniques used to measure asset fair
values on a recurring basis.

10
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The tables below present the balances of assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

December 31, 2019

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Mutual funds:
Fixed income $ 5,857,664 $ - $ - $ 5,857,664
Equity 4,647,676 - - 4,647,676
Total mutual funds 10,505,340 - - 10,505,340
Exchange-traded funds 430,957 - - 430,957
Total $10,936,297 § - $ -  $10,936,297

The Community had $10,130,644 and $7,490 of cash and cash equivalents and accrued interest, respectively,
included within cash and cash equivalents and assets limited as to use which are not included in the fair value
hierarchy.

December 31, 2018

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Equity mutual funds $ 8,194,598 % - $ - $ 8,194,598
Money market funds 131,360 - - 131,360
Total $ 8,325,958 $ - $ - $ 8325958

The Community had $9,160,807 of cash and cash equivalents included within cash and cash equivalents and
assets limited as to use which are not included in the fair value hierarchy.

3. Assets Limited as to Use

The components of assets limited as to use consist of the following:

2019 2018
Current portion:
Deposits and advanced payments $ 654,793 $ 362,968
Resident funds 62,913 57,340
By Board for debt repayment 392,124 381,160
1,109,830 801,468
Noncurrent portion:
Resident funds 80,426 70,353
Under regulatory requirement, operating reserve (Note 7) 3,365,500 3,397,100
By Board for future asset replacement 2,209,700 2,154,284
By Board for return of capital 2,226,083 1,973,106
By Board for future operations 2,669,954 -
10,551,663 7,594,843

$ 11,661,493 $ 8396311

In 2017, the Board designated amounts to fund current maturities of long-term debt, to fund one year of
depreciation based on immediate capital expenditure needs, and 50% of the refundable fee balance for residents
permanently assigned to a long-term care facility. These amounts may be invested in investment accounts and
other cash and cash equivalent accounts. The Board may modify its policy for designated amounts from time to
time.

11
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The Community invests in various investment securities. Investment securities are exposed to various risks such
as interest rate, market, and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment securities, it is
at least reasonably possible that changes in the value of investment securities will occur in the near term and that

such changes could affect the amounts reported in the balance sheet.

A summary of net investment income for the years ended December 31 follows:

Interest income
Net realized gains
Net unrealized gains (losses)

Net investment income (loss)

4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following at December 31:

Land

Land improvements

Buildings

Fixed and movable equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Vehicles

Less accumulated depreciation

Construction-in-progress

Total property and equipment

5. Debt

Long-term debt at December 31, 2019 and 2018, consist of the following:

Note payable to bank at 3.09%, due in 83 monthly installments
including interest beginning September 5, 2017, and consecutive
interest payments beginning September 5, 2013, due August
2023, collateralized by real estate.

Note payable to bank at 1.10% above one-month LIBOR, not to
exceed 5.99% (2.75% at December 31, 2019), due in 83 monthly
installments including interest beginning September 5, 2017, and
consecutive interest payments beginning September 5, 2013, due
August 2023, collateralized by real estate.

Less current maturities

2019 2018
$ 238,406 $ 210,860
113,864 160,088
969,266 (729.,000)
$ 132153 $  (358,052)
2019 2018
$ 517,935 $ 503,935
1,902,799 1,766,300
63,990,436 62,693,720
2,385,939 2,219,172
1,688,683 1,679,267
415,931 415,931
70,901,723 69,278,325
29,773,854 27,572,410
41,127,869 41,705,915
497,251 143,893
$ 41625120 $ 41,849,808
2019 2018
$ 8079755 $ 8336617
3,828,060 3,937,808
11,907,815 12,274,425
392,124 381,160
$ 11515691 $ 11,893,265

12
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The proceeds of the above notes were used to finance the Phase Il Facility Expansion, which was completed in
January 2016. The original construction loan agreements provided for two interest only loans during construction.
The combined balances were limited to 70% of the appraised value of the property collateralized by the loans.
One loan was up to $13,175,000 at the 3.09% fixed rate and the other was up to $6,000,000 at the LIBOR
variable rate shown above.

Aggregate maturities required on long-term debt as of December 31, 2019, are due in future years as follows:

2020 $ 392,124
2021 405,500
2022 418,264
2023 10,691,927

$ 11,907,815

The construction loans include certain affirmative covenants regarding financial information provided to the lender
bank. The Community was in compliance with all of the covenants as of December 31, 2019.

6. Management Agreement

The Community operates under a management agreement with Life Care Services, LLC (“LCS”). Under this
agreement, LCS coordinates the ongoing project management of the Community. In consideration for these
services, the Community pays LCS a base monthly management fee and an additional incentive fee based upon
achieving prescribed operating criteria. The management fee is subject to annual adjustment for cost of living
increases or facility expansion. Management fees, incentive fees and miscellaneous charges under agreements
with LCS totaled approximately $814,000, and $771,000 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, approximately $50,000 and $40,000, respectively, were included
in accounts payable to LCS for various fees and charges under the agreement. The Community renewed their
management agreement with LCS for five years beginning January 1, 2017.

7.  Regulatory Matters

Continuing care retirement communities located in North Carolina are licensed and monitored by the State
Department of Insurance under Article 64 of Chapter 58 of the North Carolina General Statutes. The
Commissioner of Insurance has the authority to revoke or restrict the license of, or impose additional
requirements on, any continuing care facility under certain circumstances specified in General Statute 58-64-10.

North Carolina General Statute 58-64-33 requires that continuing care retirement communities with occupancy
levels in excess of 90 percent maintain an operating reserve equal to 25 percent of total operating costs
forecasted for the twelve-month period following the most recent annual statement filed with the Department of
Insurance upon approval of the Commissioner, unless otherwise instructed by the Commissioner. Continuing care
retirement communities with less than 90 percent occupancy are required to maintain an operating reserve equal
to 50 percent of forecasted total operating costs. Total operating costs shall include budgeted operating expenses
plus debt service less depreciation and amortization expense and revenue associated with non-contractual
expenses. The Community's occupancy was above 90 percent in 2019 and 2018. At December 31, 2019 and
2018, the Board of Directors had specifically designated $3,365,500 and $3,397,100, respectively, for the purpose
of meeting this requirement (Note 3).

The operating reserve can only be released upon the submittal of a detailed request from the Community and
must be approved by the North Carolina Department of Insurance.

13
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8. Retirement Plan

The Community provides a retirement plan under Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Community
matches 50 percent of the first 6 percent of employee contributions for a maximum match of 3 percent an
employee's annual salary. Employees are eligible to participate in the plan after 90 days of service. An employee
is eligible for the employer match after one year of service during which he or she has worked at least 1,000
hours (an average of 20 hours per week) and is at least age 21. Employees are subject to a six-year vesting
schedule for the Community's contributions. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Community
contributed approximately $20,000 in 2018 and 2019.

9. Liquidity and Availability

Financial assets available for general expenditures in the next 12 months, classified as current assets were
$11,251,533 and $12,329,732 as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The Community operates with a balanced budget and anticipates collecting sufficient revenue to cover general
expenditures, debt service and budgeted capital expenditures. The accompanying statement of cash flows on
page 5, which identifies sources and uses of cash, indicates net cash provided by operating activities in 2019 and
2018. As explained in Note 3 at December 31, 2019 and 2018, $10,471,237 and $7,524,490, respectively, of
noncurrent assets limited as to use is generally not available due to board designation and regulatory
requirements but could be released to fund operations with appropriate Board and regulatory approval. The
Community regularly monitors liquidity required to meet its operating needs and other contractual commitments,
while also striving to maximize the investment of its available funds.

10. Hurricane Florence

On September 14, 2018, Hurricane Florence made landfall as a Category 1 hurricane at Wrightsville Beach, North
Carolina. On September 5, 2019 Hurricane Dorian made landfall as a Category 1 hurricane at Wrightsville Beach,
North Carolina. Wrightsville Beach, North Carolina is a barrier island contiguous to Wilmington, North Carolina.
The winds and heavy rain caused widespread damage at the Community.

Total hurricane expense of $355,586 and $2,848,794 are included in the Statement of Operations and Changes in
Net Assets for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, which are the incurred costs of
repairs resulting from the hurricanes. Evaluation of hurricane repairs are in process and are being prioritized
based on available funds and urgency.

Management anticipates that the hurricane related expenditures will be reimbursed by insurance proceeds
subject to deductibles and limits of the policies. However, since the final amounts to be realized from insurance
cannot be determined with certainty until collected, such proceeds are not recorded until collected. At
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Community recognized $828,875 and $2,153,982, respectively, in insurance
proceeds in the Statement of Operations and Changes in Net Assets of which $250,000 and $1,453,634 were
receivables on the Balance Sheets at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and were both collected
subsequent to yearend.

Although the Community’s operations and cash flows were impacted by the storm, in the opinion of management,
there will be no permanent long-term effect on the operations of the Community.
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11. Schedule of Expenses by Natural Category and Function

The costs of providing the Community’s program and other activities have been summarized on a functional basis
below. Expenses that can be identified with a specific program or support service are charged directly to the
program or support service. Costs common to multiple functions have been allocated using an objective basis,
such as time spent, salaries, square feet, and other basis.

Expenses for year ended December 31, 2019

Health Care Resident General &
Services Services Administration Total

Salaries and benefits $ 969,169 $ 2,515,069 $ 665,649 $ 4,149,887
Dietary - 794,071 - 794,071
Housekeeping - 50,491 - 50,491
Plant facility costs - 961,844 - 961,844
Supplies 7,769 303,289 35,540 346,598
Utilities - 596,996 - 596,996
General and administrative 3,669,767 602,669 1,889,347 6,161,783
Hurricane loss - - 355,586 355,586
Depreciation 3,421 2,172,819 33,460 2,209,700
Interest - - 391.806 391,806
Total operating expenses $ 4,650,126 $ 7,997,248 § 3,371,388  §$16,018,762

Expenses for year ended December 31, 2018

Health Care Resident General &
Services Services Administration Total

Salaries and benefits $ 829,831 $ 2,466,830 $ 639,955 $ 3,936,616
Dietary - 732,003 - 732,003
Housekeeping - 33,782 - 33,782
Plant facility costs - 775,309 - 775,309
Supplies 7,826 325,506 32,843 366,175
Utilities - 552,365 - 552,365
General and administrative 3,381,850 575,626 1,889,613 5,847,089
Hurricane loss - 2,848,794 - 2,848,794
Depreciation 3,421 2,117,400 33,463 2,154,284
Interest - - 387,632 387,632
Total operating expenses $ 4,222,928 $10,427,615 $ 2,983,506 $17,634,049

General and administrative expense include those costs that are not directly identifiable with any specific program,
but which provide for all the overall support of the Community. General and administrative activities include those
that provide governance, oversight, business management, financial recordkeeping, budgeting, legal services,
human resources management, and similar activities that ensure an adequate working environment and an
equitable employment program. Resources expended for fundraising from the general public are not significant.
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ EXAMINATION REPORT

Board of Directors
Plantation Village, Inc.
Wilmington, North Carolina

We have prepared a financial feasibility study of the plans of Plantation Village, Inc. (the
“Corporation”), a North Carolina non-profit corporation which principally provides housing,
health care, and other related services to residents through the operation of a retirement community
known as “Plantation Village” (the “Community”), located in Wilmington, North Carolina.

The Community is located on approximately 56 acres and currently consists of 245 independent
living units, including 129 apartments, 48 villas, two cottages, 66 duplex homes and common
areas. Life Care Services, LLC (the “Manager”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Life Care
Companies, LLC (“LCS”), provides management services for the Community.

Management of the Corporation and the Manager (collectively, “Management”) are planning a
renovation and expansion project at the Community which is expected to include the expansion
and construction of various amenities and 44 new independent living apartment units (the “Project”
or “New Independent Living Units”’). The Corporation has retained LCS Development LLC (“LCS
Development”) to assist in the planning and development of the Project.

The financial feasibility study was undertaken to evaluate the Corporation’s ability to generate
sufficient funds to meet its operating expenses, working capital needs and other financial
requirements, including the debt service requirements associated with $65,978,000 North Carolina
Medical Care Commission Retirement Facilities First Mortgage Revenue and Refunding Revenue
Bonds (Plantation Village, Inc.) Series 2021 (the “Series 2021 Bonds™).

As provided by the Corporation’s underwriter, Herbert J. Sims & Company, Inc. (the
“Underwriter”), the Series 2021 Bonds are assumed to consist of:

e $32,520,000 of tax-exempt rated fixed rate revenue bonds, assumed to be issued at an
original issue premium, consisting of varying maturities over a term of 30 years, with a
final maturity of January 1, 2052 and an assumed average coupon rate of 4.0 percent per
annum (the "Series 2021 A Bonds");

e $15,593,000 of long-term, tax-exempt, direct purchase bank revenue bonds, to be
advanced on a draw-down basis, with a final maturity of December 1, 2036 and an
assumed interest rate of 2.15 percent per annum (the "Series 2021B-1 Bonds"); and

e $17,865,000 of short-term, tax-exempt, direct purchase bank revenue bonds, to be
advanced on a draw-down basis, with an assumed interest rate of 1.60 percent per annum
(the "Series 2021B-2 Bonds", collectively with the Series 2021B-1 Bonds, the “Series
2021B Bonds”). The Series 2021B-2 Bonds are anticipated to be redeemed in full by
October 1, 2024 with initial entrance fees from the New Independent Living Units.
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The proceeds from the Series 2021 Bonds are assumed to be used as follows:

e To pay, or reimburse the Corporation for costs for the Project, including development and
construction costs;

e To repay outstanding long-term bank debt (the “Existing Debt”);

e To fund interest on a portion of the Series 2021A Bonds for a period of approximately 24
months and to fund interest on the Series 2021B Bonds for a period of approximately 24
months; and

e To pay costs of issuance associated with the Series 2021 Bonds.

Our procedures included analysis of:

e The Corporation’s history, objectives, timing, and financing;
e Future demand for the Corporation’s services, including consideration of:
— Socioeconomic and demographic characteristics of the defined market area;
— Locations, capacities, and competitive information pertaining to other existing and
planned facilities in the market area; and
— Forecasted occupancy and utilization levels.
Debt service requirements and estimated financing costs;
Staffing requirements, salaries and wages, related benefits, and other operating expenses;
Anticipated entrance fees, monthly fees, and per diem fees for residents of the Community;
Sources of other operating and non-operating revenues;
Revenue/expense/volume relationships; and
Depositor files.

The accompanying financial forecast for each of the years in the five-year period ending December
31, 2025 is based on assumptions that were provided by, or reviewed with and approved by,
Management. The financial forecast includes the following financial statements and the related
summary of significant forecast assumptions and rationale:

Forecasted Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets;
Forecasted Statements of Cash Flows;

Forecasted Balance Sheets; and

Forecasted Financial Ratios.

We have examined the accompanying forecast of the Corporation, based on the guidelines for the
presentation of a forecast by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”).
Management is responsible for preparing and presenting the forecast in accordance with the
guidelines for the presentation of a forecast established by the AICPA. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the forecast based on our examination.

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the
AICPA. Those standards require that we plan and perform the examination to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the forecast is presented in accordance with the guidelines for the
presentation of a forecast established by the AICPA, in all material respects. An examination
involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the forecast. The nature, timing, and
extent of the procedures selected depend on our judgement, including an assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the forecast, whether due to fraud or error. We believe that the evidence
we obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.



Legislation and regulations at all levels of government have affected and may continue to affect
the operations of continuing care retirement communities. The financial forecast is based upon
legislation and regulations currently in effect. If future legislation or regulations related to the
Corporation’s operations are subsequently enacted, such legislation or regulations could have a
material effect on future operations.

The highly contagious respiratory disease named “coronavirus disease 2019” (“COVID-19) and
associated pandemic has resulted in disruption of the U.S. economy and financial markets,
increased demands for health care services and safety protocols and has curtailed certain aspects
of public life. What, if any, long-term impact of COVID-19 on the economy, the senior living
industry, and the Corporation is unknown as the date of this report. The financial forecast is based
on Management’s assumptions that, while there are impacts to the Corporation for the year ending
December 31, 2021, there will not be any long-term impact to the Corporation as a result of
COVID-109.

Management’s financial forecast is based on the achievement and maintenance of occupancy
levels and re-occupancy of units vacated by residents. We have not been engaged to evaluate the
effectiveness of Management, and we are not responsible for future marketing efforts and other
Management actions upon which actual results will depend.

The assumed interest rates, principal payments and other financing assumptions are described in
the section entitled “Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Rationale.” If actual
interest rates or principal payments are different from those assumed in this study, the amount of
the Series 2021 Bonds and associated debt service requirements would need to be adjusted
accordingly from those indicated in the forecast. If such interest rates and principal payments are
lower than those assumed, such adjustments would not adversely affect Management’s forecast.

Our conclusions are presented below:

e In our opinion, the accompanying financial forecast is presented, in all material respects, in
accordance with guidelines for presentation of a financial forecast established by the AICPA.

e In our opinion, the underlying assumptions are suitably supported and provide a reasonable
basis for Management’s forecast. However, there will usually be differences between the
forecasted and actual results because events and circumstances frequently do not occur as
expected, and those differences may be material.

e The accompanying financial forecast indicates that sufficient funds could be generated to
meet the Corporation’s operating expenses, working capital needs and other financial
requirements, including the debt service requirements associated with the proposed Series
2021 Bonds, during the forecast period. However, the achievement of any financial forecast
is dependent upon future events, the occurrence of which cannot be assured.

We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after the
date of this report.

Atlanta, Georgia
November 3, 2021



Plantation Village, Inc.

Forecasted Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
For the Years Ending December 31,

(In Thousands)
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Revenue, gains and other support
Amortization of eamned entrance fees $ 2,726 $ 2,980 $ 3281 § 4073 § 4,848
Independent living revenue- Existing Independent Living Units 11,969 12,421 12,712 13,051 13,399
Independent living revenue-New Independent Living Units - 12 1,838 2,971 3,020
Assisted living revenue 1,198 1,430 1,552 1,620 1,842
Skilled nursing revenue 715 791 905 959 1,122
Home health revenue 494 509 524 540 556
Other 13 14 14 15 15
Investment income 342 311 374 470 537
Total revenues, gains, and other support $ 17,457 $ 18,468 § 21,200 $ 23,699 $ 25,339
Expenses
General and administrative 2,482 2,633 2,899 3,010 3,101
Project marketing costs 513 367 - - -
Plant and operations 2,115 2,176 2,401 2,538 2,610
Assisted living 1,562 1,907 2,070 2,160 2,456
Skilled nursing 1,099 1,195 1,364 1,430 1,653
Home health 616 666 686 707 728
Clinic 507 517 532 548 564
Dietary 2,236 2,330 2,906 3,063 3,147
Environmental 867 891 1,141 1,178 1,213
Resident services 373 402 465 485 499
Insurance 686 743 840 865 891
Management Fee 719 762 879 958 996
Interest expense:
Existing Debt 333 - - - -
Series 2021 A Bonds 18 315 1,301 1,301 1,301
Series 2021B-1 Bonds - 14 322 343 343
Series 2021B-2 Bonds - 24 280 70 -
Amortization of deferred financing costs 37 74 74 74 74
Amortization of original issue premium 47) (187) (187) (187) (187)
Depreciation 2,291 2,656 3,941 4,049 4,103
Total expenses $ 16407 $§ 17485 $ 21914 § 22592 § 23492
Change in net assets 1,050 983 (714) 1,107 1,847
Net assets, beginning of year 8,404 9,454 10,437 9,723 10,830
Net assets, end of year $ 9,454 § 10,437 $ 9,723 ' $ 10,830 $ 12,677

See accompanying Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Rationale and
Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Plantation Village, Inc.

Forecasted Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ending December 31,

(In Thousands)
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets $ 1,050 $ 983 $ (714) § 1,107 $ 1,847
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 2,291 2,656 3,941 4,049 4,103
Amortization of deferred financing costs 37 74 74 74 74
Amortization of original issue premium 47 (187) (187) (187) (187)
Amortization of earned entrance fees (2,726) (2,980) (3,281) 4,073) (4,848)
Entrance fees received-attrition (non-refundable) 1,726 1,856 2,446 2,201 2,357
Changes in current assets and current liabilities (1,550) 2 (25) (20) 1
Changes in accrued interest 105 583 8 (17) (1)
Resident deposits 1,448 (978) (220) - -
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 2,334 $ 2,009 $ 2,042 $ 3,134 § 3,346
Cash flows from investing activities
Routine capital additions (1,461) (1,505) (1,550) (1,621) (1,684)
Project costs (3,386) (39,662) (7,553) - -
Capitalized interest expense 87) (1,102) - - -
Change in assets whose use is limited (3,022) (407) 2,286 (164) (291)
Net cash used in investing activities (7,956) (42,676) (6,817) (1,785) (1,975)
Cash flows from financing activities
Initial entrance fees received - 1,880 18,334 470 -
Existing Debt principal payments (11,471) - - - -
Proceeds - Series 2021A Bonds 32,520 - - - -
Proceeds - Series 2021B-1 Bonds 240 7,507 7,846 - -
Proceeds - Series 2021B-2 Bonds 262 17,340 263 - -
Payments - Series 2021B-2 Bonds - - - (17,865) -
Series 2021 A Bonds original issue premium 1,868 - - - -
Cost of'issuance (1,097) - - - -
Entrance fees received-attrition (refundable) 3,428 4,451 5,529 4,937 5,276
Entrance fees refunded (4,293) (2,801) (3,139) (3,498) (3,739)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 21,457 28,377 28,833 (15,956) 1,537
Change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 15835 $ (12,290) $ 24,058 $ (14,607) $ 2,908
Change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of year 10,279 26,114 13,824 37,882 23,275
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of year $ 26,114 $ 13824 $ 37882 $§ 23275 $§ 26,183
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reconciliation:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,582 $ 10481 $ 17417 $ 23,025 $§ 25933
Resident deposits, current portion 1,448 470 250 250 250
Construction Fund 15,336 - - - -
Entrance Fee Fund - 1,880 20,215 - -
Funded Interest Fund 1,748 993 - - -
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 26,114 $ 13824 $ 37882 § 23275 $§ 26,183

See accompanying Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Rationale and
Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Plantation Village, Inc.

Forecasted Balance Sheets

At December 31,
(In Thousands)
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 7582 $ 10,481 $ 17417 $ 23,025 $§ 25933

Accounts receivable, net 239 248 289 318 326

Other accounts receivable 324 324 324 324 324

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 755 799 887 928 979

Current portion of assets limited as to use 1,448 470 900 929 1,034
Total current assets 10,348 12,322 19,817 25,524 28,596
Assets limited as to use:

Bond fund-Series 2021 Bonds - - 650 679 784

Construction Account 15,336 - - - -

Entrance Fee Fund - 1,880 20,215 - -

Funded Interest Account 1,748 993 - - -

Board designated investments 6,053 6,053 6,053 6,053 6,053

Board designated asset replacement fund 2,229 2,229 2,229 2,229 2,229

Resident trust fund 92 92 92 92 92

Operating Reserve Fund 6,888 7,295 4,359 4,494 4,680

Resident deposits 1,448 470 250 250 250

Less: current portion (1,448) (470) (900) (929) (1,034)
Total assets limited as to use 32,346 18,542 32,948 12,868 13,054
Property and equipment 79,179 121,448 130,551 132,172 133,856

Less: accumulated depreciation (34,293) (36,949) (40,890) (44,939) (49,042)
Property and equipment, net 44,886 84,499 89,661 87,233 84,814
Total assets $ 87,580 $ 115363 § 142,426 $ 125,625 $ 126,464

See accompanying Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Rationale and
Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
C-6



Plantation Village, Inc.

Forecasted Balance Sheets (continued)

At December 31,
(In Thousands)
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Liabilities and Net Assets
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 528 $ 560 $ 621 $ 650 $ 685

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 377 400 443 464 489

Accrued interest-Series 2021 A Bonds 105 650 650 650 650

Accrued interest-Series 2021B-1 Bonds - 14 29 29 28

Accrued interest-Series 2021B-2 Bonds - 24 17 - -

Refunds payable 756 756 756 756 756

Wait list and other deposits, current 399 399 399 399 399

Current portion - Series 2021B-1 Bonds - - - - 1,263

Current portion - Series 2021B-2 Bonds - - 17,865 - -
Total current liabilities 2,165 2,803 20,780 2,948 4,270
Long-term debt, net of current portion

Series 2021A Bonds 32,520 32,520 32,520 32,520 32,520

Series 2021B-1 Bonds 240 7,747 15,593 15,593 14,330

Series 2021B-2 Bonds 262 17,602 - - -

Deferred financing costs, net of amortization (1,060) (986) 912) (838) (764)

Original issue premium 1,821 1,634 1,447 1,260 1,073
Total long-term debt, net of current portion 33,783 58,517 48,648 48,535 47,159
Resident deposits 1,448 470 250 250 250
Refindable fees 4,542 4,587 4,633 4,679 4,726
Refundable entrance fees 26,343 29,255 34,575 35,515 36,367
Deferred revenue from entrance fees 9,845 9,294 23,817 22,868 21,015
Total liabilities 78,126 104,926 132,703 114,795 113,787
Net assets, without donor restrictions 9,454 10,437 9,723 10,830 12,677
Total liabilities and net assets $ 87,580 $ 115,363 § 142,426 $ 125,625 $ 126,464

See accompanying Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Rationale and
Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Plantation Village, Inc.

Forecasted Financial Ratios
For the Years Ending December 31,
(In Thousands, Except for Ratios)

Debt Service Coverage Ratio 2024 2025
Change in net assets $ 1,107 $ 1,847
Less:
Amortization of earned entrance fees (4,073) (4,848)
Entrance fee refunded (3,498) (3,739)
Add:
Entrance fees received from re-occupancy (non-refundable) 2,201 2,357
Entrance fees received from re-occupancy (refundable) 4,937 5,276
Depreciation 4,049 4,103
Amortization (113) (113)
Interest expense 1,714 1,644
Income Available for Debt Service $ 6,324 6,527
Maximum Annual Debt Service 2,904 2,904
Debt Service Coverage Ratio 2.18 x 2.25x
Days' Cash on Hand 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Unrestricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents 7582 $ 10,481 $§ 17417 $ 23,025 $§ 25933
Board designated investments 6,053 6,053 6,053 6,053 6,053
Board designated asset replacement fund 2,229 2,229 2,229 2,229 2,229
Operating Reserve Fund 6,888 7,295 4,359 4,494 4,680
Unrestricted cash available 22,752 26,058 30,058 35,801 38,895
Annual operating expenses 16,407 $ 17,485 $§ 21914 $§ 22592 § 23,492
Deduct:
Depreciation (2,291) (2,656) (3,941) (4,049) (4,103)
Amortization 10 113 113 113 113
Expenses, net 14,126 $§ 14942 $§ 18,086 $ 18,656 $ 19,502
Daily operating expenses ® 39 § 41 $ 50 $ 51 $ 53
Days' Cash on Hand 588 637 607 700 728

(a) Forecasted maximum annual debt service for the years ending December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2025 is equal to the maximum annual debt service on the Series

2021A Bonds and the Series 2021B-1 Bonds.

(b) Daily operating expenses are equal to total annual operating expenses less depreciation and amortization expense divided by 365 days.

See accompanying Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Rationale and

Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Plantation Village, Inc.

Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Rationale

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial forecast presents, to the best of the knowledge and belief of Plantation
Village, Inc. (the “Corporation”) and the Corporation’s third party manager, Life Care Services,
LLC (the “Manager”) (collectively, “Management”), the Corporation’s forecasted results of
operations, cash flows, and financial position as of and for each of the five years ending December
31, 2025. Accordingly, the financial forecast reflects the judgment of Management as of November
3, 2021, the date of this forecast, of the expected conditions and its expected course of action during
the forecast period. However, there will usually be differences between the forecast and actual
results because events and circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and those differences
may be material.

Background

The Corporation is a North Carolina non-profit corporation organized for the purpose of owning and
operating a retirement community known as “Plantation Village” (the “Community”). The
Corporation was incorporated on September 22, 1982, as a non-profit charitable entity under Section
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.

The Corporation is governed by an eight to 15 volunteer member Board of Directors which currently
consists of 15 members (the “Directors”), including two residents of the Community and one non-
voting Medical Director. A Director is elected to a three year-term and elected Directors may not
serve more than two consecutive three-year terms.

The Community

The Community, which opened in 1988, is located on approximately 56 acres and currently consists
of 245 independent living residences, including 129 apartments, 48 villas, 2 cottages and 66 duplex
homes (collectively the “Existing Independent Living Units”), along with two guest apartments and
common areas. The Existing Independent Living Units were constructed and completed in multiple
phases in 1989, 2001, 2005, and 2015.

Common areas in the Community include a main lobby/lounge with fireplace dining areas, solarium
lounges, personal laundry facilities, private storage, arts and crafts room, library, beauty/barber
salon, auditorium, indoor pool, exercise room, woodworking shop, outdoor areas for gardening,
nature pathways and administrative offices.

The following table summarizes the type, number, approximate square footage, monthly fees
(“Monthly Fees”) and entrance fees (“Entrance Fees™) for the Existing Independent Living Units.

See Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Plantation Village, Inc.

Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions

and Rationale, Continued

Table 1

Existing Independent Living Units

Traditional 50% Return 90% Return
Plan of Capital of Capital
Independent Living Available Square Entrance Entrance Fee Entrance Fee Monthly
Unit Type Units Footage Fee V@@ Plan V@6 Plan W@ Fee ®
Apartments:
Studio 4 521 $83,150 $105,450 $159,400 $2,810
One-Bedroom Units:
One Bedroom Traditional 36 721 $105,050 $133,300 $201,900 $3,113
One Bedroom Deluxe 21 856 $123,750 $156,350 $236,350 $3,406
One Bedroom Elmwood 3 917 n/a $228,500 $291,600 $3,413
One Bedroom Ashland 3 941 - 942 n/a $235,050 $299,650 $3.,482
Two-Bedroom Units:
Two Bedroom Traditional 15 996 $142,500 $180,800 $272,900 $3,711
Two Bedroom Lakeside 17 1,023 $150,700 $193,050 $290,600 $3,812
Two Bedroom Combo 1 1,300 $159,250 $201,900 $304,000 $3,900
Two Bedroom Deluxe 6 1,250 $159,500 $204,100 $307,350 $4,006
Two Bedroom Classic 2 1,325 $162,300 $206,350 $310,600 $4,415
Two Bedroom Ingleside 4 1,180 n/a $272,450 $348,100 $3,719
Two Bedroom Oatland 2 1,256 n/a $279,050 $356,200 $3,838
Two Bedroom Orton 6 1,359 n/a $348,350 $444,950 $4,369
Two Bedroom Woodlawn 3 1,397 n/a $336,250 $428,800 $4,339
Two Bedroom Waverly 1 1,450 n/a $353,150 $451,400 $4,546
Two Bedroom Carlisle 3 1,488 n/a $373,650 $477,300 $4,575
Two Bedroom Covington 2 1,491 n/a $366,500 $467,550 $4,605
Total Apartments ©) 129 960 $126,014 $191,329 $273,840 $3,582
Cottages/Homes/Villas:
Ashton Cottage 1 1,720 n/a $349,450 $482,000 $5,546
Baywater Cottage 1 1,690 n/a $337,350 $470,000 $5,417
Vista 4 1,260 $196,650 $251,950 $380,000 $4,784
Regency 4 1,375 $205,950 $263,950 $398,950 $4,795
Vista II 9 1,440 $210,200 $268,750 $406,250 $4,953
Regency 11 9 1,460 $218,600 $279,600 $420,700 $4,984
Royale 5 1,480 $225,700 $288,150 $436,300 $5,024
Grande 5 1,510 $229,550 $294,150 $443,600 $5,088
Royale I1 13 1,620 $241,100 $308,600 $465,350 $5,248
Grande II 13 1,690 $245,900 $314,650 $473,700 $5,343
Duplex A Meadowlark 2 1,720 n/a $343,300 $476,050 $5,546
Duplex B Meadowlark 2 1,690 n/a $331,300 $464,000 $5,417
Deluxe Villa 24 1,250 $170,250 $218,200 $333,200 $4,110
Custom/Traditional Villa 16 1,260 — 1,350 $192,000 $245,900 $370,050 $4.281 —4,707
Villa Special 8 1,433 $213,250 $272,450 $412,250 $4,806
Cottages/Homes/Villas 116 1,435 $208,553 $270,684 $407,010 $4,780
Total/Wtd Averages 245 1,188 $168,841 $228,901 $336,892 $4,163

Source: Management

n/a = not applicable

(€]
@

3

4
()

Entrance Fees, and Monthly Fees are effective January 1, 2021.
The second person Monthly Fee is an additional $1,451 for an Existing Independent Living Unit. The second person
Entrance Fee is an additional non-refundable $20,000.
According to Management, there are 132 total Existing Independent Living Unit apartments at the Community. However,
two apartments are currently utilized as guest rooms and one apartment is utilized as a sales center and are not currently

available for occupancy.

The traditional Entrance Fee plan is not offered in certain unit types.

Approximately 70 percent of residents have selected the 50% Return of Capital Entrance Fee Plan.

See Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions
Plantation Village, Inc. and Rationale, Continued

Assisted living and skilled nursing services for residents of the Community (the “Residents”) are
provided through a Transfer Agreement (hereinafter defined) between the Corporation and Cornelia
Nixon Davis, Inc. (the “HC Provider”) which operates The Davis Community (the “Davis
Community”), a non-related healthcare provider adjacent to the Community. The Davis Community
consists of Champions Assisted Living, an assisted living community with 123 assisted living units
(““Champions”), and the Davis Health Care Center, a skilled nursing facility with 179 skilled nursing
beds (“Davis HCC”).

Resident Care Center

Management provides health services in the resident care center (the “Resident Care Center”), which
is staffed by a licensed nurse 24-hours a day, seven days a week. The Resident Care Center is
utilized to respond to Resident's emergency calls and to provide temporary nursing care and
outpatient services. Outpatient services are provided by a nurse during regularly scheduled office
hours. The nurse is available for routine consultations and checks of weight, blood pressure and
other preventive care services.

The Project

The Corporation is planning a renovation and expansion project at the Community including, (a)
new indoor and outdoor dining areas, a game room, a meeting room, a cinema, an arts studio, and
improvements to the existing auditorium, (b) the relocation of the existing maintenance building and
construction of a new maintenance building, (c) a dog park, community gardens, walking paths, and
a restructured pond, (d) upgrades to information technology systems, and (e) 44 two-bedroom
independent living apartments and related common spaces, to be located in four apartment buildings
(the “New Independent Living Units”) (collectively, the “Project”).

The New Independent Living Units are to be located in three three-story buildings known as
Magnolia Walk I, Magnolia Walk II, Magnolia Walk III and one two-story building known as Heron
Cove.

The Corporation has engaged LCS Development LLC (the “Developer”) to provide Project
development and marketing services.

See Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions
Plantation Village, Inc. and Rationale, Continued

The following table summarizes the planned type, number, approximate square footage, Entrance
Fees and Monthly Fees for the New Independent Living Units.

Table 2
New Independent Living Unit Configuration

50% Return 90% Return
of Capital of Capital

Unit Square Entrance  Entrance  Monthly

Independent Living Unit Type Count Footage Fee Plan® Fee Plan () Fees
Heron Cove

Sand Dollar 4 1,400 $367,300 $468,200 $4,481

Juniper 4 1,484 $375,600 $478,500 $4,687
Magnolia Walk I, 11, and 111

Indigo 18 1,526 $435,900 $555,800 $4,893

Sagewood 12 1,643 $460,000 $586,700 $5,382

Figure Eight 6 1,919 $535,200 $684,500 $5,871
Total/Weighted Averages — All 44 1,596 $447,295 $566,786 $5,104
Second Person Fees $20,000 $20,000 $1,451

Source: Management
(1) The Entrance Fees and Monthly Fees shown for the New Independent Living Units are in 2021 dollars and those currently
being marketed to potential residents. Upon financing of the Series 2021 Bonds (hereinafter defined), Entrance Fees and
Monthly Fees are anticipated to increase 3.0 percent and 3.0 percent, respectively.

The Existing Independent Living Units and New Independent Living Units are collectively defined
as the “Independent Living Units”.

Project Timeline

The anticipated timeline for financing, construction completion and fill-up of the Project is shown
below.

Table 3
Anticipated Project Timeline
Close on Series 2021 Bonds December 2021
Construction commences on the Project December 2021
New Independent Living Units available for occupancy " December 2022
New Independent Living Units achieve stabilized occupancy of 93% November 2023

Source: Management and the Developer
(1) The New Independent Living Units are to be available in phases beginning in December 2022 through April 2023.

See Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions
Plantation Village, Inc. and Rationale, Continued

COVID-19 Pandemic

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the highly contagious respiratory
disease named “coronavirus disease 2019” (“COVID-19”) to be a pandemic, and on March 13, 2020,
a national emergency was declared in the United States. The Centers for Disease Control and
Prevention has confirmed the spread of COVID-19 to the United States, including North Carolina.
In response, the federal government, and a large number of state governments, including North
Carolina, have imposed measures to curtail certain aspects of public life in an effort to contain
COVID-19.

In addition to the direct impact to the health care industry, national and global investment and
financial markets have experienced substantial volatility attributed to COVID-19 concerns and
associated economic impacts of the curtailment of public life described above. In December 2020,
the U.S. Food and Drug Administration issued emergency use authorization of vaccines for
prevention of COVID-19. Management has implemented a COVID-19 vaccine plan, with essentially
all Residents and the majority of employees having been vaccinated.

During fiscal year 2020, the Corporation obtained approximately $793,000 under the Paycheck
Protection Program (“PPP”) from a participating bank created under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief,
and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”), as amended by the Paycheck Protection Program
Flexibility Act of 2020 (the “Flexibility Act”). The PPP, a loan program administered by the Small
Business Administration (“SBA”) provides loans to qualifying businesses for the resources they
need to maintain their payroll, hire back employees who may have been laid off, and cover applicable
overhead. Additionally, loans originated under this program may be forgiven, in whole or in part, if
certain criteria are met. On March 22, 2021, the Corporation received notification of full forgiveness
from the SBA of approximately $800,000, including interest, for the Corporation’s PPP.

For purposes of the forecast, Management assumes an increased level of personal protective
equipment and other supplies with no additional impact of COVID-19 on operating revenues and
expenses during the forecast period.

See Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions
Plantation Village, Inc. and Rationale, Continued

Significant Agreements
Transfer Agreement

Payment of an Entrance Fee assures a resident of the Community for lifetime access to the Davis
Community or an alternate facility which the Corporation may own or contract with to provide health
care services. Assisted living and skilled nursing services for Residents are provided through a
transfer agreement dated March 14, 1986, as amended from time to time, between the Corporation
and the Davis Community, a non-related healthcare provider, with healthcare facilities located
adjacent to the Community (the “Transfer Agreement”). At this time, the Transfer Agreement shall
continue as an open-ended contract subject to termination by either party with three years written
notification of such termination. For purposes of the forecast, the Transfer Agreement is assumed to
remain in effect throughout the forecast period.

Pursuant to the Transfer Agreement, the Corporation pays the Davis Community the current monthly
fee for a one-bedroom suite at Champions (the “Champions Monthly Fee”) for each Resident
transferring to an assisted living unit at Champions (“Assisted Living Bed”). The Corporation pays
the current daily fee for a shared suite at Davis HCC (the “Davis HCC Daily Fee”) for each Resident
transferring to a skilled nursing bed at Davis HCC (“Skilled Nursing Bed”). The Corporation also
pays a Davis HCC Daily Fee to hold one additional Skilled Nursing Bed on an ongoing basis. In
addition, Residents have wait-list priority at Champions for suite choice, suite upgrades, and special
care units, secondary to existing Champions residents.

With regard to Davis HCC, the Corporation pays for room, board, and nursing care at standard
published rates for a Skilled Nursing Bed. Additional fees for other services shall be the
responsibility of the Residents. Davis HCC shall determine eligibility and bill Medicare, third party
insurance, the Resident, and the Corporation, accordingly, to satisfy all charges.

Management Agreement

The Corporation and the Manager have entered into a Management Agreement (the “Management
Agreement”), dated January 1, 2021, renewable every five years. However, the Corporation or the
Manager can terminate the Management Agreement without cause six months after formal notice is
given. For purposes of the forecast, Management assumes the Management Agreement shall renew
and be in effect throughout the forecast period.

Under the Management Agreement, the Manager is responsible for recruiting and employing the
executive director; supervising the licensing, equipping, and staffing of the Community; preparing
annual budgets; establishing and operating a system of financial controls for the Community
including comparative analyses with other facilities; and overseeing the food service and quality
accommodations provided by the Community. In addition, the Manager is expected to facilitate the
Corporation’s use of the Manager’s Leads Management System (“LMS”) for relevant marketing
efforts, provide training for the Corporation’s marketing personnel, regularly monitor the occupancy
level of the Community, make specific recommendations with regard to marketing procedures and
promotions, and arrange for a regular review of the Community marketing program by the
Manager’s marketing specialists.

See Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions

Plantation Village, Inc. and Rationale, Continued

For services provided under the Management Agreement, the Corporation is obligated to pay the
Manager the following fees:

a monthly management fee of the greater of $45,000 or as a percentage of total revenues per
month, excluding amortization of earned Entrance Fees and investment income (“Monthly
Revenues”) (the “Base Management Fee”);

a flat standard services fee to reimburse miscellaneous expenses incurred by the Manager as
a percentage of Monthly Revenues per month (the “Standard Services Fee”); and

an incentive fee based on a percentage of Monthly Revenues per month (the “Incentive Fee”)
if the following criteria are met: 1) favorable responses to a Resident satisfaction survey or
an employee engagement survey; 2) expense goal set forth in the Corporation’s budget is
achieved; 3) monthly occupancy goal set forth in the Corporation’s budget is achieved; and
4) extraordinary performance by the Manager for the Community as determined by a vote of
the Board of Directors.

The following table summarizes the Base Management Fee, Standard Services Fee, and the Incentive
Fee as percentages of Revenues during the forecast period.

Table 4
Base Management Fee, Standard Services Fee, and Incentive Fee
Percentages of Revenues

Fees 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Base Management Fee 3.60% 3.70% 3.80% 3.90% 4.00%
Standard Services Fee 0.53% 0.52% 0.51% 0.50% 0.49%
Incentive Fee 0.90% 0.80% 0.70% 0.60% 0.50%

Total Management Fee 5.03% 5.02% 5.01% 5.00% 4.99%

Source: Management Agreement

The Base Management Fee, the Standard Services Fee, and the Incentive Fee are collectively defined
as the “Management Fee”.

See Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions
Plantation Village, Inc. and Rationale, Continued

Development Agreement

The Corporation and the Developer entered into a development agreement dated July 25, 2019 (the
“Development Agreement”) under which the Developer is expected to provide development
consulting services related to the Project. Pursuant to the Development Agreement, the Developer is
responsible for the initial occupancy development program, up to 90 percent occupancy, for the
Project. For its services under the Development Agreement, the Corporation is obligated to pay the
Developer a development fee of 4.25 percent of the capital costs associated with the Project or
approximately $2,311,000 (the “Development Fee”). The Development Fee is to be earned and paid
as follows:

(1) $50,000 to be payable during the feasibility stage of the development plan (the “Feasibility
Stage”);

(2) Five percent of the Development Fee upon the completion of the early schematic design
documents as defined in the architectural agreement less the $50,000 Feasibility Stage fees;

(3) Ten percent of the Development Fee upon the completion of the final schematic design
documents as defined in the architectural agreement;

(4) Five percent of the Development Fee upon commencement of taking Entrance Fee deposits
for the New Independent Living Units;

(5) Five percent of the Development Fee upon the completion of the design development
documents, as defined in the architectural agreement;

(6) Five percent of the Development Fee upon obtaining twenty-five percent sales reservations
of the New Independent Living Units;

(7) Five percent of the Development Fee upon obtaining fifty percent sales reservations of the
New Independent Living Units;

(8) Twenty percent of the Development Fee upon the earlier of (i) the issuance of a notice to
proceed with certain construction activities, or (ii) closing of construction financing;

(9) Thirty percent of the Development Fee payable proportionate with the progress of
construction as determined by the documentation prepared by the architect;

(10) Ten percent of the Development Fee upon initial closing of 90 percent of the New
Independent Living Units on pro-rata basis; and

(11) Five percent of the Development Fee at completion of close-out services during the close-
out phase of the Project.

An overview of the total Development Fees assumed to be paid to the Developer in association with
the development of the Project is presented in the following table.

Table 5
Anticipated Development Fees
(In Thousands)
Prior to closing on Series 2021 Bonds (35% of Development Fee) $ 809
Upon closing of Series 2021 Bonds (20% of Development Fee) 462
Monthly commensurate with construction of the Project (45% of Development Fee) 1,040
Total Development Fees $ 2311

Source: Development Agreement
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Summary of Financing

Total financial requirements to complete the Project and refinance the Corporation’s existing debt
(the “Existing Debt”) are assumed to be funded primarily through the issuance of $65,978,000 North
Carolina Medical Care Commission Retirement Facilities First Mortgage Revenue and Refunding
Revenue Bonds (Plantation Village, Inc.) Series 2021 (the “Series 2021 Bonds™). Management has
assumed the following sources and uses of funds in preparing the financial forecast based on
information provided by Herbert J. Sims & Company (the “Underwriter”).

Table 6
Sources and Uses of Funds
(In Thousands)

Sources of Funds:

Series 2021A Bonds $32,520

Series 2021B-1 Bonds " 15,593

Series 2021B-2 Bonds 17,865
Total Series 2021 Bonds $ 65,978

Original issue premium-2021A Bonds 1,868
Total Sources of Funds $ 67,846
Uses of Funds:

Direct construction costs ¢’ $ 39,535

Marketing costs ¥ 1,197

Design fees © 3,764

Furniture, fixtures, and equipment © 3,070

Miscellaneous costs 853

Development Fee ® 2,311

Contingency © 2,425
Total Project related costs $ 53,155

Repayment of Existing Debt !? 11,134

Funded interest () 2,460

Cost of issuance 2 1,097
Total Uses of Funds $ 67,846

Source: Management, the Developer, and the Underwriter

See Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Notes:
(1) The Series 2021 Bonds are assumed to consist of $32,520,000 of tax-exempt rated fixed rate

2
3)

4
)
(6)
(7

®)
)

bonds (the “Series 2021 A Bonds”); $15,593,000 of tax-exempt fixed rate direct purchase bank
revenue bonds, (the “Series 2021B-1 Bonds”); and $17,865,000 of tax-exempt fixed rate direct
purchase bank revenue bonds, anticipated to be repaid with initial Entrance Fees from the New
Independent Living Units (the “Series 2021B-2 Bonds”, collectively with the Series 2021B-1
Bonds, the “Series 2021B Bonds™).

The Series 2021A Bonds are assumed to be issued at an original issue premium of
approximately $1,868,000.

Construction, site work and other costs related to the construction of the Project are assumed to
approximate $39,535,000, based on a guaranteed maximum price construction contract (the
“GMP Contract”) totaling approximately $37,983,000 which includes a contractor’s
contingency of approximately $369,000 (1 percent) as provided by construction manager, Frank
L. Blum Construction Company and owner-controlled construction budgets and contingencies
of approximately $1,552,000.

Marketing costs are assumed to approximate $1,197,000.
The design fees associated with the Project are estimated to approximate $3,764,000.
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment costs are assumed to approximate $3,070,000.

Miscellaneous costs are assumed to approximate $853,000 and consists of legal fees, filing fees,
impact fees, and other costs.

The Development Fee associated with the development of the Project is estimated to
approximate $2,311,000.

Management and the Developer have included a Project contingency of approximately
$2,425,000.

(10) Proceeds of the Series 2021 A Bonds are assumed to repay $11,134,000 for the Existing Debt.
(11) Funded interest is assumed to approximate $2,460,000 and is anticipated to fund a portion of

the interest on the Series 2021 A Bonds for approximately 24 months and to fund interest on the
Series 2021B Bonds for approximately 24 months.

(12) Cost of issuance for the Series 2021 Bonds are assumed to approximate $1,097,000.

See Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Residency Agreement

To be accepted for admission to an Independent Living Unit, a prospective Resident must be at least
62 years of age (in the case of double occupancy, at least one of the prospective Residents much be
62 years of age or older) at the time residency is established, meet health qualifications to live
independently at the Community and exhibit an ability meet their financial obligations as a Resident
of the selected Independent Living Unit.

Reservation Agreement

To reserve an Independent Living Unit, a prospective Resident is required to execute a reservation
agreement (the “Reservation Agreement”), provide self-disclosure of his or her finances and place a
deposit equal to 10 percent of the first-person Entrance Fee on the selected Independent Living Unit
(the “Entrance Fee Deposit”). The remaining 90 percent of the Entrance Fee is due on or before the
occupancy date of the Independent Living Unit (the “Occupancy Date”). The Reservation
Agreement reserves the right of the prospective Resident to choose the selected Independent Living
Unit (the “Residence”) and indicate his or her intent to execute a residence and services agreement
(the “Residency Agreement”).

It is assumed that upon approval to collect reservation deposits for the New Independent Living
Units, prospective Residents would sign a reservation agreement (the “Reservation Agreement”) and
pay the applicable deposit amount (“Depositors”), which shall be held in an escrow account on
behalf of Residents in accordance with North Carolina General Statute §58-64-35, earn market rate
interest and is fully refundable, including the interest earned. Depositors for the New Independent
Living Units would execute a Residency Agreement upon payment of the Entrance Fee at or prior
to the Occupancy Date.

Residency Agreement

The Residency Agreement is a contract under which the Corporation is obligated, upon payment by
the Resident of an Entrance Fee and ongoing payments of the Monthly Fee, to provide certain
services to the Resident of the Independent Living Unit. Payment of the Entrance Fee and Monthly
Fee entitles the Resident to occupy the Residence and receive the following services and amenities:

One full meal per day in the dining room or delivery service of lunch or dinner to Residence;
Weekly housekeeping and flat linen service;

Utilities, including air conditioning, heating, electricity, water, sewer, and trash disposal;
Cable television, local and long-distance telephone service, and internet access;
Building and grounds maintenance;

Scheduled local transportation;

24-hour security and emergency response system;

Storage;

Planned social, educational, cultural, spiritual, and recreational activities;

Use of the common areas; and

Up to 30 days of care each fiscal year at the Davis Community.

See Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Certain services are available to Residents for an additional charge. These services include, but are
not limited to additional meals (including guest meals); guest accommodations, beauty/barber shop
services; personal laundry service; additional outpatient services and special services; and extended
home care services.

Entrance Fee Plan

The Corporation offers three Entrance Fee plans under the Residency Agreement. The Entrance Fee
options, and related amortization schedules are as follows:

Refund Options Amortization Schedule

If the Resident terminates the Residency Agreement prior
Traditional Plan (Non- to occupancy, the Resident is reimbursed the Entrance Fee,
Refundable)! less a non-refundable fee. After occupancy, the Entrance

Fee decreases two percent per month for 50 months.

If the Resident terminates the Residency Agreement prior
to occupancy, the Resident is reimbursed the Entrance Fee,
50% Return-of-Capital Plan less a non-refundable fee. If the Resident terminates the
Residency Agreement after occupancy, the Resident is
reimbursed 50 percent of the Entrance Fee.

If the Resident terminates the Residency Agreement prior
to occupancy, the Resident is reimbursed the Entrance Fee,
90% Return-of-Capital Plan less a non-refundable fee. If the Resident terminates the
Residency Agreement after occupancy, the Resident is
reimbursed 90 percent of the Entrance Fee.

Source: Management
(1) The Traditional Plan is not offered in certain unit types for the Existing Independent Living Units and not anticipated to be
oftered for the New Independent Living Units.

The following table summarizes the assumed Entrance Fee Plans and Refund utilization.

Table 7
Utilization of Entrance Fee Options
Existing Independent Living Units| New Independent Living Units
Number of Percent of Number of Percent of

Contract Type Residents® Residents Depositors®  Depositors ®

Traditional Contract (Non-Refundable) 13 6.1% - 0.0%

50% Return-of-Capital Contract 154 72.3% 17 54.8%

90% Return-of-Capital Contract 46 21.6% 14 45.2%
Total Occupied 213 100.0% 31 100.0%

Source: Management
(1) Resident information as of September 30, 2021. As of September 30, 2021, 219 of the Existing Independent Living Units were
occupied. The total number of primary Residents excludes six Residents who are currently Depositors.
(2) Depositor information as of October 31, 2021.
(3) For purposes of the forecast, Management has assumed 50 percent of the Residents of the New Independent Living Units would
select the 50% Return-of-Capital Contract and 50 percent would select the 90% Return-of-Capital Contract.

See Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Terminations Prior to Occupancy Date

The Resident may terminate the Residency Agreement within thirty (30) days written notice of
execution of the Residency Agreement or the receipt of a Disclosure Statement that meets the
requirements of N.C.G.S. § 58-64-20 (the “Rescission Period”). The portion of the Entrance Fee
paid to date is to be paid by the Corporation, without interest, less costs incurred by the Corporation,
within 30 days following the receipt of written notification of such termination. In the event the
Resident occupies the Independent Living Unit during the Rescission Period, any money transferred
to the Corporation is to be refunded, without interest, less costs incurred by the Corporation, within
60 days following the receipt of written notification of such termination.

The Resident may terminate the Residency Agreement after the Rescission Period and prior to the
Occupancy Date upon 30-days written notice of such termination. Any such refund paid will equal
the portion of the Entrance Fee paid by the Resident less (i) a non-refundable fee equal to $2,500
and (i1) any costs specifically incurred by the Corporation at the Resident’s request. Any such
refunds as described above will be paid by the Corporation within 60 days following the receipt of
written notification of such termination.

Terminations After Occupancy Date

Following expiration of the Rescission Period and after the Occupancy Date, the Residency
Agreement may be terminated at any time upon 120-days written notice of such termination. Any
refund due would be made within 30 days following the date a new Entrance Fee for the same
Independent Living Unit reoccupied by a new resident and the receipt of the new Entrance Fee by
the Corporation.

Health Care Benefit

A Resident may be temporarily or permanently assigned to the Davis Community, if the Resident is
determined to need such care. Accommodations provided at the Davis Community shall be in a
private one-bedroom suite or shared suite, depending on the level of care required by the Resident.
If the Resident wishes to occupy a larger suite, the Resident shall be assessed the incremental fee for
the larger unit.

The Corporation covers the charges for temporary assisted living or nursing care for up to 30
calendar days for each Resident each fiscal year (the "Health Care Benefit"). If there are two
Residents under the Residency Agreement, the Community allows the Residents to combine the
Health Care Benefit to be used by only one Resident. During such time, the Resident shall continue
to pay the Monthly Fee for their Independent Living Unit (first and second person as applicable),
the charges for additional meals per day not covered by the Monthly Fee, and the charges for any
additional services and supplies incurred by the Resident.

If the Resident utilizes more than the Health Care Benefit during a temporary stay, then they shall
be responsible for paying the full daily rate charged by the Davis Community, as well as the Monthly
Fee for their Independent Living Unit (first and second person as applicable) and the charges for any
additional services and supplies incurred by the Resident.

See Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Once permanently assigned to the Davis Community, the Resident no longer qualifies for the Health
Care Benefit and he or she shall be required to vacate and release the Independent Living Unit. Any
unused Health Care Benefit days shall not be carried over to the next year. The Monthly Fee shall
continue until removal of the Resident's personal property from the Independent Living Unit. The
Resident shall pay the applicable monthly or per diem charge to the Corporation (the “HC Charge”),
in an amount equal to 75 percent of the monthly or daily semi-private pay rate then being charged.

In the case of couples, should only one Resident require permanent care at the Davis Community,
the other Resident would continue to occupy the Residence under the terms of the Residency
Agreement and pay the first-person Monthly Fee. The Resident at the Davis Community would pay
the HC Charge, plus the charges for any additional services and supplies.

See Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Characteristics of the Market Area

Assumptions for the current and future utilization of the Community were developed by
Management based on analysis of the following factors that may affect the demand for the
Community’s accommodations and services:

e Site description and general area analysis;

e Defined primary market area for the Community;

e Demographic and socioeconomic characteristics of the defined primary market area;

e Estimated age- and income-qualified households within the defined primary market area;

e Description and utilization of existing and proposed comparable retirement communities,
within the defined primary market area;

e Management’s ability to market the Independent Living Units;

e Penetration rates for independent living services; and,
e Description of assisted living and nursing communities near the Community.

Each of the above factors and the resulting assumed utilization of the Community are described in
the following sections.

Site Description

The Community is located at 1200 Porters Neck Road on approximately 56 acres of land in
Wilmington, New Hanover County, the State of North Carolina (“North Carolina”). The
Community, bordered by single family homes to the north, Porters Neck Road to the south, Porter’s
Neck Country Club to the east and The Davis Community to the west, is less than one-half mile west
of the Intracoastal Waterway and seven miles northeast of downtown Wilmington.

General Area Analysis

Highways

The Community is accessible to U.S. Route 17 (“US-17”) via Porters Neck Road. US-17, also
known as the Coastal Highway, is a north-south highway that travels along the southeastern
coastline from Virginia to Florida. US-17 provides access to Interstate-40, which is a major east-
west interstate commencing in Wilmington which travels through Raleigh, North Carolina, and
points across the United States to the west coast.

Airports

Wilmington International Airport (“ILM”), approximately 15 miles southwest of the Community,
served over one million passengers in 2019 and currently provides service through three major
airlines including American Airlines, Delta Air Lines and United Airlines.

See Independent Accountants’ Examination Report
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Employment Trends

The unemployment trends for the City of Wilmington, New Hanover County, Pender County, North
Carolina, and the United States are shown in the following table.

Table 8
Unemployment Trends
2018 2019 2020 2021M
City of Wilmington 4.1% 3.7% 7.7% 4.6%
New Hanover County 3.9% 3.5% 7.4% 4.3%
Pender County 4.3% 3.9% 6.7% 4.4%
North Carolina 4.0% 3.8% 7.4% 4.9%
United States 3.9% 3.7% 8.1% 5.9%

Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics Data
(1) Unemployment data is through August 2021.

According to Wilmington Business Development, major employers in New Hanover County include
New Hanover Regional Medical Center, New Hanover County Public Schools, University of North
Carolina at Wilmington (“UNC-Wilmington”), PPD Development LLC and New Hanover County.

Hospitals and Medical Centers

The following table provides information regarding the hospitals and medical centers that serve the
area surrounding the Community.

Table 9
Hospitals Near the Community

Driving Distance from

the Community Number of
Hospital Name Location (Miles) Type Staffed Beds
New Hanover Regional Medical Center Wilmington
Orthopedic Hospital®) 28403 10.5 Short Term Acute Care 94
New Hanover Regional Medical Wilmington
Center®® 28401 13.4 Short Term Acute Care 706
Wilmington Treatment Center Wilmington 14.1 Short Term Acute Care 92

28401

Source: American Hospital Directory, September 2021.
(1) New Hanover Regional Medical Center Orthopedic Hospital and New Hanover Regional Medical Center are part of Novant
Health.
(2) Includes the Betty H. Cameron Women’s and Children’s Hospital, the New Hanover Regional Medical Center
Rehabilitation Hospital and the New Hanover Regional Medical Center Behavioral Health Hospital.
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Shopping/Recreation/Cultural

The Community is approximately two miles east of Market Street (also known as US-17), which
provides access to shopping, dining, and services. The Oak Landing Shopping Center, located at the
intersection of Market Street and Porters Neck Road, offers a Harris Teeter, Walgreens, and
restaurants. Porters Neck Center, across the street from Oak Landing Shopping Center, is a retail
and office center which offers shopping, services and restaurants and anchored by a Food Lion and
Lowes.

Golf courses near the Community include Porters Neck Country Club, a private club adjacent to the
Community, and Eagle Point Golf Club, a private club approximately one mile southeast of the
Community. Beaches near the Community include Figure Eight Island, a private beach
approximately five miles east of the Community; Wrightsville Beach, a public beach approximately
10 driving miles south of the Community; and Topsail Beach, a public beach approximately 25
driving miles north of the Community.

Downtown Wilmington offers various shopping, dining and cultural opportunities divided into seven
districts. The River District offers a two-mile Riverwalk along Cape Fear River which includes
markets, boutiques, art galleries and restaurants. The World War II Battleship North Carolina, which
is a memorial for 11,000 North Carolinians who died during the war, is across the river from the
Riverwalk. The National Register Historic District offers Victorian-era architecture at the Bellamy
Mansion, Burgwin-Wright House, and Latimer House. The Brooklyn Arts District is anchored by
the Brooklyn Arts Center at St. Andrews, which is an old school building completed in 1910 and
has been refurbished as an event venue for live music and concerts, weddings, art shows and vintage
flea markets. Midtown offers 67 acres of gardens and lakes, including a 500-year-old oak tree;
Jungle Rapids Family Fun Park; Wilmington Municipal Golf Course, which is an 18-hole golf
course; and Mayfaire Town Center, which is an outdoor mall including 90 shops and restaurants as
well as a movie theater. The South Front District, Castle Street Arts & Antique District and Cargo
District offer various restaurants and boutiques.

UNC-Wilmington is a public university with over 18,000 students pursuing baccalaureate, masters
and doctoral programs which consistently ranks among the top 10 public universities in the south.
UNC-Wilmington offers a 1,000 seat auditorium which provides events and performances through
the year. Other colleges in Wilmington include Miller-Motte College and Cape Fear Community
College, which are both two-year colleges.
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Primary Market Area of the Community

The primary market area for senior living services is typically defined as the geographic area from
which the majority of prospective residents are assumed to reside prior to moving into a senior living
community. As of September 30, 2021, 219 of the 245 Existing Independent Living Units were
occupied (89 percent occupancy). In addition, as of October 31,2021, 31 of the 44 New Independent
Living Units were reserved by 31 Depositors, representing approximately 71 percent of the total
New Independent Living Units.

Based on the zip code origin of the Residents and Depositors, discussions with existing senior living
providers in the area and experience with similar communities, Management has defined the primary
market area to be a 10-zip code area surrounding the Community primarily in New Hanover and
Pender Counties (with portions in Brunswick and Onslow Counties), spanning approximately 25
miles east to west and approximately 43 miles north to south, at its widest and longest points,
respectively (the “PMA”). The PMA includes the 10 zip codes shown in the following table.

Table 10
Independent Living Resident and Depositor Data
Residents Depositors Total
Percentage Percentage Percentage of

Zip Code City/Town Number®  of Total | Number ®  of Total | Number Total
28411@ Wilmington 46 21.6% 7 22.6% 53 21.7%
28443 Hampstead 24 11.3% 1 3.2% 25 10.3%

28405 Wilmington 20 9.4% 3 9.7% 23 9.4%

28412 Wilmington 12 5.6% - 0.0% 12 4.9%

28403 Wilmington 7 3.3% 1 3.2% 8 3.3%

28409 Wilmington 7 3.3% - 0.0% 7 2.9%

28451 Leland 4 1.9% 1 3.2% 5 2.1%

28445 Surf City 2 0.9% - 0.0% 2 0.8%

28401 Wilmington 2 0.9% - 0.0% 2 0.8%

28480  Wrightsville Beach - 0.0% - 0.0% - 0.0%
Total IL PMA Zip Codes 124 58.2% 13 41.9% 137 56.2%
Other North Carolina areas 41 19.3% 12 38.7% 53 21.7%
Out of State 48 22.5% 6 19.4% 54 22.1%
Total 213@ 100.0% 31 100.0% 244 100.0%

Source: Management
(1) Reflects total number of Residents and Depositors as of September 30, 2021 and October 31, 2021, respectively.
(2) The Community is located in zip code 28411.
(3) Zip code 28480 is included for contiguity purposes.
(4) As of October 31, 2021, six Depositors were Residents and have been included as Depositors for purposes of the PMA
analysis.
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The following map depicts the Community, the PMA, existing comparable independent living
communities located within the PMA, and communities under construction within the PMA.

Legend North Carolina

B rMmA * The Community

Comparable IL Communities in the PMA
1 — Arbor Landing at Hampstead
2 — Cambridge Village of Wilmington
3 — Carolina Bay at Autumn Hall
4 — Brightmore of Wilmington D
5 — Arbor Landing at Compass Pointe /

IL Communities Under Construction in the PMA PMA
6 — Davis Community
7 — Trinity Landing

Source: Caliper Maptitude and MaplInfo
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Population

The age distribution of the population in a geographic area is a key factor in the determination of an
area’s retirement housing needs. The U.S. Census Bureau has collected demographic data based on
the 2010 census figures. Claritas, Inc., a firm that specializes in the analysis of demographic data,
has extrapolated the 2010 census information to derive the estimated 2021 figures and projected
statistics for 2026. The following table presents population data by age cohort and the anticipated
average annual compounded percentage change between 2010 and 2021 and 2021 and 2026 in the
PMA, North Carolina and the United States.

Table 11

Historical, Estimated and Projected Populations in the
PMA, North Carolina, and United States

Compounded Compounded

Annual Annual
2010 2021 2026 Percentage Percentage
Population Population Population Change Change
(Census) (Estimated) (Projected) 2010 — 2021 2021 - 2026
PMA
Total Population 239,575 295,680 316,158 1.9% 1.3%
Age 65 to 74 Population 18,973 35,344 43,142 5.8% 4.1%
Age 75 to 84 Population 10,348 15,623 17,877 3.8% 2.7%
Age 85 plus Population 4,180 5,856 6,640 3.1% 2.5%
Total 65 Plus 33,501 56,823 67,659 4.9% 3.6%
Total 75 Plus 14,528 21,479 24,517 3.6% 2.7%
North Carolina
Total Population 9,535,483 10,644,954 11,161,182 1.0% 1.0%
Age 65 to 74 Population 697,567 1,117,660 1,343,106 4.4% 3.7%
Age 75 to 84 Population 389,051 531,302 609,921 2.9% 2.8%
Age 85 plus Population 147,461 195,249 218,111 2.6% 2.2%
Total 65 Plus 1,234,079 1,844,211 2,171,138 3.7% 3.3%
Total 75 Plus 536,512 726,551 828,032 2.8% 2.6%
United States
Total Population 308,745,538 330,940,040 340,574,349 0.6% 0.6%
Age 65 to 74 Population 21,713,429 33,408,314 39,512,957 4.0% 3.4%
Age 75 to 84 Population 13,061,122 16,368,076 18,402,423 2.1% 2.4%
Age 85 plus Population 5,493,433 6,668,294 7,129,280 1.8% 1.3%
Total 65 Plus 40,267,984 56,444,684 65,044,660 3.1% 2.9%
Total 75 Plus 18,554,555 23,036,370 25,531,703 2.0% 2.1%

Source: Claritas, Inc.
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The following table presents the percentage of total population by age group for the targeted age
population in the PMA, North Carolina, and the United States.

Table 12
Percentage of Total Population by Age Cohort
2010 (Census)
PMA North Carolina United States
Age Groupings
65 plus 14.0% 12.9% 13.0%
75 plus 6.1% 5.6% 6.0%
85 plus 1.7% 1.5% 1.8%
2021 (Estimated)
PMA North Carolina United States
Age Groupings
65 plus 19.2% 17.3% 17.1%
75 plus 7.3% 6.8% 7.0%
85 plus 2.0% 1.8% 2.0%
2026 (Projected)
PMA North Carolina United States
Age Groupings
65 plus 21.4% 19.5% 19.1%
75 plus 7.8% 7.4% 7.5%
85 plus 2.1% 2.0% 2.1%

Source: Claritas, Inc.
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Estimated Income Qualified Households within the PMA

In order to qualify for residency in the Independent Living Units, a prospective resident must be at
least 62 years of age and demonstrate sufficient financial resources to pay the Entrance Fee, required
Monthly Fee and other expenses related to independent living services not provided for in the
Residency Agreement. Management utilizes the FinAid system to financially evaluate a prospective
resident’s net worth and monthly income. FinAid projects income for prospective residents based
on their financial assets and income sources and compares this revenue to projected expenses such
as monthly fees, personal expenses, and income taxes.

For purposes of quantifying the number of income qualified households in the PMA, households age
75 or older are considered to be the most likely to establish residency in an Independent Living Unit.
The age composition of Depositors as of October 31, 2021 is described in the table below.

Table 13
Depositor Age Composition upon Move-In to the Community
Age Upon Move-in Number of Depositors®” Percent of Depositors
Under 75 4 12.9%
75 and older 27 87.1%
Total 31 100.0%

Source: Management
(1) Includes age information for the 31 primary Depositors when the New Independent Living Units open for occupancy
in 2022.

In addition, the following three annual household income scenarios are presented for estimating the
number of income-qualified households in the PMA:

e Annual household income approximately $50,000 or more based on the minimum monthly fee
of the smallest one-bedroom Existing Independent Living Unit (approximately $3,100 per
month in 2021 dollars);

¢ Annual household income approximately $75,000 or more based on the Monthly Fee for the
smallest New Independent Living Unit (approximately $4,350 per month in 2021 dollars); and

¢ Annual household income approximately $100,000 or more based on the Monthly Fee of the
smallest cottage at the Community (approximately $5,500 per month in 2021 dollars).

In addition, of the Depositors who reported their financial information, the median income is
approximately $90,000 and the median assets are approximately $3,547,000, based on self-reported
Depositor information provided by Management as of October 31, 2021. The average age of
Depositors (first persons) approximates 80 years of age when the New Independent Living Units
open in 2022.
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The following tables illustrate the 2021 estimated and the 2026 projected household income
distribution for householders age 65 to 74 and 75 or over in the PMA.

Table 14
Income Eligible Households for Independent Living Services Within PMA
2021 (Estimated)

65-74 75+ Total

Total Households: 22,011 14,029 36,040
Household Income

Under $50,000 9,129 8,471 17,600
$50,000 and over

$50,000 — $74,999 4,479 2,542 7,021

$75,000 — $99,999 2,638 1,095 3,733

$100,000 — $149,999 2,878 1,112 3,990

$150,000 plus 2,887 809 3,696

Total $50,000 and over 12,882 5,558 18,440
Percentage of Income Eligible Households to 58.5% 39.6% 5129

Total Households — $50,000 and over
Total $75,000 and over 8,403 3,016 11,419

Percentage of Income Eligible Households to Total
Households — $75,000 and over

Total $100,000 and over 5,765 1,921 7,686

Percentage of Income Eligible Households to Total

38.2% 21.5% 31.7%

0, 0, 0,
Households — $100,000 and over 26.2% 13.7% 21.3%
2026 (Projected)
65-74 75+ Total
Total Households: 26,420 15,759 42,179
Household Income
Under $50,000 10,324 9,226 19,550
$50,000 and over
$50,000 — $74,999 5,161 2,826 7,987
$75,000 — $99,999 3,181 1,266 4,447
$100,000 — $149,999 3,780 1,379 5,159
$150,000 plus 3,974 1,062 5,036
Total $50,000 and over 16,096 6,533 22,629
Percentage of Income Eligible Households to 60.9% 41.5% 53.6%

Total Households — $50,000 and over
Total $75,000 and over 10,935 3,707 14,642

Percentage of Income Eligible Households to Total
Households — $75,000 and over

Total $100,000 and over 7,754 2,441 10,195

Percentage of Income Eligible Households to Total
Households — $100,000 and over

Source: Claritas, Inc.

41.4% 23.5% 34.7%

29.3% 15.5% 24.2%
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The following table estimates the number of age- and income-qualified households in the PMA as
estimated in 2021, interpolated in 2023 (the year the majority of New Independent Living Units are
to be occupied), and projected in 2026 based on the 2010 Census.

Table 15
Age and Income Eligible Households for Independent Living Services within the PMA
2021 2023 2026
Total $50,000 and over 5,558 5,948 6,533
Percentage of Income Eligible Households 39.6% 40 4% 41.5%

to Total Households — $50,000 and over

Total $75,000 and over 3,016 3,292 3,707

Percentage of Income Eligible Households

0 0 0
to Total Households — $75,000 and over 21.5% 22.4% 23.5%

Total $100,000 and over 1,921 2,129 2,441

Percentage of Income Eligible Households

o 0 0
to Total Households — $100,000 and over 13.7% 14.5% 13.5%

Source: Claritas, Inc.

The following table compares the percentage of income-qualified households to total households for
the $50,000, $75,000, and $100,000 income qualification level for age 75 and above households
within the PMA, North Carolina, and the United States, projected in 2026 based on the 2010 Census.

Table 16
Comparison of Income-Qualified Households — 2026

North United
PMA Carolina States

Percentage of Income Qualified Households to Total 0 0 0
Households — $50,000 41.5% 39.2% 41.7%

Percentage of Income Qualified Households to Total 0 0 0
Households — $75,000 23.5% 23.3% 26.0%
Percentage of Income Qualified Households to Total 15.5% 15.1% 17.6%

Households — $100,000

Source: Claritas, Inc.
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Market Area Real Estate

The ability of potential residents to sell their home prior to assuming occupancy at a community may
have an impact on the ability of residents to move into the community. Often, entrance fees are paid
with funds received through the sale of a prospective resident’s home. Home values fluctuate over
time and vary regionally based upon economic conditions.

The following table summarizes real estate statistics for New Hanover County and Pender County.

Table 17
Market Area Real Estate Trends
2019 2020 2021®

New Hanover County

Number of Homes Sold 4,151 4,704 3,170

Average Sales Price $358,631 $399,853 $451,472

Days on the Market 56 52 30
Pender County

Number of Homes Sold 1,170 1,514 1,072

Average Sales Price $324,207 $362,751 $414,451

Days on the Market 76 70 39

Source: Landmark Sotheby’s International Realty
(1) Information through August 31, 2021.

The following table depicts the number of homes sold, average sales prices of homes and average
days on market by zip code for the PMA.

Table 18
Market Area Real Estate Trends for PMA Zip Codes®
2019 2020 2021®
Numberof  AES AV eor AT AW o Avere Averie
Zip Code® Homes Sold Price on Market _Homes Sold Price on Market _Hiomes Sold Price on Market
28411 — Wilmington® 917 $377,370 57 1,205  $406,371 56 795 $446,993 25
28443 — Hampstead 804 $313,282 81 949 $342,636 69 795 $390,350 36
28405 — Wilmington 670 $324,479 56 819 $358,524 51 679 $451,357 28
28412 — Wilmington 1,097  $263,828 50 1,170 $281,917 47 985 $323,136 26
28403 — Wilmington 638 $272,899 50 624 $311,493 39 533 $331,323 25
28409 — Wilmington 837 $369,269 61 956 $406,904 51 744 $472,156 29
28451 — Leland 1,195  $267,909 64 1403 $283361 64 1,187  $322,266 38
28445 — Surf City 618 $305,536 64 844 $357,554 74 708 $426,039 33
28401 — Wilmington 462 $197,035 54 550 $267,445 44 484 $295,294 40
Total/Weighted Avg. 7,238 $302,285 60 8,520  $336,633 56 6,910  $382,839 31

Source: Landmark Sotheby’s International Realty
(1) Data is through October 14, 2021.
(2) The Community is located in zip code 28411.
(3) Zip code 28480, which is included in the PMA for purposes of contiguity, is not included in the real estate table since no
Residents or Depositors originated from the zip code.
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Description and Utilization of Independent Living (“IL”)
Continuing Care Regulatory Requirements

In North Carolina, CCRCs are licensed and regulated by the North Carolina Department of Insurance
(the “Department”) under Chapter 58, Article 64 of the North Carolina General Statutes (the
“General Statutes”) and under Title 11 of the North Carolina Administrative Code. The General
Statutes define continuing care as “the furnishing to an individual other than an individual related
by blood, marriage, or adoption to the person furnishing the care, of lodging together with nursing
services, medical services, or other health related services, under an agreement effective for the life
of the individual or for a period longer than one year.”

A CCRC is required to obtain a license from the Department prior to entering into continuing care
contracts. Registration must include a disclosure statement, including financial statements and other
information required by the Department, which is required to be updated each year subsequent to
initial registration (the “Disclosure Statement”). The provider is also required to deliver a Disclosure
Statement to prospective residents upon or prior to execution of a residency agree